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About this Annual Report 
The National Health Service and Community Care Act 1990 requires NHS Trusts to produce an Annual 

Report. The content and format is required to follow the guidance issued by the Department of Health (in 

the form of a ‘Manual for Accounts’). The specific requirements for Annual Reports for 2016/17 are that NHS 

bodies must publish, a single Annual Report and Accounts (ARA) document, comprising the following: 

 A Performance Report (which must include an overview, and a performance analysis) 

 An Accountability Report (which must include: A Corporate Governance Report and a Remuneration 

and Staff Report1) 

 The Financial Statements 

The Department of Health’s guidance sets out the minimum content of the Annual Report. Beyond this 

however, the Trust is expected to take ownership of the Report and ensure that additional information is 

included where necessary to reflect the position of the Trust within the community and give sufficient 

information to meet the requirements of public accountability. The Report is divided into several sections: 

 “Performance Report for 2016/17”, which is split into the following sections: 

 An overview. This includes an overview summary; the purpose and activities of the Trust; the Chair

and Chief Executive’s report; the ‘story of the year’ (month by month); the key issues and risks

affecting delivery of the Trust’s objectives; an explanation of the adoption of the going concern

basis; and a Performance summary

 A Performance analysis, which includes details of how the Trust measures performance; the Trust’s

development and performance in 2016/17; and a review of financial performance for 2016/17

 A summary of the Trust’s Quality Accounts for 2016/17

 A Sustainability Report. This follows the standard reporting format from the NHS Sustainable

Development Unit

 “Accountability Report for 2016/17”, which is split into the following sections: 

 “Corporate Governance Report for 2016/17”, which in turn is split into:

o A Directors’ report (which provides details of the Trust Board; a Statement as to disclosure to

Auditors; attendance at Trust Board meetings; details of Directors’ interests; the Trust’s

Management Structure; complaints performance and the Trust’s application of the ‘Principles

for Remedy’ guidance; disclosure of “incidents involving data loss or confidentiality breaches”;

& details of Emergency Preparedness arrangements)

o The “Statement of the Chief Executive’s responsibilities as the Accountable Officer of the Trust”

o The “Governance Statement for 2016/17”

 “Remuneration and Staff Report for 2016/17” (including details of ‘off-payroll’ engagements)

 “Financial Statements for 2016/17”, which includes Pension Liabilities, exit packages and severance 

payments; and staff sickness absence data 

 Independent Auditor's report to the Directors of Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust 

The Annual Report and Accounts were approved by the Trust Board of Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS 

Trust on 24th May 2017. 

1
 The Trust is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report, and therefore the required disclosures on 

remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included within the Financial Statements 
and Notes to the Accounts 
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Summary 
The purpose of this overview is to give the reader sufficient, summarised information to understand the 

Trust, its purpose, the key risks to the achievement of its objectives, and an outline of its performance 

during the year 2016/17. For those wishing to read more about the Trust’s achievements, the issues it faced 

and its detailed financial situation, further detail is provided in the rest of the Annual Report and Accounts.  

The purpose and activities of Maidstone and 
Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust 
Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust (the Trust) is a large acute hospital Trust in the south east of 

England. The Trust was legally established on 14th February 20002, and provides a full range of general 

hospital services and some areas of specialist complex care to around 560,000 people living in the south of 

West Kent and the north of East Sussex.  

The Trust’s core catchment areas are Maidstone and 

Tunbridge Wells and their surrounding boroughs, and it 

operates from three main clinical sites: Maidstone Hospital, 

Tunbridge Wells Hospital at Pembury and Crowborough 

Birth Centre. Tunbridge Wells Hospital is a Private Finance 

Initiative (PFI) hospital 3 and the majority of the site provides 

single bedded en-suite accommodation for inpatients. The 

Trust employs a team of over 5000 full and part-time staff. 

In addition, the Trust provides specialist Cancer services to 

circa 1.8 million people across Kent and Sussex, via the Kent 

Oncology Centre, which is sited at Maidstone Hospital and at 

Kent and Canterbury Hospital in Canterbury. The Trust also 

provides Outpatient and outreach clinics across a wide range 

of locations in Kent, Medway and East Sussex. 

The Trust is registered with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) to provide the following Regulated 

Activities: 

 Assessment or medical treatment for persons detained under the Mental Health Act 1983 (at Maidstone 

Hospital and Tunbridge Wells Hospital) 

 Diagnostic and screening procedures (at Maidstone Hospital and Tunbridge Wells Hospital) 

 Family planning services (at Maidstone Hospital and Tunbridge Wells Hospital) 

 Maternity and midwifery services (at Maidstone Hospital, Tunbridge Wells Hospital and Crowborough 

Birth Centre) 

 Surgical procedures (at Maidstone Hospital and Tunbridge Wells Hospital) 

 Termination of pregnancies (at Tunbridge Wells Hospital only) 

 Treatment of disease, disorder or injury (at Maidstone Hospital and Tunbridge Wells Hospital) 

For further details of the Trust’s CQC Registration, see www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RWF/registration-info. 

2
 See The Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells National Health Service Trust (Establishment) Order 2000 

3
 The PFI Project Company is “Kent and East Sussex Weald Hospital Ltd” (KESWHL) 
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Chair’s report 

I feel proud and privileged to be appointed as the new Chair of the Trust Board, and I look forward to 

working with colleagues across all our hospitals and sites. 

I would like to thank my predecessor, Anthony Jones, for all he did for the Trust, and to Kevin Tallett, for 

acting as Chair between Anthony’s departure and my 

arrival. Also, I would like to thank Steve Tinton and 

Sylvia Denton CBE, who both served as Non-

Executive Directors during the year 2016/17, for their 

contributions to the Trust. We will be seeking to 

recruit two replacement Non-Executive Directors 

over the summer of 2017. 

The year 2016/17 was a difficult year for the Trust, as 

our Chief Executive, Glenn Douglas, will describe in 

his report. This level of challenge to the performance 

of the Trust will continue into 2017/18 with 

considerable financial and capacity pressures. The 

Board will continue to put patient safety at the top of 

the agenda in the face of these pressures and will 

strongly support the Executive Team as we work 

together to meet the challenge. 

The Board will continue to engage with other health 

and social care entities as part of the Kent and 

Medway Health and Social Care Sustainability and 

Transformation Plan. I am sure we can achieve more 

in Kent and Medway by working together 

collaboratively and look forward to building strong 

and productive relationships with all stakeholders 

and partners of the Trust. 

 

David Highton,  

Chair of the Trust Board 

24th May 2017
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Chief Executive’s report 

Our Annual Report for 2016/17 reflects another 

difficult year for the Trust. Financial pressures, 

combined with unprecedented demand, created a 

uniquely testing environment. Increases of 

approximately 18,000 Accident and Emergency (A&E) 

attendances and around 4,000 hospital admissions 

than the previous year adversely affected our elective 

activity and placed tremendous strain on our staff and 

resources.  

There is still much to do to get our A&E, 18-week 

Referral To Treatment (RTT) and Cancer 62-day 

waiting time performance back on track, but we have 

strong plans in place and a clear focus, and progress is 

being made. Despite the pressures, we performed 

well on some key performance standards (more can 

be read about this in the Performance Summary) and 

the Trust was named as one of the best performing in 

the UK in the 2016CHKS (Comparative Health 

Knowledge System) “Top Hospitals Awards”. The 

award, which is based on the evaluation of 22 key 

indicators of safety, clinical effectiveness, efficiency, 

patient experience, quality of care and health 

outcomes, celebrates the success of healthcare and 

social care providers across the UK and 

internationally, and demonstrates the dedication of 

our staff. 

The Trust was placed into Financial Special Measures in July 2016, and our aim to address this positively 

focussed the management of the Trust for the rest of 2016/17. At the start of 2016/17, we had planned for a 

year-end deficit of circa £23 million, but continued problems with increased emergency activity in the early 

months of the year put this plan in jeopardy. A range of improvement plans were already in place by July, 

but entering the Special Measures regime made it clear that we needed to accelerate these, and identify 

additional ways to reduce our expected financial deficit in safe and sustainable ways. Thanks to the hard 

work, ingenuity and determination of all staff, the Trust’s year-end deficit was £10.9 million (once 

Sustainability and Transformation Fund monies were taken into account).  

There can however be no easing of effort in 2017/18, as the Trust’s Cost Improvement Programme (CIP) 

target for the year is £31.8m – one of the largest, if not the largest, savings targets in the Trust’s 17 year 

history. Although achieving this will be extremely difficult, at the close of 2016/17, we had identified 

efficiency schemes covering the majority of the target value, and there is real optimism that we can make 

significant progress towards the aim of a financially sustainable Trust. This is now within our grasp.  

There have been several changes in Trust Board Members over the past year, most notably the departure of 

the Chairman, Anthony Jones, who joined the Board in 2008 and oversaw huge improvements in quality and 
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 safety during his eight years as Chairman. The Trust had one of the worst infection rates in the country 

when he started, but now has one of the best. The Trust Board, and myself in particular, are grateful for all 

that Anthony did for the Trust, and wish him the very best for the future. David Highton, the new Chair of 

the Board, starts in post in May 2017, and my Trust Board colleagues and I look forward to working with 

David during 2017/18 and beyond. 

In the last week of 2016/17 an important milestone was reached in the journey to improve the way health 

and social care is delivered in the region, with the publication of the Kent and Medway Health and Social 

Care Sustainability and Transformation Plan’s (STP) “case for change” document. The case underpins the 

thinking and ambition set out in the draft STP that was published in late 2016, and critically sets out where 

we need to make changes to the way we work. As has been widely reported in the national, and local, 

media, NHS and Social Care services are under increasing pressure, and the adverse impact of this on the 

Trust that I discussed earlier will, I’m sure, be reflected within the Annual Reports of other local health and 

social care organisations. Regrettably, despite the best efforts of all involved, the expected standards are 

not being delivered in some areas. We all believe that health and social care services in Kent and Medway 

could and should be better, and the Trust therefore looks forward to playing its part in making that happen, 

to ensure our services are fit for the future.  

Glenn Douglas,  

Chief Executive 

24th May 2017 
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The story of the year 
The story of 2016/17 is largely one of achievement over adversity. Despite an unrelenting backdrop of 

unprecedented demand and financial pressure, the pace and scope of activity and initiative within the Trust 

was undaunted. A sample of that achievement throughout the year is given below. 

April 2016 
On 1st April, the Trust took over the management of 

Crowborough Birth Centre and welcomed both a team of 20-plus 

Midwives and Maternity Support Workers who joined the Trust as 

part of the transfer, as well as its first birth at 10.02am that day. 

With this expansion of its Maternity services, the Trust became 

one of very few Trusts nationally able to provide women with the 

widest possible range of birth choices. 

Work to improve the flow of patients through the Trust’s hospitals continued throughout the month. The 

Trust welcomed confirmation that 10 of the beds vacated at Tonbridge Cottage Hospital by the transfer of 

patients to Ward 22 at Tunbridge Wells Hospital, would be funded by West Kent Clinical Commissioning 

Group (CCG) and used to provide stepdown care for patients who did not need to be in an acute hospital 

environment. This was a theme that was to continue as the year progressed. 

Other initiatives to improve patient flow included the launch of a new ‘Breakfast Club’ in the Trust’s 

discharge lounges, aimed to ensure that patients were able to leave hospital early having had a proper meal. 

‘Perfect Discharge Week’, launched mid-month, involved staff from multiple teams working together to get 

patients properly treated and home as soon as possible (aiming for 10 by 10 – 10 patients discharged by 

10am each day). Wards were encouraged to address the issues blocking patients ready for discharge, 

supported by a clinical champion in each area. 

Later in the month, the first of a series of Health and Wellbeing events took place for patients that had 

completed or were nearing completion of active cancer treatment. The event was part of a collaborative 

programme between Kent Oncology Centre and Macmillan Cancer Support and aimed at supporting 

individuals in the transition from treatment to ‘normal’ life. 

In other collaborative initiatives, staff from Derby Hospital visited Maidstone Hospital to see its Dementia 

Activities / Keyworker role in operation. The visit was arranged after hearing Liz Champion, the Trust’s 

Dementia Lead, describing this important role at a dementia event, and the visitors left inspired to get a 

similar role ‘up and running’ at Derby Hospital.  

The impact of the Junior Doctors’ industrial action in 

April was met with positive engagement across the 

Trust and the high levels of advance planning served 

the Trust well for all future eventualities potentially 

affecting continuity of patient care. In a similar vein, 

the Trust took part in a no-notice emergency exercise. 

Staff responded with crews from Kent Police, Kent Fire 

& Rescue Service and South East Coast Ambulance 

Service (SECAmb) to a radiation contamination incident. Volunteer casualties were decontaminated and 

treated, while managers were put through their paces with commanders from the emergency services.  
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May 2016 
May saw the opening of a dedicated 

children’s A&E unit at Tunbridge 

Wells Hospital, the first of its kind in 

Kent. The unit’s first patient, a six 

month old baby, arrived just minutes 

after it opened. Additional paediatric 

trained Nurses, Nursery Nurses and 

five Consultant Paediatricians were 

appointed to work within the A&E 

department. The launch of the unit 

was the culmination of much hard 

work by directorate staff. 

An important plan setting out how 

the Trust would deliver quality and safety for the next three to five years achieved approval in May. The 

Safety Improvement Plan (SIP) aimed to reduce harm by improving safety and set out 4 focus areas for 

improvement: 

 Improving communication during escalation and handover 

 Improving the quality of patient involvement in decision making and informed consent 

 Improving the effectiveness of identifying and acting upon deviations from normal during labour & birth 

 Reducing the number of inpatient falls. 

The SIP was intended to be discussed and used at all levels of the organisation from Ward to Board and 

could equally be shared with those needing to scrutinise the Trust’s safety activity including regulators such 

as the CQC and NHS Improvement (NHSI).  

During the month, the Trust marked Dying Matters Awareness Week. The focus of the year’s event was 

`The Big Conversation’ with an emphasis on ‘Talking about dying won't make it happen!’. The Trust’s End of 

Life Care Clinical Nurse Specialist, members of the Chaplaincy team and Trust Ethicist manned a stall in the 

main entrance at Maidstone Hospital to provide an opportunity for staff, patients and visitors to consider 

and discuss these important issues.  

Elsewhere, the generosity of external parties allowed the provision of 15 brand new wheelchairs, donated 

by the Maidstone Hospital League of Friends, and a state-of-the-art bladder scanner for Kent Oncology 

Centre, gifted by the Prostate Cancer Support Association (PCSA) Kent.  

Finally, the Trust was selected to take part in a national Financial Improvement Programme, contracted and 

run by NHSI, and designed to speed up financial recovery. NHSI identified 16 Trusts around the country 

believed to have the potential to deliver good return on investment from some external consultancy 

support. The Trust appointed an experienced team, including an Improvement Director, from KPMG LLP as 

its partners in this process. The external team was on site initially for several weeks fact-finding, sharing 

best practice from other Trusts and working alongside staff making recommendations to support the push 

for financial sustainability.
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June 2016 
The introduction of a new interpreter and translation service in June was aimed at providing a more 

responsive and safer service for all of the Trust’s patients. The service enabled staff to contact foreign 

language interpreters by telephone, reducing the amount of notice required for most services. British Sign 

Language (BSL) interpretation was also introduced as a readily available service. 

Later in the month, the UK’s vote to leave the European Union (EU) saw the Trust reassuring its staff of its 

commitment to support and fully engage with its EU colleagues regarding future changes to the UK’s 

membership of the EU, and to continue with recruitment drives within the UK, EU and elsewhere overseas 

to help continue to provide the highest possible quality services. 

In other developments, the results of the National Adult Inpatient Survey for 2015 showed that patients 

continued to rate the Trust’s hospitals highly at a time of exceptional demand for NHS services. Based on 

their overall patient reviews, hospitals were given marks out of 10 for each standard. The Trust achieved the 

following scores for 8 of the key standards:  

 The hospital and ward – 8.4 out of 10 (8.2 in 2014)  

 Doctors – 8.7 out of 10 (8.4 in 2014)  

 Nurses - 8.6 out of 10 (8.5 in 2014)  

 Care and treatment – 8 out of 10 (7.7 in 2014)  

 Operations and procedures – 8.2 out of 10 (8.2 in 2014)  

 Leaving hospital – 7.3 out of 10 (7.3 in 2014)  

 Overall view of care and service – 5.6 out of 10 (5.6 in 2014) 

 Overall experience – 8.2 out of 10 (8.1 in 2014)  

An overall good response was achieved from patients rating 

over 70 areas of their care across the key standards. Patients rated their care and staff highly and found the 

Trust hospitals to be clean and safe. The majority of patients said they felt well looked after while in hospital 

locally, and had trust and confidence in the doctors and nurses, who treated them with respect and dignity. 

The full survey results are available at: www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RWF/surveys.  

On a further positive note, the Trust, alongside partners NHS West Kent CCG and NHS High Weald Lewes 

and Havens CCG, was chosen as Maternity Choice and Personalisation Pioneers by NHS England. This made 

it one of 7 areas across the country to be 

successful in spearheading new ways of 

opening up choice in maternity care. In practice 

it meant the introduction over the following 18 

months of notional budgets for pregnant 

women living in West Kent and the 

Crowborough area to be able to choose who 

provided their care while they were expecting 

and when they gave birth.  
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July 2016 
July saw the launch of a range of developments and new services across the Trust, starting on the first of the 

month with the introduction of a new patient transport service, provided across Kent and Medway by G4S 

(and commissioned by West Kent CCG). With this came tough new measures on the provider to raise 

standards, and greater emphasis on customer care and getting patients home from hospital promptly. 

Performance measures against a Patient Charter were introduced, developed by users of patient transport 

services in Kent and Medway. There were also tighter timescale targets for collecting and dropping off 

patients before and after their appointments, or when going home after an inpatient stay. 

The same week, a new Virtual Fracture Clinic (VFC) Service was launched across the Trust, aimed at 

improving patient experience and ensuring a more streamlined service. The service introduced a new 

process for dealing with the first initial assessment of all patients referred to fracture clinic, helping to 

reduce the number of patients requiring a face to face appointment and allowing individuals to be seen by 

the correct Consultant at the right time.  

Ambulatory Emergency Care was relaunched in July on the Acute Medical Unit at Tunbridge Wells Hospital. 

This new facility, intended to address the significant rise in demand for emergency care in West Kent, 

offered same day emergency care to patients, including assessment, diagnosis, treatment and discharge, 

avoiding an overnight admission - good for patients, and for the Trust too.  

Other developments during the month saw the installation 

of automated ultraviolet (UV) environmental 

decontamination systems at Maidstone and Tunbridge 

Wells hospitals to enhance quick and effective deep 

cleaning and decontamination of clinical areas using UV 

radiation. A pilot exercise demonstrated significant 

improvement in environmental cleanliness and 

decontamination when compared with existing methods.  

Hedgehog Ward at Tunbridge Wells Hospital received a 

generous donation from local charity, Megan’s Wish List, set 

up by the family and friends of 17-year-old Megan Fox, who passed away in March 2014, after she was 

diagnosed with a brain tumour in October 2013. The donation allows the children’s unit to continue to 

sponsor ‘Beads of Courage’ – an initiative to help children receiving treatment for childhood cancer. Each 

time a young person has a procedure, test, or treatment 

for their illness, they are given a bead. The colour of the 

bead signifies what has happened – for example, white 

beads relate to having chemotherapy, light green beads to 

scans such as x-rays and MRIs, and yellow beads to an 

overnight stay in hospital. The beads help children to 

make sense of the experience they are going through and 

research has shown that the programme has helped to 

decrease illness-related stress and increases the use of 

positive coping strategies. 

Late in the month, the Trust was placed in to Financial Special Measures (FSM) by NHSI to address its 

underlying financial deficit. More on this is reported under the ‘story of the month’ for August 2016.  
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August 2016 
On confirmation of Financial Special Measures, an NHSI-selected and funded Finance Improvement 

Director was appointed to support the development of the Trust’s Financial Recovery Plan. This process 

started in August with briefings of around 400 key individuals, to identify the next steps in shaping the Plan. 

As part of this process all staff were requested to ask themselves the following questions:  

• Do you know what Financial Special Measures is and how this affects our Trust or you in your role?

• Do you know the financial position of your ward, department, or service and Financial Recovery Plan?

• Do you know how to add your ideas to our Financial Recovery Plan?

Authorised signatory limits and the Trust’s Standing Financial Instructions were also reviewed. The need to 

balance the 3 areas of quality, finance and performance was identified as critical in delivering benefits for 

the Trust and its patients in the longer term. Hundreds of ideas were generated by staff and colleagues, 

highlighting ways in which the Trust might make better use of its finite resources. More information on the 

Financial Special Measures framework and timetable for the Trust is available at: 

https://tinyurl.com/MTWFSM 

In spite of these financial challenges, it was reported in August by The Royal College of Anaesthetists that 

more patients with life-threatening conditions were surviving emergency bowel surgery at the Trust’s 

hospitals and no other hospital in the South East, outside of London, was providing better outcomes for 

patients with life-threatening conditions such as bowel obstruction, perforation or a bleed. Mortality rates 

ranged from 3% to over 20% in the 186 hospitals taking part in a national audit of emergency laparotomy 

surgery, and the Trust saw its mortality rate fall from 9.9% to 7.2% as part of a quality improvement project 

to save 1,000 more lives over 2 years across the South of England.  

On another positive note, staff in cervical screening accomplished a successful Quality Assurance meeting 

with NHS England. This was part of a review undertaken every 3 years to ensure appropriate standards in 

cervical screening, and involved a detailed review of diagnostic standards, waiting times, treatment 

standards, patient communications, failsafe policies and many other areas. 

September 2016 

The beginning of the month saw the launch of the Trust’s 

new Safety Calendar with a key patient theme identified 

each month. September’s theme was improving patient 

communication and the adoption of the ‘Hello my name is’ 

campaign was a central to this. The campaign was founded 

by Dr Kate Granger MBE, a renowned Geriatrician, who 

sadly passed away in 2016. It was during her own battle with 

cancer that she was saddened to find how poor her 

colleagues were at introducing themselves to patients, and 

as a result she launched this, now national, initiative. Just taking the extra time to smile and say ‘Hello my 

name is’ is proven to put patients at ease and make them feel welcome and valued. Trust staff were 

encouraged to extend the same principle to their own colleagues.  

Both Tunbridge Wells and Maidstone hospitals received very encouraging feedback in September following 

patient-led assessments to review cleanliness of Wards, general building maintenance; quality of patient 

food and how the environment supports a patient’s privacy and dignity. Annual Patient-Led Assessments of 
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 the Care Environment (PLACE) inspections take place at every hospital in the country and during the month 

it was confirmed that both of the Trust’s hospitals had achieved results which exceeded the national 

average scores in all categories. 

Good food in hospitals can help patients to eat well, giving them the nutrients they need to recover from 

surgery or illness. September saw the launch of a revised policy for adult patient mealtimes, which included 

the promotion of protected mealtimes, periods of time when routine activity on the Ward is reduced so that 

Nurses, Ward based teams and catering staff can serve and supervise meals and give assistance to those 

patients who need help to eat and drink. 

The month also saw the Infection Prevention and Control Team hold its annual infection prevention 

conference. The event, held at Maidstone Hospital, was well attended by internal and external stakeholders 

who listened to a range of presentation subjects including the Trust’s own infection control journey since 

2006, the Zika virus and influenza. 

In other developments, members of the Paediatric Diabetic Team at Maidstone Hospital, along with some 

of their patients, received a cheque for £500, from the Kent Police Property Fund. The money was for the 

Maidstone Area Parents Support group (MAPS), set up for parents who have children with diabetes. MAPS 

hosts events throughout the year which allow children with Type 1 Diabetes, and their parents, to meet 

others in the same position to share advice, experiences and offer support to each other. The events provide 

a great opportunity for the Trust’s team to deliver Diabetes education in a relaxed, friendly environment.  

Directorates across the Trust finalised their first draft Financial Recovery Plans ready for the Trust’s 

Financial Special Measures meeting with NHSI mid-month. Following the meeting, NHSI recognised the 

effort that had contributed to completing the Recovery Plan in a short space of time, was supportive of the 

Trust’s approach to date and asked for its thanks to be passed on to staff for their hard work. A further 

Review meeting was scheduled for November (see the ‘story of the month’ for November 2016). 

October 2016 
Breaking news at the beginning of the 

month confirmed that Maternity services in 

West Kent, which were predominantly 

provided by the Trust, had been rated the 

best in the country. Following a review of 

over 200 NHS Maternity services, the 

provision was the only service deemed as 

top performing. The Ofsted-style ratings 

examined stillbirth and neonatal mortality, 

maternal smoking at the time of delivery, 

women’s experience of Maternity services 

and women’s choice. Baroness Cumberlege, 

the Independent Chair of the 2016 ‘National Maternity Review’ commissioned by NHS England to assess 

current provision and help shape future services, also visited the Trust’s Maternity services during the 

month to help mark the fifth anniversary of integrated Maternity care.  
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 Application of important preparatory works to support the Trust’s clinically-led winter resilience plan began 

early in October. The plan’s key aims were: to avoid queueing ambulances where patients could not be 

cared for in an Emergency Department cubicle; to avoid cancelling elective patients who required urgent 

treatment, or cancer treatment, and avoidance of 12 hour trolley breaches. 

In further preparations for the winter, the 

Trust launched its flu clinics for staff, with 

the Chief Executive and Executive team 

leading the way towards hitting the 

target of an uptake of 75% for the year 

and, in doing so, helping to maintain a 

healthy, resilient workforce.  

The re-launch in October of the Trust’s 

partnership with “iWantGreatCare”, the 

largest independent source of healthcare 

reviews, enabled all patients to leave real-time feedback about their care and ensured an ongoing source of 

information for the Trust, both about excellent care from its staff, as well as where improvements might be 

needed. 

In other developments, Healthcare professionals and patients attended a ‘Lung Awareness Day’ at 

Maidstone Hospital. The event was organised by the Trust’s Respiratory Research and Respiratory Medicine 

departments in partnership with the charity, ‘Kent Lung Awareness’. Simon Denegri, National Director for 

Patients and Public at the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) gave a key note speech and Dr Syed 

Arshad Husain, Chest Consultant at Maidstone Hospital, gave a series of talks on the range of various lung 

illnesses in people and how to best manage lung conditions. The event also showcased a new device to help 

identify irregular breathing patterns in patients. 

The Trust’s Emergency department at Tunbridge Wells Hospital hosted a visit by pupils from Oakley School, 

which caters for pupils aged 4-18 years with severe and or complex needs, and associated communication 

and learning difficulties. Nine pupils and 3 teachers came along to meet staff, look around the department 

and even try out some first-aid. The visit was arranged as part of the Trust’s ongoing campaign to make the 

Department a less daunting place. The pupils thoroughly enjoyed their visit & left with a really positive view. 

November 2016 
The Trust submitted its draft 2 year operational plan late in the month, which was closely aligned to the 

emerging Kent and Medway STP, and the Executive team met with NHSI to provide an update on its 

progress against the Financial Recovery Plan. This was the second such progress meeting and NHSI again 

acknowledged the efforts made by the Trust and recognised the progress that had been delivered. The rate 

of progress and pace with which some actions had been implemented did not completely satisfy NHSI and a 

further meeting in January 2017 was arranged to assess progress and delivery. Following the meeting, the 

Trust’s Executive team presented update sessions to staff on the latest position. 

More encouragingly, the results of the Trust’s second quarterly Staff Impressions Survey showed that 93% 

of staff who responded would recommend the Trust as a place to receive treatment, with quality of care 

being the top reason for this. 60% of staff said they would recommend the Trust as a great place to work, 

with job role and colleagues being the top ranking reasons for recommending. 
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 The efforts of many of the Trust’s committed staff were recognised at the year’s Annual Staff Awards in 

November. Winners and Runners-Up included the Trust’s Teenage Pregnancy Midwives who provide a 

personalised service for young pregnant teenagers and Dr Jenny Weeks, famous for using mathematics, 

namely subtraction, to distract her patients undergoing stressful biopsy procedures. Carol Kinsella, Clinical 

Manager, Outpatient Physiotherapy, was the Trust’s “Employee of the Year”, and was rewarded for her 

consistently outstanding approach and exceptional professionalism over many years of service. 

Sister Sandra Wakelin, a Macmillan Lung Clinical Nurse Specialist, won the Innovation Award for her work 

setting up a clinic which assessed patients and prescribed supportive medications to help them manage side 

effects from chemotherapy. Winner of the Excellence Award was the Linear Accelerator (1) Oncology team, 

nominated by a patient who described the ‘kindness, consideration and compassion’ shown by the team 

and recorded how ‘it has been a pleasure to come every day and not a chore’. 

December 2016 
As part of the year’s winter plans (see October), the 12-bed Maidstone Orthopaedic Unit (MOU) was 

recommissioned a week before Christmas. The Unit was initially scheduled to operate until the end of 

March 2017, with the intention being to make a long-term decision regarding its future. The theatre, with a 

laminar flow unit to maintain a working area free of contaminants, was for use for elective Orthopaedic 

conditions, such as hip and knee replacements.   

‘Home First’, a new scheme to help patients get home from the Trust’s hospitals sooner was also launched 

in December. A critical element of the scheme, which is part of the Kent and Medway STP, was close 

working between the Trust, Kent Community Health NHS Foundation Trust and Kent County Council, as 

well as more effective involvement with voluntary and community sector partners. ‘Home First’ aims to 

make home the first choice for all medically stable patients and further stages of this programme were due 

to be rolled out over the months ahead. 

The appointment of Dr Peter Maskell as the Trust’s new Medical Director was announced in December, 

along with the establishment of three new roles of Deputy Medical Directors for Planned Care; Urgent Care 

and Women’s, Children’s & Sexual Health. This reorganisation was in recognition of the scale of the 

operational and financial challenges faced by the Trust and the need to build the strongest clinical 

leadership possible.   

In the lead up to Christmas, the Trust held tea parties at both of its main sites to thank the many volunteers 

whose tireless dedication and support proved invaluable at both hospitals throughout the year. The 26th 

annual Christmas coffee morning, run by the Tunbridge Wells Hospital League of Friends, raised £4,300 and 

attracted over 150 attendees. 

Over the Christmas period, NHSI’s Chairman (Ed 

Smith) and Director of Nursing for Professional 

Leadership (Jacqueline McKenna) visited 

Tunbridge Wells Hospital to see staff in action 

and to view Accident & Emergency, Maternity 

and the Acute Medical Unit, as well as some 

wards. The visitors were impressed with what 

they saw, commenting specifically on how 

helpful and friendly the staff were.  
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January 2017 

Between Christmas and the New Year over 

4,000 people were seen and treated in the 

Trust’s Emergency Departments. Heightened 

demand for unplanned care continued 

throughout January and saw both sites in full 

escalation. The cancellation of some non-

urgent elective activity was a regrettable, but 

inevitable outcome of this surge in demand.  

The roll out of the ‘Home First’ scheme for Kent continued to get patients in the county’s hospitals home 

sooner, to carry on with their recovery safely at home. For patients unable to manage at home, short-term 

rehabilitation was offered in a community hospital and an 8-bed therapy ward was opened for this purpose 

at Tonbridge Cottage Hospital.  

The findings of Healthwatch Kent’s ‘Enter and View’ visits to Outpatients clinics at both main Trust sites, 

published in January 2017 (http://healthwatchkent.co.uk/outpatients), showed patient satisfaction levels to 

be high at both hospitals and aspects of the waiting areas’ environment to be satisfactory to excellent. 

However, many patients noted that they experienced a delay before being seen, signage to clinics and 

waiting areas was limited and parking needed to be improved. The feedback received instigated a number 

of improvements.  

Elsewhere during the month, young patients at 

Tunbridge Wells Hospital were given access to a new 

therapy play room in the Woodlands Unit, funded by the 

charity, ‘Emilia’s Little Heart’. The charity was set up in 

memory of Emilia, a young girl who sadly passed away 

following her third open heart surgery, and aims to 

ensure that every child in hospital should be helped to 

cope with the hospital environment through play and 

pain distraction. The £2,000 project featured a bespoke 

sea-life themed wall mural, toys, books, an arts and 

crafts area and comfortable seating. 

In Maidstone Hospital in January, Mark Cynk, Consultant Urological Surgeon, and his team performed their 

1000th laser prostate operation. Originally developed in New Zealand, the first local procedures were 

performed in Tunbridge Wells by Mr Cynk in 2003. The advantages of the laser surgery are that the risk of 

bleeding is much reduced, leading to a safer operation and a shorter hospital stay, with advantages both for 

patients and for the hospital. Over half of patients are now treated as day cases. Based on this pioneering 

experience, Maidstone Hospital is now a venue for laser training courses, which are attended by surgeons 

from across the world. 

At the end of the month, the final Review meeting for the year was held between the Trust and NHSI to 

take stock of the latest situation under the Financial Special Measures regime. The meeting was positive 

with acknowledgement of the extent to which staff had clearly taken responsibility for spending money 

carefully and wisely as was clearly reflected in the figures. The challenge was recognised as maintaining the 

momentum already built, delivering in the same way for the remainder of the year and establishing a robust 

plan for 2017/18. 
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February 2017 
The first week of February saw the highest ever number of patients through the doors of the Discharge 

Lounge at Tunbridge Wells Hospital with 31 patients using the service, a welcome development at a time 

when demand for hospital beds and services were at very high levels.  

Mid-month, the Trust and its health and social care partners, were focussed on improving the emergency 

care pathway as part of a dedicated ‘Rapid Improvement Week’. The aim of the week was to support 

delivery of safer, faster, better urgent and emergency care. Increases in Emergency Department 

attendances, and challenges in discharging patients had resulted in poor patient flow and necessitated a 

number of escalation areas to maintain patient safety, improve patient flow and produce a step-change in 

performance, safety and patient experience.  

The month’s Safety Calendar focus was on venous thromboembolism (VTE). Whilst the Trust has enjoyed a 

good record in relation to VTE prevention, the need to continue to implement all necessary actions to 

prevent patients from developing VTE was recognised and February’s initiatives included educating patients 

about this issue.  

The CHKS (Comparative Health Knowledge 

System) inspection for Kent Oncology Centre 

(KOC), which took place towards the end of 

February, was very successful. Overall 

comments on the findings concluded, “The 

Kent Oncology Centre remains an outstanding 

centre and it is recommended that they 

continue to be in receipt of their ISO 

certification”. This was testament to the 

ongoing hard work and commitment from all 

KOC staff. 

The month closed with the announcement of the appointment of David Highton, the new Chair of the Trust 

Board, with effect from 8th May 2017. Further details of David’s background and extensive experience are 

included in the Corporate Governance Report. Anthony Jones retired as Chairman on 28th February, after 

serving two full terms of office. Anthony’s significant contribution to the Trust over the past 9 years was 

acknowledged at the Trust Board meeting in February. Also stepping down from the Trust Board after 9 

years was Non-Executive Director, Sylvia Denton. During her service, Sylvia made an excellent and 

invaluable contribution, and was hugely supportive to the Trust’s Chief Nurses with her wealth of 

experience as a senior nurse.   

March 2017 

The announcement in March that the Trust had been 

awarded £1.8 million of national funding to help modernise 

radiotherapy, meant that it was one of only 15 Trusts across 

England to benefit from this first wave of investment by 

NHS England. The funding was to ensure the Trust could 

continue to provide optimum treatment, care and support 

to its cancer patients. The money funded the replacement 
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 of one Linear Accelerator (LinAc) and the planning for the pre-installation works for the new equipment is 

advancing well. The new LinAc would allow Radiotherapy staff to target tumours which can vary in position 

during treatment, and would help to deliver treatment quickly and accurately while avoiding healthy tissues 

and organs. 

The Trust marked National Apprenticeship 

Week in March with a visit of more than 180 

students from 18 different local schools to a 

Trust hosted careers event. The event, put on 

by the Trust’s Learning and Development 

team in partnership with Health Education 

England and Education Business Partnership 

Kent, highlighted the diverse range of careers 

within the NHS and opportunities for 

traineeships all the way through to higher 

and degree apprenticeships. Students were 

able to speak to members of staff from across 

the Trust and other health-related organisations, such as Pharmacy and the ambulance service, as well as to 

try their hand at some simulation exercises. 

In other developments, the Trust exceeded its annual research recruitment target for 2016/17 in March, with 

1,300 people having consented to take part in clinical trials during the year. This surpassed the Trust’s target 

of 1,250. As well as more Trust patients than ever before offered innovative treatments, this achievement 

also secured future research funding for the Trust. 

Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOCs) within the Trust 

accounted for around 1,500 lost bed days in March. 

Close working with Social Services and a new 

approach to patient discharge was introduced in 

the month by the Integrated Discharge Team, (an 

amalgamation of Social Services, Community 

Liaison and Discharge Liaison teams) working 

collaboratively with Kent Community Health NHS 

Foundation Trust and Social Services. This new 

way of working, facilitated by improved 

technology and strong communication between 

providers, was intended to provide a more seamless healthcare approach for the patient and their relatives; 

to reduce delays in discharge and misinformation; as well as allowing better use of staff time and increasing 

elective activity – all themes that would continue beyond the year-end. 

To monitor the impacts of the Trust’s initiatives in this area, the first of 10 Enter and View visits by 

Healthwatch Kent, to gather feedback from patients about their experience of being discharged from 

hospital in West Kent, took place at the end of the month. As part of this enterprise, there were plans to visit 

both Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells Hospitals, along with other places that Trust patients were discharged 

to, like Tonbridge Cottage Hospital and various care homes. The scheme would also elicit feedback from 

Home First patients. 
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The story of the year: Kent and Medway 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan 
The review of the year would not be complete without proper reference to the work undertaken as part of 

the development of a Kent and Medway Health and Social Care Sustainability and Transformation Plan 

(STP). This initiative saw all the NHS organisations in Kent and Medway, Kent County Council and Medway 

Council working in partnership for the first time on plans for the future provision of health and social care 

services to the county’s growing population of over 1.8 million people. The work recognises that changes 

are needed because the current health and social care system isn’t set up to 

meet the needs of today’s population. With the Trust’s Chief Executive acting as 

Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) for the STP, the Trust has been at the 

forefront of this ground-breaking initiative during the course of the year.  

This initiative resulted in two key publications in 2016/17: 

 The draft Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) for Kent and 

Medway (“Transforming health and social care in Kent and Medway”), 

published in November 2016, explains the vision for the future, a key 

theme of which is putting local people at the heart of services, helping 

people to stay well and independent in their own homes and communities and avoid 

being admitted to hospital, and 

 The ‘case for change’, published in March 2017, set out why services need to change to meet the needs 

of local people and explains in more detail the thinking behind the draft plans in the Kent and Medway 

Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP)  

The STP is work in progress. It describes what needs to be done differently to bring 

about better health and wellbeing, better standards of care, and better use of staff 

and funds. Engagement and consultation with local communities in Kent and 

Medway is ongoing and will play a critical part in deciding on any future changes to 

services. 

Further information on the Kent and Medway STP and access to the documents 

referenced above is available at: 

http://kentandmedway.nhs.uk/stp/caseforchange/ 

Amongst the intended benefits arising from the STP for the people of Kent and Medway are: 

 joined-up services to treat and care for people in their own home and support for them to leave hospital 

as soon as they are medically fit to leave 

 quality hospital care when needed – and more care, treatment and support out of hospital if it isn’t 

 health and social care professionals coming together to work as a single team for the local area 

 a modern approach to health and social care services using the best technology, from booking 

appointments online to virtual (but secure) consultations and diagnostic systems 

 timely appointments with the right professional 

 care for the individual as a whole, for both physical and mental health 

 more support from voluntary and charitable organisations. 
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Key issues and risks affecting delivery of the 
Trust’s objectives 
The Trust Board agreed the following objectives for 2016/17: 

 To reduce the falls rate to less than 6.2 per 1,000 occupied bed days 

 To achieve an average maximum Length of Stay for elective care of 3.2 days and an average maximum 

Length of Stay for non-elective care of 6.8 days 

 To reduce the vacancy rate to 8.5% 

 To maintain operational liquidity whilst reducing working capital (from the planned level for 2016/17) 

and to deliver the control total for 2016/174 

 To deliver the Trust’s 2016/17 agreed trajectory regarding the 62-day Cancer waiting time target 

The key issues and risks affecting delivery of these (as described in the Trust’s Board Assurance Framework 

– see the “Governance Statement for 2016/17”) are outlined below. Details of how the Trust actually

performed in response to these can be found in the “Performance analysis” section below. 

To reduce the falls rate to less than 6.2 per 
1,000 occupied bed days 

In order to achieve this, it was known that the following 

risks needed to be managed effectively: insufficient 

senior leadership and commitment; insufficient clarity of 

the performance required by each Ward, & the 

monitoring of such performance; insufficient 

engagement by Wards and staff; and falls-related 

documentation not being fit for purpose.  

To achieve an average maximum Length of Stay for elective care of 3.2 days and to 

achieve an average maximum Length of Stay for non-elective care of 6.8 days 

In order to achieve this, it was known that the following risks needed to be managed effectively: insufficient 

senior leadership and commitment; insufficient engagement by clinical staff; insufficient clarity over the 

performance required; insufficient framework to drive patient flow; poorly designed ambulatory pathways; 

insufficient ‘pull’ of patients from outside of Wards; insufficient incentives for good performance; 

insufficient awareness of the action required; a lack of capability & capacity re complex discharges; a lack of 

optimal use of community hospitals; insufficient capacity for non-elective patients; and insufficient change 

in discharge management out of the Trust (i.e. inability to deliver system-wide). 

To reduce the vacancy rate to 8.5% 

In order to achieve this, it was known that the following risks needed to be managed effectively: a national 

shortage of certain staff groups; a lack of clarity/focus on the key actions required; a lack of clarity over the 

performance required by each Directorate, and the monitoring of such performance; inefficiency of 

recruitment processes; lack of urgency/commitment by recruiting managers; and uncertainty over the 

status of vacancies. 

4 The Trust Board approved this objective on 30
th

 November 2016 as an alternative to the original wording: “To improve on the 
Trust’s Income and Expenditure plan for 2016/17” 
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 To maintain operational liquidity whilst reducing working capital (from the planned level 

for 2016/17); and to deliver the control total for 2016/17 

In order to achieve this, it was known that the following risks needed to be managed effectively: a lack of 

senior leadership and commitment; poor financial controls and/or their application; a lack of 

urgency/commitment by managers; a lack of capability and capacity in key areas; deficiency in 

consideration of best practice elsewhere in the development of the Financial Recovery Plan; non-

acceptance of the Financial Recovery Plan by NHSI; and insufficient engagement with external 

stakeholders. 

To deliver the Trust’s 2016/17 agreed trajectory regarding the 62-day Cancer waiting 

time target 

In order to achieve this, it was known that the following risks needed to be managed effectively: insufficient 

engagement by clinical staff outside of the Cancer and Haematology Directorate; that pathways may not be 

optimal in relation to achieving the required performance; insufficient communication of the performance 

required outside of the Cancer and Haematology Directorate (only 1/3 of the delivery is within the control of 

the Cancer and Haematology Directorate – the remainder is within Diagnostics, Surgery and Medicine).  

The controls in place to manage the identified risks described above were monitored by the Trust Board and 

other forums throughout the year. 

Adoption of the ‘going concern’ basis 
The Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2016-17 states that ‘For non-trading entities in the 

public sector, the anticipated continuation of the provision of a service in the future, as evidenced by 

inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents, is normally sufficient evidence of 

going concern. Department of Health group bodies should therefore prepare their accounts on a going 

concern basis unless informed by the relevant national body or Department of Health sponsor of the 

intention for dissolution without transfer of services or function to another entity’.  

The Trust has compiled the 2016/17 accounts on a “going concern” basis on consideration of the following:- 

 There has been no expectation raised in the public arena that healthcare services will not continue to be 

provided from the two hospital sites 

 The Trust has submitted business plans to NHSI in December 2016 setting out its plans for the following 

two operating years (2017/18 and 2018/19). These plans include acceptance of the nationally set revenue 

“control total” to which the Trust has confirmed sign up 

 The Trust has fully participated in the STP planning process including the submission of the forward 5 

year financial and operating plans on a going concern basis. The Trust’s Chief Executive is the SRO for 

the STP, and the Trust is leading some of the significant workstream areas 

 The Trust has agreed/signed contracts for provision of healthcare services for 2017/18 including a new 

“aligned objectives” approach with its main CCG 

 The Trust has prepared and submitted cash-flow forecasts for 2017/18 and 2018/19 which do not include 

assumptions of additional required working capital finance 

 The Trust is in financial special measures and is working with its Financial Improvement Director and 

NHSI support to deliver an outturn as close as possible to the control total (pre-Sustainability and 

Transformation Fund (STF) funding) 

 There are no plans to dissolve the Trust or to cease services without transfer to any other NHS body. 
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Performance summary for 2016/17 
The Trust’s performance activities can be found in full within the monthly Trust Board reports, which are 

available for review at https://tinyurl.com/MTWTBReports 

Overall performance for the year was again mixed. Performance against the Trust’s agreed objectives, 

including the delivery of the financial plan, is described in detail in the “Development and performance in 

2016/17” section on the following pages.  

The Trust achieved successes in the areas of 

Stroke, patient falls and pressure ulcers, with: 

an 88.3% rate (unvalidated) of Stroke patients 

spending 90% or more of their time on a 

Stroke ward against a target of 80% and 

58.8% (unvalidated) of patients receiving a CT 

scan within 1 hour against a target of 48%. 

The Trust was successful in exceeding its 

target to reduce patient falls to a maximum 

rate of 6.2 per 1,000 bed days, achieving a rate 

of 6.07 for the year.  

Similarly, the rate of pressure ulcers was 2.6 

per 1,000 admissions against a threshold of 3 per 1,000 admissions. Progress in these areas is encouraging 

given the increased operational pressures which resulted from significantly higher levels of attendances and 

admissions. Also positive was the reduction in the number of complaints - a rate of 1.25 complaints per 

1,000 occupied bed days for the year.  

The Trust maintained its robust performance in the field of infection prevention and control - as well as 

meeting its target for Clostridium difficile in terms of rate (10.5% per 100,000 bed days, against a target of 

11.5%), it also outperformed both regional (12.6%) and national averages (13.5%) in this field. The Trust just 

exceeded (by 1 case) its maximum limit of 27 cases of Clostridium difficile for the year. This is set against a 

background where all but 3 of the Trusts in Kent, Surrey and Sussex breached their trajectory by number, 

and 7 breached their trajectory by rate. There was also only 1 case of MRSA bacteraemia for the year. 

Elsewhere, the Trust underperformed on several targets, including those relating to Cancer, Access to 

treatment & Length of Stay. More details are provided in the “Governance Statement” section later. 

Performance standards for quality of care can be found in the trust’s Quality Accounts found also on the 

Trust website at www.mtw.nhs.uk 

Page 23

https://tinyurl.com/MTWTBReports
https://www.mtw.nhs.uk/


Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17 

 Performance Report for 2016/17: 
Performance analysis 
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How the Trust measures performance 
To ensure that its information is appropriately validated from a wide range of data sources, the Trust 

launched a new performance management framework in the autumn of 2016. The framework is 

based upon the national Single Oversight Framework and 

reinforces accountability for delivery at Divisional level. As part 

of this new system, a ‘Ward to Board’ approach has been 

adopted and is monitored through a sign-off process at 

Directorate, then Divisional level before presentation at monthly 

Executive Performance Review meetings and ultimately, the 

Trust Board.  

A whole day each month is devoted to Trust-wide performance 

management, attended by all members of the Executive Team. 

The Clinical Divisions and Corporate services are accountable for 

the delivery of their key indicators for quality, performance, 

finance and workforce, together with their strategic and Trust-

wide programme responsibilities. Every 6 months, a ‘deep dive’ 

review is held with the Divisions to promote further 

understanding of data trends and links and to provide focussed 

challenge and support. 

The monthly Trust Board performance dashboard, which 

encapsulates the result of these processes, provides the Board 

with a rich source of information which has been fully reviewed 

and substantiated at all levels of the Trust. The dashboard 

contains details of all key aspects of performance, under the 

Care Quality Commission domains of “Safety”, “Effectiveness”, “Caring”, 

“Responsiveness” and “Well-Led”. The “Well-Led” information is provided by the Finance 

and Human Resources Departments. A traditional ‘Red, Amber, Green’ (RAG) rating system is used to 

highlight variances against the Trust’s plans for the year and/or the required national target. “Green” means 

“Delivering or exceeding target”, “Amber” means “Underachieving target”’ and “Red” means “Failing 

target”. Additional performance information is provided on financial matters and clinical quality. These 

reports are available on the Trust’s website, as part of the information provided for Trust Board meetings 

(see www.mtw.nhs.uk/about-us/trust-board/).  

The content of the Performance Dashboard is discussed at meetings of the Trust Management Executive 

(TME) and Trust Board. The Director responsible for each domain is asked to highlight any key issues of 

note, and provide an explanation for any areas of under / failing performance. At the Trust Board, the 

previous month’s performance is summarised within a “Story of the month”. 

Performance against the Trust’s agreed objectives is measured and monitored via the Board Assurance 

Framework, which is described in more details in the “Governance Statement” later in the Report.  

The Trust also uses nationally-published information (where available), to compare performance. This 

includes national staff and patient surveys (which are described elsewhere in this Report); and national 

clinical audits.  
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Development and performance in 2016/17 
The ‘key issues and risks affecting delivery of the Trust’s objectives’ were described earlier in the Report. 

The Trust’s actual performance against each of its 2016/17 objectives is described below. 

To reduce the falls rate to less than 6.2 per 1,000 occupied bed days 

This was fully achieved, with performance for the year at 6.07 per 1000 bed days against the threshold of 6.2 

and compared to 6.69 for 2016/17.  

To achieve an average maximum Length of Stay for elective care of 3.2 days and to 

achieve an average maximum Length of Stay for non-elective care of 6.8 days 

This was achieved in part. The average Length of Stay (LOS) for elective care for the year was 3.28 days and 

the average Length of Stay for non-elective care for the year was 7.74 days. However there were mitigating 

circumstances, including December 2016 seeing the highest level of Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOCs), at 

8%. Ambulatory pathways (where some conditions may be treated without the need for an overnight stay 

in hospital) were rolled out at Tunbridge Wells Hospital in July 2016, but due to high escalation these were 

not been optimised. Similar pathways are in place at Maidstone Hospital but these require embedding 

further. Therefore although the actions taken and/or planned are felt to have been the correct actions 

required to address this objective, achieving the target average LOS targets may not be achieved until mid-

2017/18. This level of confidence is affected by the fact that there has been no reduction in non-elective 

demand. However, despite this, there are continuing measures in place to assist patient flow. 

To reduce the vacancy rate to 8.5% 

This was fully achieved, with the vacancy rate for the year standing at 8.3% (which compared to 9.3% for 

2015/16). This was the result of implementation of the Trust Workforce Strategy 2015-20 (“Recruitment & 

Retention” is the first of 6 workforce priorities); through the operation of a Nurse Recruitment and 

Retention Group; through increased recruitment staffing resource and various Task and Finish Groups 

focussed on the issue. 

To maintain operational liquidity whilst reducing working capital (from the planned level 

for 2016/17); and to deliver the control total for 2016/17 

Maintenance of operational liquidity whilst reducing working capital was fully achieved, as the Trust 

managed its liquidity during the financial year through the delivery of the actions within its Financial 

Recovery Plan. This meant that no significant additional borrowing was necessary, while the Trust also 

significantly reduced its 90 days and over aged debt profile. 

In relation to the control total for 2016/17 (which was to achieve a surplus, after Sustainability and 

Transformation Fund (STF) monies, of £4.7m), the Trust ended 2016/17 with a deficit of £10.9m, which 

meant the Trust did not meet its control total for the year. A significant factor in the size of the deficit was 

the fact that the Trust was not allowed to undertake the Capital to Revenue Transfer (of £4.2m) it had 

planned. 

To deliver the Trust’s 2016/17 agreed trajectory regarding the 62-day Cancer waiting 

time target 

The 2016/17 performance on the 62-day Cancer waiting time target was 71.5% (which compares to the 

standard of 85%). The key issue to address is with the Lower Gastrointestinal (GI) pathway (which has the 

lowest performance among all Tumour Sites). 
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 A detailed report on Cancer performance was considered by the Trust Management Executive (TME) and 

Trust Board in March 2017, which described the resources in place, the actions that had been taken, and 

those planned to be taken, and noted that a recovery trajectory to achieve the 62-day standard had been 

submitted to NHS Improvement which anticipated achievement in September 2017. 

Financial performance in 2016/17 
The year has proven extremely challenging financially. The Trust was placed in Financial Special Measures 
(FSM) in July 2016 as a consequence of not agreeing to the control total set by NHSI and being significantly 
at variance to that control total. The Trust remained in FSM at the year-end and a further checkpoint 
meeting was scheduled for late May 2017, with the Trust’s main aim being to exit FSM at this time.  

The Trust reported a deficit of £10.9m, post Sustainability and Transformation Funding (STF), which was 

£15.6m adverse to the control total set at the beginning of the financial year (a £4.7m surplus). The scale of 

this achievment against a 2015/16 deficit of £23.4m, and an original planned deficit for 2016/17 of £23.1m, 

whilst maintaining performance on a range of other financial metrics, is noteworthy. The key drivers of the 

adverse variance reported were: 

 Significant use of Agency staff and the associated premium, particularly in Medical to cover vacancies 

(£1.2m) 

 The need to open escalation areas during the winter period (£0.3m) 

 The impact on the Trust’s ability to deliver elective activity due to the increasing demand of non-

elective activity, Length of Stay and Delayed Transfers of Care (£4.5m) 

 Inclusion within the Financial Recovery Plan of a number of high risk income schemes (£4.3m) which 

were unable to be delivered 

 Part-delivery of the STF performance and financial targets (£3.7m) (the financial target was not 

delivered in the last quarter of the year only) 

Income and Expenditure (Financial Performance) 

The table below compares the Trust’s income and expenditure plan to the year-end financial position. 

Statement of 
Comprehensive Income 

2016/17 
(revised Plan) 

2016/17 
(Actual) 

Variance 

Income £440.8m £430.5m (£10.3m) 
Expenditure (£403.1m) (£411.6m) (£8.5m) 

EBITDA (deficit): £37.7m £18.9m (£18.8m) 
EBITDA % 9% 4% -5% 

Depreciation & other (£15.7m) (£13.2m) £2.5m 
Net interest (£14.6m) (£14.6m) (£0.0m) 

PDC dividend (£3.4m) (£1.9m) £1.5m 
Impairments (£13.5m) (£41.3m) (£27.8m) 

(£47.2m) (£71.0m) (£23.8m) 
(Deficit) before technical adjustments (£9.5m) (£52.1m) (£42.6m) 

Technical adjustments £14.2m £41.1m £26.9m 
(Deficit) after technical adjustments £4.7m (£10.9m) (£15.6m) 
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 Income 

The Trust’s income was below plan by £10.3m by the end of the financial year. Clinical income was £9.6m 

adverse to plan and other income £0.7m adverse which included £1m non recurrent support funding from 

NHS Improvement. The Trust had a challenging winter period where it faced an increasing demand of non-

elective activity during quarter four of 2016/17. This led to a significant reduction in elective and day case 

activity during this period (£4.5m). The Financial Recovery Plan included a number of high risk income 

schemes (£4.3m) which were unable to be delivered.  STF income was adverse by £3.7m, high cost drug 

income was favourable by £2.4m (it should be noted that the high cost drug income is a pass through cost). 

The majority (82%) of the Trust’s income is from Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) or NHS England. 

Expenditure 

The Trust’s operating expenses were dominated by pay. Pay costs for 2016/17 were 61% of total operating 

expenses. Pay was £1.5m adverse to plan at the end of the financial year. This was partly due to an 

unidentified Financial Recovery Plan target relating to pay, which was offset by a small underspend within 

Nursing. Non-pay was £7m adverse to the Trust’s plan. The main driver of this was medication of £3.4m, 

clinical supplies (£1.5m) & a further unidentified Financial Recovery Plan target relating to non-pay (£2.1m). 

Of the £3.4m medication over-spend, £2.4m was recoverable from either NHS England or CCGs. 

Cost Improvement Plan (CIP) 

The Trust had a CIP and Financial Recovery Plan (FRP) of £32m during 2016/17. The Trust delivered a CIP of 

£14.6m against a plan of £15.9m. The FRP delivered additional savings of £9.9m against a plan of £16.2m.  

Full year delivery against this plan was £24.5m, with an adverse variance of £7.4m. The full details are shown 

in the following table: 

CIP programme by workstream 2016/17 
Plan 
£’000 

2016/17 
Actual 
£’000 

Variance 
£’000 

Cancer & Haematology (Planned Care) £2,734 £3,182 £448 
Critical Care (Planned Care) £1,466 £1,393 (£73) 
Diagnostics (Planned Care) £2,833 £2,511 (£322) 

Head and Neck (Planned Care) £1,313 £1,077 (£236) 
Surgery (Planned Care) £2,157 £1,706 (£451) 

Trauma & Orthopaedics (Planned Care) £2,242 £1,840 (£402) 
Patient Admin (Planned Care) £45 £33 (£12) 

Private Patients Unit (Planned Care) £210 £238 £28 

Total for Planned Care £13,000 £11,980 (£1,021) 

Urgent Care £11,783 £5,836 (£5,947) 
Women’s, Children’s & Sexual Health £2,408 £1,912 (£496) 

Estates & Facilities £3,269 £2,169 (£1,100) 
Corporate £1,605 £2,657 £1,052 

Total across all workstreams £32,065 £24,554 (£7,511) 

Capital Expenditure plan 

During the year, the Trust made capital investments totalling £9.5m, including £0.4m of assets funded from 

donated or charitable fund sources. A significant part of the Trust’s capital programme in year was the 

purchasing of equipment (£3.4m, of which £1.7m was the purchase of a Linear Accelerator), IT equipment 

(£3m) and Estates (£2.4m which mostly relates to backlog schemes). 
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 The Trust’s statutory (i.e. legal) duties 

As an NHS Trust, the organisation has a number of statutory financial duties, which are explained below. 

Capital Cost Absorption Duty 

The Trust is required to achieve a rate of return on capital employed of 3.5% and met that target, achieving 

a return of 3.5% for the year to March 2017. 

External Finance Limit (EFL) 

The Trust is required to demonstrate that it has managed its cash resources effectively by staying below an 

agreed limit on the amount of cash drawn from the Department of Health (DH). In 2016/17, the Trust met its 

target by managing the year-end position to an under shoot against the EFL of £0.4m, actual closing cash 

balance £1.4m. 

Capital Resource Limit 

The Trust is expected to manage its capital expenditure within its agreed Capital Resource Limit (CRL). For 

2016/17, the Trust’s CRL was £12.53m, which was underspent by £3.36m. This underspend was part of the 

Trust’s Financial Recovery Plan agreed with NHSI in the year.  

Capital Investment Financing 

The Trust did not take out any additional capital investment loans in 2016/17, but was successful in an 

application for £1.7m of central Public Dividend Capital (PDC) to replace a Linear Accelerator machine at 

Maidstone Hospital.  

Break-even duty 

Each NHS Trust has a statutory duty to break-even taking one year with another, measured as the Income 

and Expenditure position adjusted for specific technical exclusions. This duty is formally measured over a 3 

year period or a 5 year period if agreed with the DH.  

The Trust’s latest 3 year break-even cycle commenced in 2013/14 and was not met by the end of the period 
in 2015/16. The Trust’s break-even period has therefore been extended with the plans submitted for 2017/18 
and 2018/19 aimed at reducing the accumulated deficit towards the target of formal cumulative break-even 
by 2020/21.  

Accounting Issues 

The Accounts have been prepared in accordance with guidance issued by the DH and in line with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as applied in the DH Group Accounting Manual. The 

accounts were prepared under the “Going Concern” concept in line with the DH Group Accounting Manual 

requirements for management consideration. This has been set out in the “Overview” section above.  

External Auditors 

The Trust’s External Auditors are Grant Thornton UK LLP. Their charge for the year was £85,069 excluding 

VAT (in 2015/16 this was £85,069 excluding VAT) which includes the audit of the Quality Accounts. Grant 

Thornton UK LLP did not undertake any non-audit work for the Trust in 2016/17. 
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 Looking forward to 2017/18 

 The Trust has set a planned surplus of £6.7m which includes receipt of £11.2m STF during 2017/18. To 

deliver this surplus the Trust will need to deliver a £32m CIP. The overall plan shows that 2017/18 will 

continue to be financially challenging. The table below sets out the Trust’s 2 year financial plan 

submitted to NHSI. 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 2017/18 
(Plan) 

£m 

2018/19 
(Plan) 

£m 

Income £436.6m £446.5m 
Expenditure (£398.6m) (£402.8m) 

EBITDA (deficit): £38.0m £43.7m 
EBITDA % 9% 10% 

Depreciation & other (£14.8m) (£15.6m) 
Net interest (£15.1m) (£15.2m) 

PDC dividend (£1.5m) (£2.0m) 
Impairments (£1.0m) (£1.0m) 

(£32.4m) (£33.8m) 
Deficit (before technical adjustments) £5.6m £10.0m 

Technical adjustments £1.0m £1.2m 
Deficit (after technical adjustments) £6.6m £11.2m 

 The key movements from 2016/17 to 2017/18 are: Clinical Negligence Scheme for Trusts (CNST) and 

rates inflation (£3.4m), PFI indexation change (£0.6m), inflationary factors such as pay awards, 

incremental drift, apprentice levy and non pay (£6.1m) and a contingency plan of (£3.7m). The plan 

includes additional STF funding of £5.6m. The 2016/17 financial position also included non recurrent 

items of £8.8m. This is offset by the planned £32m CIP, full year effect of 2016/17 FRP (£5.6m) and NHS 

tariff inflation and demographic growth. 

 The Trust’s overall baseline income plan assumes the same level of non-elective and elective activity as 

per demand during 2016/17 increased for demographic growth. The Trust has moved from a ‘Payment 

by Results’ contract with its host commissioner, West Kent Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), to an 

‘Aligned Incentives’ contract for the next 2 years. This contract is designed to deliver efficient and 

robust patient pathways across the local health economy. 

 The Trust is planning a rolling 5-year capital programme of £74m. This is inclusive of the following: 

 £14m essential improvements in backlog estates and planned lifecycle replacement

 £6.5m of electrical substation and energy peformance infrastructure

 Renewal of a main theatre block at Maidstone Hospital (£15m)

 Replacement equipment programme of £20m, including LinAcs (with £4.4m of build work related to

the LinAc replacements)

 £4.7m Information Management &Technology (IM&T) modernisation programme

 Tunbridge Wells Hospital Satellite radiotherapy bunkers £7.4m

 The Trust is planning for capital investment loans to support the scale of the required estate renewal 

including Salix5 funding. The Trust has also included the expectation of further national PDC funding for 

linear accelerator replacements and is working with the NHS England team on this programme.  

5
 Salix Finance Ltd. provides interest-free Government funding to the public sector to improve their energy efficiency, and is funded 

by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy, the Department for Education, the Welsh Government and the 
Scottish Government. 
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of Quality Accounts 
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Quality Accounts are intended to aid the public’s understanding of what the 

Trust does well; identify where improvements in service quality are required; 

and list the improvement priorities for the coming year.   

This section contains a summary of the Quality Accounts for 2016/17, but the 

full Quality Accounts can be found on the Trust’s website (www.mtw.nhs.uk), 

or the Trust’s pages on the NHS Choices website 

(www.nhs.uk/Services/Trusts/Overview/DefaultView.aspx?id=1178). 

Performance against selected key priorities for 2016/17 

Performance against some of the 2016/17 priorities, as stated in the 2015/16 

Quality Accounts, is detailed below. 

Patient Safety: To improve the dissemination of learning from serious incidents and complaints to 
drive improvement across the organisation 

Examples of the goals set, and the action taken in response is described below: 

 “Improvements as a result of learning from all Serious Incidents and Red Complaints to be shared in a 
staff monthly newsletter and on the intranet and website (100% where disclosable)”: The Governance 
Gazette was published monthly within the Trust throughout the year with each edition dedicating a 
section to learning from complaints and serious incidents. The Annual Complaints report is published on 
Trust website (www.mtw.nhs.uk) 

 “Implement improvements to in-hospital falls prevention with a reduction in falls rates to a target of less 
6.2 per 1000 occupied bed-days by end of March 2017”: As noted above, the target was achieved with 
the year-end position standing at 6.07 per 1000 occupied bed days 

 “Implement improvements as a result of learning from the review of in-hospital mortalities”: The year-
end percentage achieved for hospital mortality reviews undertaken was 43% against a plan of 75%. This 
action was therefore not achieved, but sustained improvement was demonstrated across the year 

Patient Experience: To improve the use of current feedback mechanisms and provide more 

innovative ways to receive and act upon feedback 

Examples of the goals set, and the action taken in response is described below: 

 “Friends & Family results to be clearly and consistently displayed within departments, including actions 

and improvements as a result of qualitative feedback”. A project group was formed to lead and facilitate 

the new contract with the “iWantGreatCare” company which supports the Trust with collation of 

reports from our Friends and Family Test (FFT) questions. A Roadshow was held in October 2016 which 

provided opportunities for the group to consider its methodology for patient feedback in all areas of the 

Trust. The issue was a monthly agenda item for Nurse Engagement and Learning Forum meetings, with 

ward managers sharing their FFT results, along with learning and best practice 

 “Positive feedback / plaudits to be gathered and shared in a more robust way with staff to ensure good 

practices are acknowledged and become drivers for improvement”: A section for feedback/plaudits has 

been integrated within Directorate reports and collaboration with the Trust’s Communications team 

ensures that these are also publicised in the Chief Executive’s weekly update; “iWantGreatCare” are 

supporting the Trust to undertake a case study on successes within its Emergency Departments, which 

will then be shared across the Trust to promote learning 

 “Work with Healthwatch Kent to consider and implement different ways of listening to staff and service 

users to drive improvements (such as listening events, better use of social media and technology)”: 

Patient representatives from Healthwatch support the Trust in a number of patient focussed initiatives, 
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including participation in the Trust’s Internal Assurance visits to wards and departments. As also 

mentioned earlier in the Report, they also completed ‘Enter and view’ visits to Outpatient services at 

Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells Hospitals, and the results are available at 

http://healthwatchkent.co.uk/outpatients. A new project focussed around the discharge experience of 

patients is also in progress 

Clinical Effectiveness: To improve the management of patient flow 

Examples of the goals set, and the action taken in response is described below: 

 “Sustained reduction in length of stay achieved through (but not exclusively) the full implementation of 

Senior review, Anticipate, Flow, Early discharges, React to delays & waits (SAFER) Discharge Bundle. To 

achieve the outputs and timeframes agreed at the Timely Effective Safe (TES) Steering Group”: The 

average non-elective Length of Stay for the year was 7.74 days against a target of 6.8 days (see also 

Development and Performance in 2016/17). The Trust saw a significant increase in escalated beds, bed 

occupancy and attendances during the winter period. Work is ongoing in three specific areas: 

Emergency Department Recovery; SAFER implementation and Home First (see pages 16 and 17). 

Within the SAFER implementation, there is focus on increase in Discharge Lounge referrals (these 

increased in January 2017 to the highest yet level of 15.5%) and engagement with junior doctors. 

 “Sustain 1 ring-fenced bed for Stroke patients at Maidstone at all times and 2 on the Tunbridge Wells 

Hospital site (90% by March 2017). Sustain 1 ring-fenced bed on Ward 31 at Tunbridge Wells Hospital for 

fractured neck of femur patients at all times (90% by March 2017)”: The availability of ring-fenced beds 

for Stroke and fractured neck of femur are reported at each site meeting. If ring-fenced beds are not 

available, this becomes a priority for the Clinical Site team to achieve before the next site meeting. The 

Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP) also records the timeliness of admission to a 

Stroke Unit, and the percentage of patients having direct admission to Stroke Unit in less than 4 hours 

was 54.2% for the Trust (an increase of 5.7% compared to 2015/16) 

 “Embed new ambulatory pathways on the Acute Medical Unit (AMU) at Tunbridge Wells Hospital to 

achieve a 10% reduction (minimum) from the March 2016 baseline in admitted patients from the 

medical take each day, by March 2017”: As part of the Emergency Department recovery group, new 

ambulatory pathways within Respiratory and Cardiology were devised and were trialled during a Rapid 

Improvement Event in February 2017. A Trauma & Orthopaedics ‘task and finish’ group was established 

to divert admissions into ambulatory pathways within the AMU. However, the Trust was unable to 

achieve the planned reduction in patients admitted, due to the 4.2% increase in attendances that were 

experienced 

Quality improvement priorities for 2017/18 

The Trust’s quality improvement priorities are only ever a small sample of the quality improvement work 

undertaken across the organisation in any one year. The initiatives selected in previous years will almost 

always continue into subsequent years, although the focus may change according to need. Selecting new 

initiatives each year ensures that a wide breadth of areas are covered and prioritised. The Trust has chosen 3 

quality priorities for 2017/18:  

Page 33

http://healthwatchkent.co.uk/outpatients


Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17 

1. Patient Safety: To create reliable processes
that will build a supportive environment to 
reduce avoidable harm 

The key objectives involve: A demonstrable, 

embedded safety culture within all departments 

undertaking invasive procedures with compliance 

with the WHO surgical safety methodology; 

improved reporting of medication errors within 

the Trust and reduction of the number of 

inappropriate omissions of doses of medication; 

reduction of observed rates of mortality to be in 

line with expected rates according to speciality; 

consistent recognition and rapid treatment of sepsis in both Emergency and Inpatient departments and an 

ultimate reduction in the number of avoidable deaths; improvement in the outcomes for expectant mothers 

and their babies in line with the Maternal and Neonatal Health Safety Collaborative. 

2. Patient Experience: To improve the use of current feedback mechanisms and provide more

innovative ways to receive and act upon feedback 

The key objectives include: Implementation of the revised Friends & Family methodology to provide a more 

targeted focus on 5 questions relating to the patient’s overall experience; consistent monthly response rates 

to the Friends and family test; Identification, through work with external partners such as Healthwatch, 

NHSI, CQC and the CCG, of key themes of good practice and emerging issues that may give cause for 

concern; development of a framework to report and monitor the incidence of harm affecting those with 

cognitive impairment (dementia).   

3. Clinical Effectiveness: To improve the management of patient flow

The key objectives include: Avoidance of unnecessary admissions to hospital through the increased use of 

ambulatory pathways of care for patients who attend the Trust’s Emergency departments; reduction in the 

number of frequent attendances of patients in crisis attending the Trust’s Emergency departments through 

work with mental health partners; improvement of access to ring-fenced beds for Stroke and Fractured 

Neck of Femur patients; development of pathways that will support the timely discharge of patients   

Progress against these subjects will be monitored through Directorate and Trust-level governance 

structures. Assurance of progress against the above objectives will be presented at the Trust Management 

Executive (TME), Quality Committee and the Patient Experience Committee.  
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Sustainability Report 
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As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public 

funds, the Trust has an obligation to work in a way that 

has a positive effect on the communities it serves. 

Sustainability means spending public money well, the 

smart and efficient use of natural resources and building 

healthy, resilient communities. By making the most of 

social, environmental and economic assets the Trust can 

improve health both in the immediate and long term, 

even in the context of rising cost of natural resources. 

Demonstrating that the Trust considers its social and 

environmental impacts ensures that the legal 

requirements in the Public Services (Social Value) Act 

(2012) are met. In order to fulfil its responsibilities for the 

role it plays, the Trust has the following sustainability 

mission statement/vision within its Sustainable 

Development Management Plan (SDMP): “The provision of Sustainable and Resilient Healthcare and 

Buildings to ensure Healthy People and Places in Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust". 

As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is the Trust’s duty to contribute towards the 

level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, public health and social care 

system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% reduction from a 2013 baseline by 2020. It is the 

Trust’s aim to supersede this target by reducing its carbon emissions 28% by 2020/2021 using 2013/14 as the 

baseline year. 

Policies 

In order to embed sustainability within the Trust’s business it is important to explain where sustainability 

features in its process and procedures. Sustainability is considered in relation to Travel, Procurement 

(environmental), Procurement (social impact) and Suppliers' impact, but not in relation to Business Cases. 

One of the ways in which an organisation can embed sustainability is through the use of a Sustainability 

Development Management Plan (SDMP), which the Trust has. As an organisation that acknowledges its 

responsibility towards creating a sustainable future, the Trust also helps to achieve that goal by running 

awareness campaigns that promote the benefits of sustainability to its staff. 

Climate change brings new challenges to the Trust’s business both in direct effects to the healthcare 

estates, but also to patient health. Examples of recent years include the effects of heat waves, extreme 

temperatures and prolonged periods of cold, floods, droughts etc. The Trust’s plans address the potential 

need to adapt the delivery of the organisation's activities and infrastructure to climate change and adverse 

weather events.  

Partnerships 

The NHS policy framework already sets the scene for commissioners and providers to operate in a 

sustainable manner. Crucially for the Trust as a provider, evidence of this commitment will need to be 

provided in part through contracting mechanisms. However, the Trust has not yet established any strategic 

partnerships regarding this. 
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 Performance 

Organisation 

Since the 2007 baseline year, the NHS has undergone a significant restructuring process, which is still on-

going. Therefore in order to provide some organisational context, the following table may help explain how 

both the organisation and its performance on sustainability has changed over time. 

Context info 2007/08 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Floor space (m2) 109,896 138,533 138,533 138,533 
Number of staff (WTE) 3,969 4,800 4,678 5,130 

In 2014 the national Sustainable Development Strategy outlined an ambition to reduce the carbon footprint 

of the NHS by 28% (from a 2013 baseline) by 2020. The Trust has supported this ambition as detailed below: 

Energy 

The Trust spent £3,835,790 on 

energy in 2016/17, which was a 

2.1% decrease on energy spend 

from 2015/16. The Trust is pleased 

to report a reduction in its total 

energy use and associated carbon 

emissions in the reporting period, 

particularly following 2 years of 

increase versus the baseline. The 

Trust has embarked on an 

ambitious program to reduce its 

energy consumption to ensure it 

meets its target and has identified a 

range of programmes and activities 

to enable this. None of the Trust’s 

electricity came from a dedicated 

green tariff7 within the period as 

the tariff was cancelled due to a financial review undertaken in 2015. However, this is under review from 

2017/18 with the intention being to re-evaluate the financial impact versus the environmental and ethical 

benefit of purchasing certified green energy. 

Within the reporting period, a program of 

review and optimisation of Heating, Ventilation 

and Air Conditioning (HVAC) set points and 

operating hours has been conducted. This will 

be further enhanced in the year ahead with a 

complete revision of the HVAC strategy being 

employed within the Trust to ensure that the 

equipment is used to the optimum without 

compromising stakeholder comfort or patient 

6
 Data for energy resource usage before 2016/17 was reviewed and revalidated in 2016/17 

7
 A green supply tariff means that some or all of the electricity bought by the user is 'matched' by purchases of renewable energy 

that the energy supplier makes on their behalf. These could come from a variety of renewable energy sources such as wind farms 
and hydroelectric power stations. 

Resource6 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Gas 
Use 

(kWh) 
34,135,656 32,905,482 34,139,781 31,546,328 

tCO2e 7,242 6,904 7,145 6,593 

Oil 
Use 

(kWh) 955,973 1,110,958 635,113 532,926 
tCO2e 305 356 203 147 

Coal
Use 

(kWh) 0 0 0 0 
tCO2e 0 0 0 0 

Electricity
Use 

(kWh) 224,551 1,331,564 18,564,756 23,801,508 
tCO2e 126 825 10,673 12,301 

Green 
Electricity 

Use 
(kWh) 22,477,329 21,816,665 4,892,105 0 
tCO2e 12,585 13,512 2,813 0 

Total energy CO2e 20,258 21,597 20,834 18,941 

Total energy spend £4,039,990 £3,814,599 £3,919,681 £3,835,790 
N.B. tCO2e = Tonnes of CO2 equivalent. This is used to measure the equivalent CO2 concentration which 

causes the same level of absorption in the atmosphere for other greenhouse gases. 
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Category Mode 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Patient & 
visitor 
travel 

Miles 160,990,704 166,216,506 171,390,938 178,975,901 

tCO2e 59,481 61,072 61,981 64,683 

Business 
travel & 

fleet 

Miles 1,665,175 1,170,280 1,319,789 1,037,636 

tCO2e 615 430 477 375 

Staff 
commute 

Miles 4,419,865 4,610,964 4,493,769 4,927,968 
tCO2e 1,633 1,694 1,625 1,781 

N.B. tCO2e = Tonnes of CO2 equivalent. This is used to measure the equivalent CO2 concentration which causes the same 

level of absorption in the atmosphere for other greenhouse gases. 

experience. A large scale upgrade of external LED lighting has been commenced at Maidstone Hospital and 

this will be followed by a comprehensive program of internal LED upgrade in the 2017/18 period. The Trust 

is working in partnership with Interserve FM at Tunbridge Wells Hospital to identify and implement similar 

programmes in 2017/18 and is also in the detailed planning phase for the installation of a Combined Heat 

and Power unit to Tunbridge Wells, and at the feasibility stage for a similar installation to Maidstone. 

Travel 

The Trust can improve local air quality and improve the health of its community by promoting active travel – 

to the staff and to the patients and public that use its services. Every action counts and the Trust is a lean 

organisation trying to realise 

efficiencies across the board 

for cost and carbon (CO2e) 

reductions. The Trust 

supports a culture for active 

travel to improve staff 

wellbeing and reduce 

sickness. Air pollution, 

accidents and noise all cause 

health problems for the local 

population, patients, staff 

and visitors and are caused by cars, as well as other forms of transport. Increased patient and staff numbers 

have resulted in an increase in business travel. The Trust bus service between the major sites is still active 

and transporting more people than ever before and so reducing reimbursed car mileage. 

Waste 

The Trust has entered into a new total waste management contract as a member of the South East NHS 

Total Waste Management Consortium. The contract has been bedding in and the intention is to use 2017/18 

to drive efficiencies in waste disposal costs and also in performance. It is intended to increase the level of 

recycling being removed from the hospital sites through better segregation at the point of production and 

the more proactive separation of waste within the hospital loading areas. 
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Waste Breakdown 

Recycling

Other
recovery

High Temp
disposal

Landfill

Waste 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Recycling 
(tonnes) 268.00 214.97 107.00 115.00 

tCO2e 5.63 4.51 2.14 2.42 

Other 
recovery 

(tonnes) 166.00 211.00 248.00 756.00 

tCO2e 3.49 4.43 4.96 15.88 
High 

Temp 
disposal 

(tonnes) 573.00 682.52 679.00 639.00 

tCO2e 126.06 150.15 148.70 140.58 

Landfill 
(tonnes) 723.00 699.42 724.00 265.00 

tCO2e 176.71 170.95 176.96 82.15 

Total Waste (tonnes) 1730.00 1807.91 1758.00 1775.00 

% Recycled or Re-used 15% 12% 6% 6% 

Total Waste tCO2e 311.89 330.04 332.76 241.03 
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Organisation Carbon Emissions 
Profile 

Water 

The Trust recognises that its water consumption is increasing on an annual basis, within the acute hospitals 

and the laundry operations. The acute sites are completely linked to patient attendances and the laundry is 

due to the increased throughput at the sites and the extension of laundry services to other NHS Trusts. The 

Trust has partnered with Aquafund to allow capital investment into water saving infrastructure and 

processes across the Trust. It is anticipated that the partnership, at no cost to the Trust, will allow it to 

realise its water reduction target of 20% by 2020 against a baseline of 2013. 

Water 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Mains 
m

3
 186,570 186,441 205,246 209,205 

tCO2e 170 170 187 190 

Water & Sewage Spend £684,307 £539,538 £582,869 £661,990 

Modelled Carbon Footprint 

The information provided in the previous 

sections of this sustainability report uses the 

Estates Return Information Collection (ERIC) 

returns as its data source. However, the Trust is 

aware that this does not reflect our entire 

carbon footprint. Therefore, the following 

information uses a scaled model based on work 

performed by the Sustainable Development 

Unit (SDU) in 2009/10. More information is 

available at: 

http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-

strategy/reporting/nhs-carbon-footprint.aspx 

The application of this model results in an 

estimated total carbon footprint of 122,197 

tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent emissions 

(tCO₂e). The Trust’s carbon intensity per pound 

is 268 grams of carbon dioxide equivalent 

emissions per pound of operating expenditure 

(gCO2e/£). Average emissions for acute 

services is 200 grams per pound. 

16% 

55% 

29% 

0% 

Proportions of Carbon 
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 Modelled trajectory 

The Trust is currently above the ‘trajectorised’ emissions level and, with an increasing and aging population, 

and most of the emissions caused by scope 3 items (mainly pharmacy products, Medical equipment and 

travel emissions), it recognises that the task in hand is formidable. The Trust is committed to engaging with 

supply chain partners, other NHS organisations and the wider care providing community within Kent to 

identify areas of opportunity for reduction of scope 3 emissions.  

1990 1997 2004 2010 2015 

0.00

20.00

40.00

60.00

80.00

100.00

120.00

1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050

k
t 
C

O
2

e
 

Year 

Carbon Footprint 
CO2e baseline to 2020 with Climate Change targets 

Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust Modelled 1990 baseline

Modelled 2007 baseline 10% target from 2007

Trajectory to 2020 Modelled forecast

Climate Change Act Trajectory 34% target from 1990 baseline

50% target from 1990 baseline 64% target from 1990 baseline

80% target from 1990 baseline
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 Modelled benchmark 

The Trust recognises that the scope modelled carbon footprint is higher than the benchmark for acute 

providers and further appreciates that this is largely related to travel. By way of mitigation, the Trust has a 

large catchment area and hosts the Kent Oncology Centre which leads to an increased level of patient 

contact and subsequent transport related emission. 

Adaptation 

The effects of climate change to the Trust have the potential to be severe, and the organisational risk 

register will be updated to include the appraisal of the legal, financial, infrastructure and service related 

risks. Action plans will be developed to manage the risks that have been identified. The Trust will use 

standard risk assessment tools and externally available guidance and support to assist with the risk 

assessment process. 

The Trust recognises that the 

process of climate change is leading 

to the normal patterns of weather 

changing and severe weather events 

becoming more frequent and 

prolonged. These include 

heatwaves, drought and water 

shortage, extreme cold events and 

associated snowfall, extreme rainfall 

and associated fluvial (surface water) 

flooding, changes to groundwater 

levels and associated groundwater 

flooding, severe storms and high 

winds.  

The Trust will prepare plans for the risks identified and will integrate the process of planning with the 

existing processes for Emergency Planning and Business Continuity. 
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 Accountability Report for 2016/17: 
Corporate Governance report 
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Directors’ report 
The Trust Board 

The role of the Trust Board is to determine strategy and policy for the Trust, to monitor in-year 

performance against plans, to ensure accountability by holding the organisation to account for the delivery 

of strategy and to ensure the Trust is well managed and governed. The Trust Board comprises the roles of 

Chair (Non-Executive), 5 other Non-Executive Directors (voting members), the Chief Executive, and 4 

Executive Directors (voting members). Other Directors (non-voting) also attend the Board, and contribute 

to its deliberations and decision-making. The Non-Executive Directors (NEDs) bring a range of skills and 

expertise from outside the NHS; their role is to hold Executive Directors to account. The Trust used an 

executive search facility to ensure that one Non-Executive Director vacancy which arose during the year was 

widely advertised to attract the broadest range of appropriately skilled candidates. The Trust Board meets 

monthly, except in August, in public. The times and venues of these meeting are advertised on the Trust’s 

website, which also contains the agendas, minutes & reports (see www.mtw.nhs.uk/about-us/trust-board/). 

The Board formally operates in accordance with its Terms of Reference, the Trust’s Standing Orders, 

Scheme of Matters Reserved for the Board and Scheme of Delegation, and Standing Financial Instructions. 

Trust Board Members 

Taking into account the wide experience of all Trust Board Members, the balance and completeness of the 

Board is considered to be appropriate. At the end of 2016/17, the Trust Board had the following members: 

David Highton

Chair (from) 8th May 2017*
David joined the Trust Board on 8th May 2017. Prior to this he was Ministerial Advisor on Private Sector 
Involvement and Public Private Partnership to the Minister of Public Health in Qatar. Since 2011 he has 

been Executive Director of Corporate Development at Hamad Medical Corporation, the main public 
hospital provider in Qatar. Prior to moving to Qatar, David worked in the independent health sector, and 
was an NHS Chief Executive from 1991 to 2003, including at the Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS 
Trust and the Oxford Radcliffe Hospitals NHS Trust. Originally a Chartered Accountant, David worked in 

publishing, property services, the brewing industry, an industrial starches business, and in the City before 
joining the NHS as a Finance Director in 1990. David, who is married and has a grown up family, has strong 

links with Kent, having spent his childhood himself in Meopham & Sittingbourne, and currently lives in 
Whitstable.

Kevin Tallett

Non-Executive Director 8 * 
Kevin joined the Trust Board in June 2008, and in addition to his role on the Trust Board (for which he is the 
Vice-Chair), Kevin attends several other Trust Board sub-committees, one of which he chairs (the Audit and 

Governance Committee). He is also the Trust’s “Senior Independent Director” and “Speak Out Safely 
Guardian”. Kevin has had a highly successful career at a senior level in the energy industry and was 

previously Enterprise IT Strategy, Architecture and Change Director at EDF Energy (which included looking 
after corporate and enterprise-wide change projects). Prior to that, his roles include Director of IT 

Operations at EDF, leading a team of 550 people and with a multi-million pound budget.

* Denotes Board members with voting rights
∑ Denotes member of the Executive Team  
Denotes member of the Audit and Governance Committee 

8
 Kevin Tallett also acted as Chair of the Board from 1

st
 March to 7

th
 May 2017, to cover the period between the departure of the previous Chair, Anthony Jones, and the 

arrival of David Highton  
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Trust Board Members (continued) 

Glenn Douglas

Chief Executive*∑ 
As the Trust’s “Accountable Officer”, Glenn is responsible for the overall development and performance of 

the Trust. In addition to being a Board member, he attends several Board sub-committees. Glenn has 
previously been Chief Executive at Ashford and St Peters Hospitals and Eastbourne Hospitals NHS Trusts, 

and is currently a member of the Independent Reconfiguration Panel (IRP). Glenn is also the Senior 
Responsible Officer (SRO) for the Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP). His 

career is mainly NHS, having worked finance and operational management in a number of other Trusts and 
Health Authorities in Sussex, Kent and Manchester. He is a qualified accountant and member of the 
Institute of Health Services Managers, and is also a governor of a local school. Glenn became Chief 

Executive in October 2007

Sarah Dunnett OBE

Non-Executive Director*

Sarah joined the Board in January 2014. Sarah arrived from Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust, where she 
had been Chair for the previous 12 years. Sarah’s previous experience is in the oil industry, where she held a 

variety of senior management roles. Her contribution to the NHS was recognised in the 2013 Queen’s 
birthday honours list, when she was awarded an OBE. Sarah is married with three sons. In addition to her 

role on the Board, Sarah attends several other Trust Board sub-committees, chairs the Quality Committee, 
and is the Vice-Chair of the Finance Committee and Charitable Funds Committee.

Angela Gallagher

Chief Operating Officer*∑ 
Angela is the lead for the delivery of patient services through the Trust’s Clinical Directorates. Angela 

joined the Trust in 2004 from North Middlesex University Hospital, and has worked in a variety of senior 
Nursing and management roles, most recently as Deputy Chief Operating Officer and previously as the 18-
week programme director for the Trust. She joined the Trust Board in October 2011, and in addition to her 

role on the Board, attends several Board sub-committees.

Richard Hayden

Director of Workforce∑ 
Richard joined the Trust Board in March 2016, and is accountable for the development of the Trust’s 

workforce strategy, Organisational Development and Human Resource (HR) management. In addition to 
his role on the Board, Richard attends a number of Board sub-committees. Richard joined the Trust in 

January 2008, to focus on organisational development and learning, and since 2011 was the Deputy 
Director of Workforce. Richard has held various management and HR positions in a NHS career spanning 

over 14 years. Richard holds a BSc honours degree in Geography from Aberdeen University, an MA in 
Human Resources Management, a postgraduate diploma in Health and Social Care Management, is a 

qualified coach and mentor, and is a Chartered Fellow of the CIPD (Chartered Institute of Personnel and 
Development). Richard is also a Non-Executive Director for the Valley Invicta Academies Trust.

Alex King MBE

Non-Executive Director*

Alex Joined the Trust Board in September 2014. Alex has a strong business background, and has worked in 
the local health service before in a Non-Executive capacity. He is also one of the longest serving Councillors 

on Kent County Council. Alex was Deputy Leader of the County Council for a number of years and is 
currently Chairman of their Policy and Resources Cabinet Advisory Committee. His business background is 
in management consultancy, specialising in Human Resources, general management and organisation and 

business development. Alex lives in Hawkhurst with his wife, Susan. In addition to his role on the Board, 
Alex chairs one of the Board’s sub-committees (the Workforce Committee).

* Denotes Board members with voting rights
∑ Denotes member of the Executive Team  
Denotes member of the Audit and Governance Committee 
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Trust Board Members (continued) 

Jim Lusby

Deputy Chief Executive∑ 
Jim joined the Trust Board in April 2015 and leads on the development of strategy. Before joining the Trust 

Jim was a Portfolio Director at the NHS Trust Development Authority (TDA), with responsibility for 
oversight of NHS Trusts in the South East. During his final five months with the TDA he acted into the 

position of Director of Delivery & Development for the South of England. Jim joined the TDA from King’s 
Health Partners where he was Director of Integrated Care. He previously held senior positions in South East 

London Strategic Health Authority, the Department of Health and the Prime Minister’s Delivery Unit.

Peter Maskell

Medical Director*∑ 
Peter joined the Trust Board in February 2017. Peter qualified from The Royal Free Hospital School of 

Medicine in 1995. He trained in general and elderly medicine at St Thomas’ Hospital/Brighton and Sussex 
University Hospital, where he also studied for an MSc in gerontology and cognitive decline. Peter became a 
Consultant in General and Geriatric Medicine with an interest in Stroke medicine at the Trust in 2005, and 

became clinical lead in 2007. Peter was then appointed as Medical Director of Kent Community Health NHS 
Foundation Trust in 2012 and during his time there, the Trust attained Foundation Trust status, and a 

‘good’ rating from the Care Quality Commission. Clinically, Peter continues to have interests in stroke, 
frailty and liaison geriatrics.

Claire O’Brien

Interim Chief Nurse*∑ 
Claire has worked in the NHS for over 37 years, qualifying as a Registered General Nurse at King's College 
London in the early 1980s. She specialised in Cardiothoracic Nursing and has enjoyed a variety of general 

management and senior nursing roles within South London NHS acute Trusts, more recently as the Deputy 
Director of Nursing in Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust. Claire joined the Trust’s Corporate Nursing 
team as Deputy Chief Nurse in April 2016, bringing a wealth of experience in all areas related to Nursing 

standards, Nurse Education, recruitment and Nursing professional issues. She has considerable experience 
working with patient representatives, and has a particular interest in engaging with staff and supporting 

them in their development, recognising the relationship between staff and patient experience, and feels it 
is vital that staff are valued and supported to provide the best possible care at all times. 

Steve Orpin

Director of Finance*∑ 
Steve is responsible for providing information and advice to the Trust relating to all financial management 
issues. Steve joined the Trust Board in April 2014 from Medway NHS Foundation Trust, where he had been 

Deputy Director of Finance; including a 12-month spell as Director of Finance. Steve has held various 
positions within the Finance function in a number of NHS organisations across London and the South East 

in a NHS career spanning over 20 years. Steve is a Fellow of Chartered Association of Certified Accountants 
and holds an MBA. In addition to his role on the Board, Steve attends several Board sub-committees.

* Denotes Board members with voting rights 
∑ Denotes member of the Executive Team  
Denotes member of the Audit and Governance Committee 

The following persons also served on the Trust Board during 2016/17: 

 Avey Bhatia, Chief Nurse (joined the Board in July 2013, and left, via a secondment to St George's 

University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, on 31st January 2017) 

Sara Mumford

Director of Infection Prevention and Control

Sara joined the Trust Board in November 2007, and attends a number of Board sub-committees. She leads 
the Trust’s infection prevention strategy. Sara is also a Consultant Microbiologist, and is the Clinical 

Director for Diagnostics, Pharmacy and Therapies. Sara joined the Trust in 2007, and has previously worked 
as Consultant Microbiologist at East Kent Hospitals University NHS Foundation Trust, and as a Consultant 

in Communicable Disease Control (CCDC) at Kent Health Protection Unit.
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 Sylvia Denton, Non-Executive Director (joined the Board in March 2008, and left on 28th February 2017) 

 Anthony Jones, Chairman of the Board (joined the Board in March 2008, appointed Chairman in January 

2009, and left on 28th February 2017) 

 Paul Sigston, Medical Director (joined the Board in March 2010, and left on 8th February 2017) 

 Steve Tinton, Non-Executive Director (joined the Board in April 2013, and left on 28th September 2016) 

With effect from the confirmation of Financial Special Measures in July 2016, Simon Worthington was 

appointed Finance Improvement Director, but was not a member of the Trust Board and did not attend 

Trust Board meetings. Mr Worthington’s formal relationship with the Trust ended after the Financial Special 

Measures Review meeting on 30/01/17. Similarly, as part of the Trust’s participation in Phase 1 of the 

Financial Improvement Programme in May 2016, Jane Hurst was appointed Improvement Director, but 

again, was not a member of the Trust Board, although Ms Hurst attended Trust Board meetings in June and 

July 2016, before leaving the Trust on 5th August 2016. 

Statement as to disclosure to auditors 

Each Director can confirm that as far as they are aware there is no relevant audit information of which the 

Trust’s auditors are unaware; and that they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a 

Director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information, and to establish that the 

Trust’s auditors are aware of that information. 

Attendance at Trust Board meetings 

There were 12 formal Trust Board meetings in 2016/17. Attendance at each meeting is shown below: 

Trust Board Member 
(see above for the time served on the 
Board during 2016/17) 
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Anthony Jones, Chairman Apologies           N/A9 

Glenn Douglas, Chief Executive   Apologies      Apologies   

Avey Bhatia, Chief Nurse           N/A
10 

Sylvia Denton, Non-Executive Director     Apologies       N/A11 

Sarah Dunnett, Non-Executive 
Director 

    Apologies       Apologies 

Angela Gallagher, Chief Operating 
Officer 

      Apologies    Apologies 

Richard Hayden, Director of 
Workforce 

           

Alex King, Non-Executive Director   Apologies Apologies   Apologies Apologies Apologies   12

Jim Lusby, Deputy Chief Executive    Apologies         

Peter Maskell, Medical Director N/A13  

Sara Mumford, Director of Infection 
Prevention & Control  

       Apologies   Apologies 

Claire O’Brien, Interim Chief Nurse N/A14  

Steve Orpin, Director of Finance            

Paul Sigston, Medical Director      Apologies     N/A
15

 

Kevin Tallett, Non-Executive Director  Apologies     Apologies    

Steve Tinton, Non-Executive Director    Apologies   N/A
16 

9
 Anthony Jones left the Board on 28

th
 February 2017 

10 Avey Bhatia left the Board on 31st January 2017 
11 Sylvia Denton left the Board on 28th February 2017 
12 Alex King was in attendance by teleconference only for matters requiring decision by the Trust Board on 29th March 2017 
13 Peter Maskell joined the Board on 8th February 2017  
14 Claire O’Brien joined the Board on 1st February 2017 as Acting Chief Nurse, and was formally appointed as Interim Chief Nurse on 27

th
 February 2017 

15
 Paul Sigston left the Board on 8

th
 February 2017 

16 Steve Tinton left the Board on 28th September 2016 
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 Appointment and evaluation of Trust Board Members’ performance 

The Chair of the Trust Board and its Non-Executive Directors are independently appointed by NHSI. The 

Chief Executive and other Executive posts serving on the Trust Board are appointed by the Trust in liaison 

with NHSI. All members of the Trust Board are subject to a performance framework which stipulates that: 

 The Chair of the Trust Board is appraised via a national framework operated by NHSI; 

 Non-Executive Directors and the Chief Executive are appraised by the Chair of the Trust Board and 

 Executive Directors are appraised by the Chief Executive. 

Members of the Trust Board also undertake a self-assessment in line with fit and proper persons 

requirements (FPPR17). No issues or concerns have been raised in relation to this.  

Directors’ interests 

The Trust Board and other committees routinely ask that any interests relevant to agenda items be declared 

at each meeting. In addition, a Register of Directors’ interests is maintained. The interests recorded on the 

Register at the end of 2016/17 for those on the Board at the end of that year were as follows: 

Director (see above for  the time served on the 

Board during 2016/17) 
Details of notifiable interest 

Glenn Douglas, Chief Executive 
 Director 4P Consultants Ltd (company no: 09998884)18 

 Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) for the Kent and Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan  

Sarah Dunnett, Non-Executive Director 
 Trustee of The Sevenoaks Almhouse Charity (charity number: 226418) 

 Governor of Sevenoaks School (www.sevenoaksschool.org / charity number: 1101358; company 
number: 04908949)  

Angela Gallagher, Chief Operating Officer None 

Richard Hayden, Director of Workforce   Trustee of Valley Invicta Academies Trust (company number: 07559256) 

Alex King, Non-Executive Director 

 Member of Kent County Council – Councillor for Tunbridge Wells Rural (Wards: Brenchley & 
Horsmonden, Capel, Goudhurst & Lamberhurst, Paddock Wood) (ceased 08/05/17) 

 Chairman of Kent County Council Policy and Resources Committee (ceased 08/05/17) 

 Chairman of Paddock Wood Community Advice Centre (company number: 08006468) 

 Trustee of Cranbrook School (charity number: 290237) 

 President Tunbridge Wells Conservatives 

 President Kent Conservatives 

 Chairman of The King Partnership Ltd (www.kingpartnership.com / company number: 02202346), 
which provides management & human resource consultancy services to clients in the UK & overseas 

Jim Lusby, Deputy Chief Executive  None 

Peter Maskell, Medical Director None 
Sara Mumford, Director of Infection 
Prevention & Control 

None 

Claire O’Brien, Interim Chief Nurse  None 

Steve Orpin, Director of Finance  Director NHS Innovations South East Limited (company number: 05210174) – serves as a Director as 
a result of the Trust acting as Guarantor 

Kevin Tallett, Non-Executive Director 
 Owner/Director Discidium Ltd (company number: 10042570) 

 Engaged with Medway NHS Foundation Trust via Discidium Ltd to deliver PMO Services, signed a 
confidentiality agreement to protect both Trusts’ commercial interests (engagement ended 31/03/17) 

N.B. Some Directors’ notifiable interests changed during the year. Further details can be obtained from the 

Trust Secretary, who can be contacted via Maidstone Hospital, Hermitage Lane, Maidstone, Kent ME16 

9QQ (or see www.mtw.nhs.uk/about-the-trust/trust-board.asp). The interests of Trust Board Members who 

left the Board during 2016/17 can also be obtained from the Trust Secretary. 

17
 As introduced by The Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014 

18
 The Company has never traded since incorporation 
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 Pension Liabilities 

Details of how the Trust treats Pension Liabilities are outlined in the Principal Financial Statements (within 

Note 10.3). 

Board sub-committees 

The Board has a number of sub-committees, to assist it in meeting its role and duties. Further details are 

provided in the ‘Governance Statement’ section later in the Annual Report.  

The Trust’s Management Structure 

The Trust is organised into a number of Corporate and Clinical Directorates. Clinical services are arranged 

within 3 Divisions, encompassing 10 Directorates: 

Division Directorate 

Urgent Care  Acute and Emergency 

 Specialist Medicine and Therapies 

Planned Care 

 Surgery 

 Head and Neck 

 Trauma and Orthopaedics 

 Critical Care 

 Cancer and Haematology 

 Diagnostics and Pharmacy 

Women’s, Children’s and Sexual Health 
 Women’s and Sexual Health 

 Children’s Services 

Each Division is overseen by an Associate Director of Operations, while each Clinical Directorate has a 

Clinical Director, General Manager & Matron. Corporate departments (Human Resources, Finance, Estates 

& Facilities, Clinical Governance, Trust Management) are responsible to a Member of the Executive Team.  

Complaints: Ready to listen, ready to learn
The Trust aims to provide the best possible care and treatment 

but sometimes, despite the best efforts of staff, things can go 

wrong. In such circumstances, patients and relatives are 

encouraged to tell a member of staff on the Ward or in the clinic 

as soon as they can, to enable their concerns to be responded to 

as soon as possible. However, for circumstances where concerns 

cannot be resolved in this way, the Trust has a formal complaints 

process.  

In 2016/17, the Trust received 326 formal complaints (in 2015/16, 

this was 513), and 69% of complaints received were responded to 

within the agreed timescale. 

The Trust’s Complaints and Patient Advice and Liaison Service 

(PALS) – Annual Report (due for publication in June 2017) (www.mtw.nhs.uk/patients-visitors/talk-to-

us/making-a-complaint/) provides further detail on: the number of complaints received; the number of 

complaints which were well founded (upheld); the number of complaints referred to the Parliamentary and 

Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO); the subject matter of the complaints received; any matters of general 

importance arising from those complaints or the way in which the complaints were handled; any matters 

where action has been or is to be taken to improve services as a consequence of those complaints. 
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 ‘Principles for Remedy’ 

The Trust applies the ‘Principles for Remedy’ guidance issued by the PHSO as part of its Policy and 

Procedure for Management of Concerns and Complaints. Under the Trust’s Policy, financial remedy is only 

considered when a complaint is upheld and the complainant has clearly suffered a financial loss as a result of 

a service failure or breach of a Trust policy. In such circumstances, the Trust will consider paying a sum that 

restores the person to the position they would have been in prior to the circumstances which necessitated 

the complaint. The amount of financial remedy is agreed between the Complaints Manager and senior 

Directorate management team, with input from Legal Services as required. During 2016/17, the Trust 

offered financial remedy in 3 cases, totalling £1,64019. Financial redress was also recommended by the 

PHSO in a further 4 cases, at a total of £10,60020. This process excludes any claims for clinical negligence, 

which are pursued under the Trust’s Claims Management Policy. 

Disclosure of personal data-related incidents 

The Trust had one Serious Incident Requiring Investigation involving personal data that met the criteria for 

reporting to the Information Commissioner’s Office (i.e. a ‘Level 2’ severity incident) as follows: 

Date (month) Nature of incident Nature of data 
involved 

No. of people 
potentially 
affected 

Notification 
steps 

February 2017 Non-secure disposal - 
paperwork 

NHS Number 
Name 
Date of Birth 

3 Individuals 
notified 

Further action 
on information 
risk 

As a result of this incident, a Root Cause Analysis was undertaken and staff members 
have been reminded of their responsibilities relating to confidentiality and data 
protection under the principles of the Data Protection Act 1998. The Information 
Commissioner’s Office confirmed that no further action would be taken. 

More details of the incident are given in the ‘Governance Report’. The Trust also had the following severity 

‘Level 1’data-related incidents in the year: 

Category Nature of Incident Total 

A Corruption or inability to recover electronic data 1 
B Disclosed in error 38 
C Lost in transit 0 
D Lost or stolen hardware 3 
E Lost or stolen paperwork 13 
F Non-secure disposal – hardware 0 
G Non-secure disposal – paperwork 1 
H Unloaded to website in error 1 
I Technical security failing (including hacking) 0 
J Unauthorised access/disclosure 6 
K Other 4 

Policy on setting charges 

The Trust has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance on setting charges for information, as set out in 

Chapter 6 of HM Treasury’s “Managing Public Money” guidance. 

19 This is based on complaints received between 01/4/16 and 31/03/17 inclusive, though some complaints received towards the end of that period are 
still open at the time of this report, so further financial redress may be offered
20 This is based on recommendations made by the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman between 01/04/16 and 31/03/17, but not all of the 
relevant complaints were received within that time span
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Emergency preparedness 
During the year the Emergency Preparedness team continued to increase the resilience of the Trust, foster 

and enhance partnerships across the county and develop innovative training for those involved in 

emergency response. As a Category One responder under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, the Trust has 

specific statutory duties in relation to emergency planning and response. In addition, the Trust has other 

obligations as required by contracts and performance standards set by NHS England and Clinical 

Commissioning Groups (CCGs), and throughout the year a continuous process of exercising, testing, 

training, assurance took place. In 2016, the Trust self-assessed itself and was rated fully compliant against 

NHS England’s Core Standards for Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR). 

Incidents that took place during the year 

 As noted earlier in the Report, during 2016 the British Medical Association was engaged in dispute with 

the Government and industrial action was taken by Junior Doctors leading, in April, to activation of 

business continuity plans. A table-top exercise was also held with key departments to ensure all 

contingencies were planned for 

 Heavy traffic, roadworks and road traffic collisions led to gridlock at Maidstone Hospital on several 

occasions during the year. This trapped traffic on the site and caused delays for staff, patients, 

ambulances and deliveries. Meetings were held with Highways and Police, resulting in the issue being 

escalated to the Kent Resilience Forum for resolution with partner agencies. It is recognised that the 

situation will become more acute as more housing is built in the area. The importance of maintaining 

helicopter landing facilities at Maidstone Hospital is therefore critical.  

 Maidstone Hospital experienced failure of paging services which required activation of business 

continuity plans to maintain services 

 The construction of the A21 dual carriageway at Pembury closed the Tonbridge Road & multi-agency 

working resulted in ‘Operation Radiate’ to maintain access to Tunbridge Wells Hospital in an emergency 

 In the late summer, a number of heat wave alerts 

were issued for the South East which required 

activation of the Trust’s heatwave plan. 

Multi-agency cooperation & training 

In 2016 the Trust was asked to support East Kent 

Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust in their emergency 

planning and response after a recent CCG audit. This 

resulted in a partnership between the Trusts and the 

sharing of a team and good practice across the two acute 

organisations.As well as working closely with other local 

Trusts, there was constructive collaboration with a range 

of multi-agency partners during the year. The Trust’s innovative Command Accreditation Scheme 

continued, with the launch of Gold Strategic Level training in addition to Silver Tactical Training. The Trust 

has enjoyed representation from a number of other NHS Trusts, NHS England and CCGs from around the 

country on these courses.  
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The Trust has continued to foster 

good relationships with its 

helicopter providers and 

partnership working has allowed 

Coastguard Paramedics to train in 

the Trust’s hospitals and Trust 

staff to receive live in-flight 

training to transfer patients to 

hospitals by air. The Trust has 

maintained an effective Chemical, 

Biological, Radiological and 

Nuclear (CBRN) & hazmat 

Training scheme and the number 

of staff being trained, including 

those from other local Trusts, 

increased. 

Training exercises during the year included: 

 ‘Exercise Reach’ at Maidstone Hospital in November 2016 involved Kent Fire & Rescue Service and a live 

rescue from the plant rooms on the roof. This tested communications, command & control and multi-

agency working. It also enabled Kent Fire Brigade to test new rescue equipment. 

 ‘Exercise Spring Day’ was held in April 2016 in pouring rain at Maidstone Hospital to test plans for a 

Radiation Incident and involved Kent Police, Kent Fire Brigade & South East Coast Ambulance Service. 

The live exercise included loggists, clinical staff, estates & facilities and managers and tested procedures 

learned on command courses including dynamic risk assessments and media training  

 ‘Exercise Polar’ was a tabletop exercise held in Tunbridge Wells in October to test winter preparedness. 

This took into account the feedback from last winter’s debrief and involved partners from other NHS 

Trusts, South East Coast Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust and Local Authorities. 
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Statement of the Chief Executive’s 
responsibilities as the Accountable Officer of 
the Trust 
The Chief Executive of the NHS Trust Development Authority has designated that the Chief Executive 

should be the Accountable Officer to the trust.  The relevant responsibilities of Accountable Officers are set 

out in the Accountable Officers Memorandum issued by the Chief Executive of the NHS Trust Development 

Authority. These include ensuring that:  

 There are effective management systems in place to safeguard public funds and assets and assist in the 

implementation of corporate governance;  

 Value for money is achieved from the resources available to the trust; 

 The expenditure and income of the trust has been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and 

conform to the authorities which govern them; 

 Effective and sound financial management systems are in place; and; 

 Annual statutory accounts are prepared in a format directed by the Secretary of State with the approval 

of the Treasury to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs as at the end of the financial year and 

the income and expenditure, recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the year 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in my letter 

of appointment as an Accountable Officer. 

I confirm that, as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Trust’s Auditors are 

unaware, and I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant 

Audit information and to establish that the Trust’s Auditors are aware of that information. 

I confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and that I 

take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and Accounts and the judgments required for 

determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable. 

Glenn Douglas, Chief Executive, 

24th May 2017 
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Governance Statement for 2016/17 

1. Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer and Chief Executive of Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust, I have 
responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control and governance that supports the 
achievement of the Trust's policies, aims and objectives whilst safeguarding quality standards and public 
funds. I acknowledge these and my other responsibilities, as set out in the Accountable Officer 
Memorandum for Chief Executives of NHS Trusts21. 

This statement describes the internal control and governance framework that has been in place at 
Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust for the period 1st April 2016 to 31st March 2017.  

2. The governance framework of the organisation

The Trust Board 

The Trust Board meets in public every month (with the exception of August), although the Board met twice 
in September 2016, in order to consider its Financial Recovery Plan (FRP). The agenda for Board meetings is 
mainly focussed around the key aspects of operational performance; quality; planning and strategy; 
assurance and policy; and reports from its sub-committees. A separate (‘Part 2’) meeting is held on the 
same day as the meeting held in public, to consider confidential matters, in accordance with the Public 
Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960. A 12-month rolling forward programme of agenda items is 
actively managed to ensure the Board receives the information, and considers the matters it requires to 
perform its duties efficiently and effectively.  

A key tenet of the information the Board receives at each meeting in public is an Integrated Performance 
Report, which contains up-to-date details of performance across a range of indicators, including those 
within NHS Improvement’s (NHSI) Single Oversight Framework for NHS providers. The Board also hears 
‘patient stories’, which provide invaluable first-hand experience of being a patient of the Trust; as well as 
presentations from its Clinical Directors, General Managers and Matrons. Information reviewed at the Trust 
Board and its sub-committees are supplemented by Trust Board Members’ visits of Wards and Departments 
(which are reported to the Board 4 times during the year). 

In 2016/17, the following changes in personnel occurred within the Trust Board: 

 Steve Tinton (NED) left the Trust Board on 28/09/16 

 Avey Bhatia (Chief Nurse) went on secondment to St Georges NHS Foundation Trust on 31/01/17. Claire 
O’Brien then started in post as Acting Chief Nurse on 01/02/17, and was formally appointed as Interim 
Chief Nurse on 27/02/17 

 Paul Sigston’s tenure as Medical Director ended on 08/02/17, and Peter Maskell’s tenure as Medical 
Director started on 08/02/17 

 Anthony Jones’ (Chairman of the Trust Board) term of office expired on 28/02/17. Kevin Tallett then 
acted as Chair of the Trust Board from 01/03/17 to 07/05/17 (as the newly-appointed Chair, David 
Highton, started his term of office on 08/05/17) 

 Sylvia Denton’s (NED) term of office expired on 28/02/17 

Board sub-committees and other key forums 

The Board operates with the following sub-committees (which are listed alphabetically): 

 The Audit and Governance Committee. This supports the Trust Board by critically reviewing the 
governance and assurance processes on which the Board places reliance. This therefore incorporates 
reviewing Governance, Risk Management and Internal Control (including the Board Assurance 

21
 See https://tinyurl.com/NHSAOM  
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Framework); oversight of the Internal and External Audit, and Counter Fraud functions. The Committee 
also undertakes detailed review of the Trust’s Annual Report and Accounts, and has been appointed (by 
the Trust Board) as the Trust’s Auditor Panel, in accordance with Schedule 4, Paragraph 1 of the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The Auditor Panel advises the Trust Board on the selection, 
appointment and removal of external auditors (for appointments for 2017/18), and on the maintenance 
of independent relationships with such auditors, and carried out this role for the appointment of the 
Trust External Auditor, which the Trust Board approved in November 2016. The Audit and Governance 
Committee is chaired by a NED, and meets 5 times each year (including a specific meeting to review the 
Annual Report and Accounts prior to the Trust Board being asked to approve these). All other NEDs 
(apart from the Chair of the Trust Board) are members. 

 The Charitable Funds Committee. This aims to ensure that the Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS 
Trust Charitable Fund is managed efficiently and effectively in accordance with the directions of the 
Charity Commission, relevant NHS legislation and the wishes of donors, which includes reviewing, and 
agreeing the Charitable Fund Annual Report and financial accounts, for approval by the Trust Board. 
The Committee is chaired by a NED, and meets three times per year. 

 The Finance Committee. This aims to provide the Trust Board with: assurance on the effectiveness of 
financial management, treasury management, investment and capital expenditure and financial 
governance; an objective assessment of the financial position and standing of the Trust; and advice and 
recommendations on all key issues of financial management and financial performance. In addition, the 
Committee receives assurance on Information Technology performance and business continuity; and 
advice and recommendations on all aspects of informatics, including Information Technology and 
telecommunications. The Committee is chaired by a NED, and meets monthly. 

 The Patient Experience Committee. This aims to capture the patient and public perception of the 
services delivered by the Trust, and monitor any aspect of patient experience, on behalf of the Trust 
Board (or at the request of any Board sub-committee or other relevant Trust committee), as required.  
The Committee is chaired by a NED, and meets quarterly, and in addition to Trust staff, its membership 
includes representatives from the Trust’s catchment area, Healthwatch Kent, and from Leagues of 
Friends of Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells Hospitals 

 The Quality Committee. This aims to seek and obtain assurance on the effectiveness of the Trust’s 
structures, systems and processes to enable delivery of the Trust’s objectives relating to quality of care. 
The Committee is chaired by a NED and meets monthly. On alternate months, the Committee meets in 
the form of a ‘deep dive’, with a reduced membership, to enable a small number of subjects to be 
scrutinised in greater detail.  

 The Remuneration and Appointments Committee. This reviews, on behalf of the Trust Board, the 
appointment of Executive Directors and other staff appointed on Very Senior Manager (VSM) contracts, 
to ensure such appointments have been undertaken in accordance with Trust Policies. It also: reviews 
the remuneration, allowances and terms of service of such staff; reviews (with the Chief Executive), the 
performance of Executive Directors and other staff appointed on VSM contracts; oversees appropriate 
contractual arrangements for such staff (including the proper calculation and scrutiny of termination 
payments, taking account of such national guidance, as appropriate); and considers and approves, on 
behalf of the Trust Board, proposals on issues which represent significant change. The Committee is 
chaired by the Chair of the Trust Board, and meets on an ad-hoc basis (but at least twice a year). 

 The Workforce Committee. This aims to provide assurance to the Board in the areas of workforce 
development, planning, performance and employee engagement; and assure the Board that the Trust 
has the necessary strategies, policies and procedures in place to ensure a high performing and 
motivated workforce that is supporting business success. The Committee is chaired by a NED and 
meets quarterly. 

Attendance records are maintained for the Trust Board and its main sub-committees. The attendance 
record for Trust Board meetings is reported within the body of the Trust’s Annual Report. 

Although not a Board sub-committee, the Trust Management Executive (TME) is the senior management 
committee within the Trust. Its purpose is to oversee and direct: the effective operational management of 
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 the Trust, including achievement of standards, targets and other obligations; the delivery of safe, high 
quality, patient-centred care; the development of Trust strategy, culture and policy; and the identification, 
mitigation and escalation of assurance and risk issues. The TME meets monthly, and is chaired by the 
Deputy Chief Executive.  

In addition to focussing on internal governance and risk, the Trust, and Board, has continued to engage fully 
with the work of the Kent & Medway STP. I am the Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) for the STP, whilst the 
Trust’s Medical Director is the Chair of the STP’s Clinical Board, and the Director of Finance is the Chair of 
the STP Productivity workstream. In November 2016, the Trust Board received the draft STP 
(“Transforming health and social care in Kent and Medway”), and confirmed its support for the ‘direction of 
travel’ described in the Plan. Then, in March 2017, the Board received, and agreed to support, the case for 
change for the STP. 

Reports from Board sub-committees 

The Trust Board receives a written summary report from each meeting of its main sub-committees (and the 
TME) in a timely manner, supplemented by a verbal report from each sub-committee Chair, which 
highlights the main subjects discussed, and draws attention to any matters requiring the Board’s 
consideration and/or action (there is a specific section for this within the reporting template). The Audit and 
Governance Committee also submits an Annual Report to the Board, in May, to inform the Board’s 
consideration of the Annual Report and Accounts.  The issues specifically drawn to the attention of the 
Board by its sub-committees in 2016/17 included the following:  

 Significant progress had been made in Critical Care since the Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection 
in October 2014, but a number of challenges remained, particularly in relation to the recruitment of 
Consultant Intensivists (from the Quality Committee, 13/04/16) 

 The strategic and financial significance to the Trust of cancelled and missed appointments (from the 

Patient Experience Committee, 16/06/16) 

 The concerns that had been raised by the Chief Nurse from West Kent Clinical Commissioning Group 

(CCG) at the level of Disclosure and Barring Scheme (DBS) checks undertaken at the Trust (from the 

Quality Committee, 06/07/16) (N.B. The Trust Board was subsequently given assurance on DBS checks 

at its ‘Part 2’ meeting on 20/07/16) 

 That the outcome of the current review of bed configuration/capacity should be submitted to the ‘Part 

2’ Trust Board meeting in September 2016, whilst the detailed response to the recommendations from 

the Lord Carter-led operational productivity and performance review should be submitted to the Trust 

Board in September 2016 (from the Finance Committee, 18/07/16) 

 The agreement obtained from the Specialist Palliative Care Team that all appropriate patients would be 

on an Integrated Care Pathways (ICPs) by 01/08/17 (to fully support the Trust’s claims that it managed 

its End of Life Care patients in an appropriate way) (from the Quality Committee, 01/08/16) 

 The outcome of the Quality Committee’s review of the draft Financial Recovery Plan (from the Quality 

Committee, 14/09/16) 

 The Patient Experience Committee’s highlighting of the positive nature of the Patient-led Assessment 

of the Care Environment (‘PLACE’) findings - particularly the significant improvement that had been 

recognised in the “Condition, Appearance and Maintenance” category, following the major investment 

in Maidstone Hospital in 2015, and the fact that the results achieved by the Trust for 2016 were above 

the national average across the board (from the Patient Experience Committee, 06/09/16) 

 The Finance Committee’s recommendation to replace objective 4.b within the Board Assurance 

Framework (BAF) (“To improve on the Trust’s Income and Expenditure plan for 2016/17”) with an 

alternative objective (“To deliver the control total for 2016/17”); and the Committee’s recommendation 

that the Agency self-certification checklist required to be submitted to NHSI be approved by the Trust 

Board (from the Finance Committee, 28/11/16) 
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 The Charitable Funds Committee’s agreement that the Director of Finance would report to the Trust 

Board in January 2017 on the findings from his review of expenditure for the current year, with a view to 

identifying items that might be retrospectively classified as Charitable Funds expenditure (from the 

Charitable Funds Committee, 28/11/16) 

 The Finance Committee’s review of the Business Case to replace a Linear Accelerator (LinAc) at 

Maidstone Hospital, and the agreement to recommend that the Board approve the Case (from the 

Finance Committee, 19/12/16) 

 The Finance Committee concern at the recent formal request by West Kent CCG for the Trust to reduce 

non-elective activity, the unsatisfactory arrangements for the management of backlog and the need for 

the Trust Board to consider a formal written response; and the Committee’s notification of the unpaid 

invoices to CCGs in respect of the Trust’s costs for hosting the Sustainability and Transformation Plan 

(STP), as well as raising the wider issue of the governance of expenditure on STP  (from the Finance 

Committee, 23/01/17) 

 The Audit and Governance Committee’s concern about the ‘red’ status of BAF objective 5a (62 day 

cancer waiting time target) (from the Audit and Governance Committee, 02/02/17) 

 The Charitable Funds Committee’s agreement to support the establishment of a fundraiser role, linked 

to a strategic appeal and as part of a wider engagement strategy within the Trust, and that the Trust 

Board should be invited to approve the establishment of the post (from the Charitable Funds 

Committee, 20/02/17) 

 The Workforce Committee’s review of the first quarterly Guardian for Safe Working Report (from the 

Workforce Committee, 09/03/17) 

 The Quality Committee’s concern that the Symphony A&E IT system would be unsupported in August 

2017, and the version currently being used had not had the last circa 9 updates applied (from the Quality 

Committee, 15/03/17) (N.B. The Trust Board then discussed this issue at its ‘Part 2’ meeting on 29/03/17) 

In addition to the above committees, there are a range of other forums, structures and processes in place to 
oversee and manage any issues relevant to particular aspects of risk and governance. In this respect, the 
Trust has, for example, a Trust Clinical Governance Committee, an Infection Prevention and Control 
Committee; a Health and Safety Committee; a Medicines Management Committee; an Information 
Governance Committee; and Safeguarding Adults and Children Committees.  

In addition, two Board ‘away day’ meetings were held, in June and November 2016. These enabled 
discussion of the Trust’s future strategy, particularly in light of the Kent & Medway STP. The Trust’s FRP 
draft planning submissions for 2017/18 and 2018/19 were also reviewed at the November 2016 ‘Away Day’. 

Assessment of the Trust’s Corporate Governance 

The Board assesses its effectiveness, and that of its sub-committees, via a range of methods. The Terms of 
Reference of the Board and its sub-committees are reviewed annually, to ensure the role and function of 
each reflects the Board’s wishes. The Terms of Reference of the Trust Board and all its sub-committees 
were reviewed and approved in 2016/17. Formal self-evaluations were undertaken in the year by the Trust 
Board, Audit and Governance Committee, Finance Committee, and Quality Committee, with the findings 
discussed at those meetings (in May 2016, August 2016, December 2016 and January 2017 respectively). 

To support the Trust’s corporate governance framework, a Chartered Secretary is employed, as Trust 
Secretary. The post-holder supports the Trust Board in the discharge of its statutory functions and duties, 
and ensures that any issues regarding legal compliance, as well as best practice in corporate governance, 
are drawn to the Board’s attention. To the best of my knowledge, the Trust Board, and the wider 
organisation, has complied with its legal obligations during 2016/17, and is, in general, compliant with those 
aspects of the UK Governance Code considered to be relevant to the Trust.  
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 Arrangements for the discharge of statutory functions 

I can confirm that the Trust’s arrangements in place for the discharge of statutory functions have been 
checked for any irregularities, and that, to the best of my knowledge, they are legally compliant 

Quality Governance 

The Trust’s Quality Governance arrangements are managed via the Trust Clinical Governance Committee 
(and its sub-committees); and via a number of associated systems and processes. As noted above, the 
Quality Committee then aims to seek and obtain assurance on the effectiveness of these structures, 
systems and processes. The arrangements are described in detail within the Trust’s annual Quality 
Accounts, which are reviewed by the Quality Committee, approved by the Trust Board, and published as a 
separate document. The Trust’s Quality Accounts are also independently assessed by External Audit, with 
regards to whether the performance information reported therein is reliable and accurate. The audit of the 
2015/16 Quality Accounts (which was concluded in 2016/17) resulted in an unqualified limited assurance 
report. The External Audit of the 2016/17 Quality Accounts will be available in the summer of 2017. 

Clinical audit is supported by a central team, within the Clinical Governance Department, and is primarily 
overseen by the Trust Clinical Governance Committee. The investigation of, and learning from, incidents 
are predominantly managed within Directorates and discussed at Directorate and Specialist Clinical 
Governance meetings. Serious Incidents are discussed and monitored at a corporate level via the Learning 
and Improvement (SI) Panel. SIs are reported routinely to the Quality Committee and the most significant 
incidents are discussed at the Trust Board.  

Complaints are managed by the central complaints team in partnership with the Directorates concerned. 
The rate of new complaints and percentage of complaints responded to within target are monitored 
monthly at the Trust Board, whilst detailed reports on Complaints and Patient Advice and Liaison Service 
(PALS) contacts are received twice per year by the Patient Experience Committee and Quality Committee. 

Regrettably, 4 ‘Never Events’ occurred at the Trust in 2016/17, which were subject to Board-level scrutiny to 
ensure that lessons were learnt.  

One of the key areas of focus for quality during the year has been the increased Hospital Standardised 
Mortality Ratio (HSMR), which stands at 110 for the latest 12-month period (to December 2016). The Trust 
Board and Quality Committee have reviewed the progress of the work to understand the reason/s for the 
increase, which has been led by the Medical Director, and this will continue to be closely monitored during 
2017/18.  

In May 2016, the TME and Trust Board received a report that enabled the Trust’s Quality Improvement Plan 
that had been developed in response to the CQC’s inspection in October 2014 to be formally closed. 
However, it was agreed at the Trust Board (‘Part 2’) meeting on 22/02/17 that the Quality Committee should 
receive a report confirming whether each issue described in the bullet points in the “Summary of findings” 
within the CQC’s Quality Report that related to the inspection (that was published in February 2015) had 
been addressed. The Quality Committee duly considered the requested report in March 2017. 

3. Risk assessment

Risks are identified, analysed and controlled in accordance with the Trust’s Risk Management Policy. The 
Trust has a BAF and a Risk Register. The BAF is the document through which the Trust Board is apprised of 
the principal risks to the Trust meeting its objectives, and to the controls in place to manage those risks. In 
addition to the Trust Board, the BAF and Risk Register are reviewed at the Audit and Governance 
Committee and TME, whilst the financial aspects of both are reviewed at the Finance Committee.  

As is the case every year, the BAF and Risk Register are subject to an Internal Audit review. The review for 
2016/17, gave a “Reasonable Assurance” conclusion, and the report’s “key findings” included the statements 
that “The Board Assurance Framework and Risk Management processes have been subject to regular 
review by the Trust, including at the Trust Board, Audit and Governance Committee and the Trust 
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 Management Executive”, “Clear processes are in place within the Trust to support the identification and 
management of risks” and “A robust reporting structure to the Trust Board is in place”. 

A number of new risks were identified in-year, which were considered and overseen by the process 
described above. The 4 ‘red-rated’ risks on the Risk Register in September 2016 (which included the costs 
involved in the use of temporary staff; the failure to meet Cancer waiting time targets; and the Trust’s long-
term financial viability) were reviewed in detail by the TME in that month. The TME was asked, for each risk, 
whether further action should be taken to reduce the risk; whether the risk score/rating should be 
moderated (on the basis of a collective assessment of the actual risk); or whether the risk should be 
accepted as rated in the short-term (as the actions currently taken and/or planned are expected to enable 
the risk to be mitigated). The TME also agreed to a proposal that red-rated risks should be subjected to 
regular review at Executive Team meetings, rather than this review being undertaken at the TME. 

In July 2016, the Trust Board agreed the key risks faced by the Trust for 2016/17, and how these should be 
reflected in the Trust’s objectives. The Trust Board also approved the proposal to focus on a deliberately 
small number of higher-level objectives to act as proxy indicators (i.e. a ’litmus test’) for broader 
performance. The 5 key risks were agreed as follows: 

1. The Trust fails to improve key aspects of clinical care and safety

2. The Trust is unable to manage (either clinically or financially) during the winter period

3. The Trust does not have the correct level of substantive workforce for effective delivery

4. The Trust fails to demonstrate an ability to achieve future financial viability

5. The Trust fails to maintain and improve its reputation as a Cancer provider

The associated objectives that were agreed were as follows: 
1.a. To reduce the falls rate to less than 6.2 per 1,000 occupied bed days 
2.a. To achieve an average Length of Stay for elective care of 3.2 days  
2.b. To achieve an average Length of Stay for non-elective care of 6.8 days2 
3.a. To reduce the vacancy rate to 8.5% 
4.a. To maintain operational liquidity whilst reducing working capital (from the planned level for 2016/17) 
4.b. To improve on the Trust’s Income and Expenditure plan for 2016/17 (as noted above, this objective was 

subsequently amended, in November 2016, to “To deliver the control total for 2016/17”) 
5.a. To deliver the Trust’s 2016/17 agreed trajectory regarding the 62-day Cancer waiting time target 

The Trust Board received formal updates on the performance of each objective, and the management of 
risks to non-achievement, via the BAF, at its meetings in September and November 2016 and February 
2017. A BAF ‘closure’ report for the objectives is scheduled to be received in April 2017. 

The Trust had one notifiable Information Governance Serious Incident Requiring Investigation (SIRI) in 
2016/17, which related to the discovery of some patient identifiable information in Pembury village. The 
Trust’s Senior Risk Information Owner (SIRO) and Caldicott Guardian were involved in the response. The 
Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) confirmed that no action would be taken against the Trust, but the 
Trust has accepted that there needs to be learning from the incident, and processes may need to be 
reviewed. 

4. The risk and control framework

The Trust has in place a range of systems to prevent, deter, manage and mitigate risks and measure the 
associated outcomes. Some of these systems are described in the “The governance framework of the 
organisation” and “Risk assessment” sections above, and in addition to the Trust’s Risk Management Policy, 
a full range of risk management policies and guidance is made available to staff. This includes the 
procedures for incident reporting, managing complaints, risk assessment, investigation of incidents, health 
and safety, and ‘being open’ to staff and patients (to support the statutory Duty of Candour). Additional 
advice on good practice can be obtained from a range of professional and specialist staff. The remit of the 
Trust’s Governance Department includes clinical risk management; clinical governance; clinical audit; 
complaints; PALS; staff health and safety; medico-legal service and claims handling; research and 
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 development; and the management of all clinical and non-clinical incident reporting. In addition, 
Directorates and sub-specialities have identified clinical governance and risk leads. There is a forum for 
clinical governance and risk management within each Directorate and within the majority of clinical sub-
specialties.  

In addition, a number of specific risk-related roles are held by Trust Board Members. The Vice-Chair of the 
Trust Board is also the Senior Independent Director and “Freedom to Speak Up Guardian”; the Chief Nurse 
is the SIRO; the Medical Director is the Caldicott Guardian and the Responsible Officer (for Medical 
Revalidation); whilst the Chief Operating Officer is the Board Level Director (with fire safety responsibility), 
the Accountable Emergency Officer for Emergency Preparedness, Resilience & Response (EPRR), and the 
Security Management Director.  

Trust staff are involved in risk management processes in a variety of ways, including raising any concerns 
they may have (anonymously, if they so wish); being aware of their responsibility to report and act upon any 
incidents that occur; being involved in risk assessments; and attending regular training updates.  

In-house support and advice on risk management and mitigation is available. This includes specific advice 
relating to patient safety, health and safety, finance, and information governance etc. Certain types of risk 
are also addressed via the engagement of external expertise. For example, the risk of fraud is managed and 
deterred via the appointment of a Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) and the Trust engages a Dangerous 
Goods Safety Advisor (DGSA) to advise on the safe management of healthcare waste.  

The following processes are in place to assure the quality and accuracy of elective waiting time data (and to 
manage the risks to such quality and accuracy):  

 The Trust has a “Patient Access to Treatment Policy and Procedure”, which encompasses Standard 
Operational Procedures for waiting list management at all stages of a referral to treatment pathway. 
The Policy also states the responsibilities of key staff, including those for auditing data quality. The 
Policy is also currently being reviewed to ensure it is aligned with the Trust’s new Patient Administration 
System (PAS) (see the “Significant issues” section below) 

 The Trust also has an “Information Lifecycle Management Policy and Procedure”, which describes the 
Trust’s general approach to data quality, including the role of the Data Quality Steering Group 

 There is a weekly validation process involving operational, management and information leads, to 
assure the quality of local and national waiting times reporting/data 

 Compliance with the above Policies and processes is audited annually by Internal Audit (TIAA Ltd). At 
the time of writing this Annual Report, this audit was not completed, but Internal Audit had been able to 
report that testing of Referral to Treatment (RTT) data had not highlighted any issues with the 
processes or the data used for reporting purposes, which is consistent with previous year.  

5. Review of the effectiveness of risk management and internal control

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of risk 
management and internal control. My review is informed in a number of ways. The Head of Internal Audit 
provides me with an opinion on the overall arrangements for gaining assurance through the BAF and on the 
controls reviewed as part of the work of Internal Audit. The Head of Internal Audit Opinion for 2016/17 
states that “In my opinion, there is “reasonable” assurance that Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust 
has a generally sound system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives and that 
controls are generally being applied consistently. However, some weaknesses in the design and/or 
inconsistent application of control put the achievement of particular objectives at risk”. 

Executive managers within the Trust who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the 
system of internal control also provide me with assurance, via regular meetings and submission of reports to 
the Committees referred to above. The BAF and Risk Register processes also provide me with evidence that 
the effectiveness of controls to manage the risks to the organisation have been reviewed, and scrutinised 
appropriately. Further evidence is provided by a range of sources including reports from Internal Audit 
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 (including Counter Fraud) and External Audit, and reports from external agencies, following inspections 
and/or accreditation visits. 

The Audit and Governance Committee approves the Internal Audit plan for the year and receives details of 
the findings from each of the Internal Audit reviews that are undertaken. Summary reports of relevant 
Internal Audit reviews are also submitted to the TME and Quality Committee during the year. Although a 
number of the Internal Audit reviews completed in 2016/17 resulted in a ‘Reasonable assurance’ conclusion, 
a number also led to a conclusion of ‘Limited assurance’. These latter reviews have, or will be, considered at 
the Audit and Governance Committee, and actions to address the weaknesses identified in controls have 
been taken (or will be taken during 2017/18). 

6. Significant issues

In addition to those referred to earlier in the Governance Statement, the following issues are considered 
significant, and warrant disclosure: 

 In May 2016, the Trust was one of 16 NHS Trusts selected to participate in Phase 1 of a national 
Financial Improvement Programme operated by NHSI. As part of the Programme, KPMG LLP was 
appointed to provide intensive financial support, and an Improvement Director attended meetings of 
the Finance Committee and Trust Board. The Trust’s participation in the Programme ended in July 
2016, as limited opportunities were identified to warrant the Trust proceeding to Phase 2 

 In July 2016, NHSI placed the Trust into Financial Special Measures (FSM), to help improve its financial 
position and reduce its expected year-end deficit. As part of the FSM regime, NHSI appointed a 
Financial Improvement Director, Simon Worthington, to work with the Trust, as Mr Worthington had 
been successful in supporting a financial turnaround at his own organisation, Bolton NHS Foundation 
Trust (where he was the Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Finance). The Trust has been involved 
in a number of formal FSM review meetings with NHSI, and although significant progress has been 
made, it is recognised that more is needed ahead of the next review meeting, in May/June 2017. The 
Trust therefore remained in the FSM regime at the end of the year, but the engagement of the Financial 
Improvement Director was ended by NHSI after the FSM review meeting on 30/01/17. 

 The Trust ended 2016/17 with a deficit of £10.9m (once Sustainability and Transformation Fund (STF) 
monies were taken into account), which meant the Trust did not meet its control total for the year 
(which was to achieve a surplus, after STF monies, of £4.7m). A significant factor in the size of the deficit 
was the fact that the Trust was not allowed to undertake the Capital to Revenue Transfer (of £4.2m) it 
had planned. The Finance Committee and Trust Board have closely monitored the financial position 
across the year, and the year-end deficit is in accordance with that forecast in January 2017. NHSI have 
also, via the FSM regime, monitored and overseen the Trust’s position, and the remedial action being 
taken, which will continue into 2017/18  

 Although the Trust successfully achieved its planned performance on a number of important indicators, 
including reducing the rate of patient falls and pressure ulcers, it failed to meet a number of key access 
targets for the year, including that for 62-day first definitive treatment for Cancer. The Trust Board has 
closely monitored this, and received a detailed report on performance at its ‘Part 2’ meeting in March 
2017. The Board has made it clear that performance needs to improve, but has been assured, in part, by 
the approach taken, which has included holding 3 Cancer summits over the past 18 months. 
Improvement is expected in 2017/18 

 The Trust also failed to achieve the access targets relating to A&E 4-hour waits and 18-week Referral to 
Treatment (RTT). The Trust Board has again closely followed the situation with both throughout the 
year, and although the performance is not regarded as acceptable, the Board has recognised that a 
number of external factors have had a significant adverse effect. In particular, attendances to the A&E 
department and non-elective admissions increased markedly during the year, a significant proportion of 
bed-days were lost as a result of Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC), which were 6.7% for the year 
(compared the national maximum limit of 3.5%), and a number of staffing-related issues (such as the 
restrictions on the use of temporary staffing, and shortages within particular medical specialities) 
caused specific challenges. All of these factors have had a significant adverse effect on patient flow, 
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which has in turn affected the Trust’s ability to reduce patient’s average Length of Stay (which was one 
of the Trust’s key objectives for 2016/17) 

 In January 2017, the Coroner’s Inquest into the death of Mrs Frances Cappuccini in October 2012 was 
concluded. HM Coroner issued a narrative verdict, and also issued a ‘Report to Prevent Future Deaths’ 
under paragraph 7, Schedule 5, of The Coroners and Justice Act 2009 and regulations 28 and 29 of the 
Coroners (Investigations) Regulations 2013. The Trust’s response to this report was considered by the 
Trust Board at its (‘Part 2’) meeting on 29/03/17, and subsequently sent to HM Coroner.  

Glenn Douglas, Chief Executive 

24th May 2017 
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Accountability Report for 2016/17: 
Remuneration and Staff Report 
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Our staff 
The Trust understands that maintaining a highly skilled and engaged workforce is fundamental to its ability 

to provide the highest, consistent, quality care to its patients. This is particularly critical during times of 

increasingly high demand for the Trust’s services and financial constraint. In 2016, the Trust took part in the 

14th annual National NHS Staff Survey. The results remained in line with the 2015 scores. Importantly, the 

Trust remains above the national average yet again as a place to work or receive treatment and as many of 

its staff thought patient care was the Trust’s top priority in 2016, as they did in 2015. The Trust continued 

with its strong performance for the percentage of staff who felt they had been appraised (94%) and scored 

within the top 20% of acute trusts for this finding. The Trust's score of 3.82 (out of a maximum score of 5) 

for staff engagement was in line with Trusts of a similar type. Other results included: 

 Percentage of staff believing that the organisation provides equal opportunities for career progression 

or promotion: 90% (National Average 87%) 

 Effective use of patient / service user feedback : 3.79 (National Average 3.72) 

 Percentage of staff / colleagues reporting the most recent experience of harassment, bullying or abuse: 

49% (National Average 45%) 

 Percentage of staff experiencing physical violence from patients, relatives or the public in the last 12 

months : 13% (National Average 15%) 

Whilst the overall results were good, there are some areas on which the Trust needs to focus: 

 Staff health and wellbeing 

 Quality of non-mandatory training and development 

 Encouraging staff to report incidences of violence 

The full survey results are available at: https://tinyurl.com/MTWstaffsurvey 

Employee benefits 
The details below relating to staff benefits, analysed by staff grouping, are included in accordance with 

section 411 of the Companies Act 2006. 

Staff numbers and costs 

Average
22

 staff numbers 

Permanently 
employed 

(WTE)
 23

 

Other 
(WTE) 

Permanently 
employed 

(expenditure) 
(£000s) 

Other 
(expenditure) 

(£000s) 

Medical and dental 621 101 60,165 15,004 
Ambulance staff 0 0 0 0 

Administration and estates 1091 64 32,716 2,107 

Healthcare assistants and other support staff 1195 121 29,632 3,339 

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 1424 238 60,774 13,724 

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners 13 0 244 0 

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 511 44 22,066 3,411 

Social Care Staff 0 0 0 0 

Healthcare Science Staff 188 0 8,975 0 

Other 0 0 0 0 

Total 5043 568 214,571 37,585 

Staff engaged on capital projects (excluded from above) 23 14 789 1,434 

22
 The average number of employees is calculated as the whole time equivalent number of employees under contract of service in 

each week in the financial year, divided by the number of weeks in the financial year. 
23

 This excludes any staff on unpaid leave (and therefore does not equate to the WTE reported within the Sustainability Report) 

Page 63

https://tinyurl.com/MTWstaffsurvey


Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17 

 Exit packages 

The figures disclosed below relate to exit packages agreed in the year. The actual date of departure 

might be in a subsequent period, and the expense in relation to the departure costs may have been 

accrued in a previous period. The data here is therefore presented on a different basis to other staff 

cost and expenditure notes in the accounts.  

Exit package 
cost band 
(including any 
special 
payment 
element) 

*Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

*Cost of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Number of 
other 

departures 
agreed 

Cost of other 
departures 

agreed 

Total number 
of exit 

packages 

Total cost 
of exit 

packages 

Number of 
departures 

where 
special 

payments 
have been 

made 

Cost of special 
payment 
element 

included in exit 
packages 

Whole 
numbers only 

£s Whole 
numbers 

only 

£s Whole 
numbers only 

£s Whole 
numbers 

only 

£s 

Less than £10,000 None N/A 25 £82,156 25 £82,156 None  0 

£10,000 - £25,000 None N/A 2 £25,769 2 £25,769 None 0 

£25,001 - £50,000 None N/A 0 0 None  0 None 0 

£50,001 - £100,000 None N/A 0 0 None  0 None 0 

£100,001 - £150,000 None N/A 0 0 None  0 None 0 

£150,001 - £200,000 None N/A 0 0 None  0 None 0 

>£200,000 None N/A 0 0 None  0 None 0 

Total N/A N/A 27 £107,925 27 £107,925 N/A N/A 

Other Exit packages – disclosures 
 (excluding compulsory redundancies) 

Number of  
exit 

package 
agreements 

Total Value 
of 

agreements 

(£) 

Number of  
exit 

package 
agreements 

Total Value 
of 

agreements 

(£) 

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement contractual costs 0 0 0 0 

Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) contractual costs 0 0 0 0 

Early retirements in the efficiency of the service contractual costs 0 0 0 0 

Contractual payments in lieu of notice 27 £108,000 12 £63,000 

Exit payments following Employment Tribunals or court orders 0 0 0 0 

Non contractual payments requiring HMT approval * 0 0 0 0 

Total 27 £108,000 12 £63,000 

Non-contractual payments made to individuals where the payment 
value was more than 12 months of their annual salary 

0 0 0 0 

Note * this includes any non-contractual severance payment following judicial mediation and amounts relating to non-contractual 
payments in lieu of notice.  

Employee consultation (understanding and learning from the views of staff) 

The Trust meets with local Trade Union representatives formally, via the Joint Consultative Forum and the 
Joint Medical Consultative Committee. A quarterly Open Staff Meeting system also operates, to cascade 
information to all staff, which involves a face-to-face meeting with two Executive Directors (including the 
Chief Executive) at both hospital sites. A weekly Chief Executive’s update (“Glenn’s update”) is issued to all 
staff via email, enabling key messages to be given on matters of note. The Trust also conducts ‘Impressions’ 
surveys throughout the year to help it gauge the level of satisfaction and engagement amongst staff. The 
Trust has a range of support mechanisms for staff, beyond that provided by their line manager. This 
includes a comprehensive Employee Assistance Programme providing 24 hour support and a full 
Occupational Health service.  
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 Following the introduction of Financial Special Measures during the year, staff across the Trust have been 

consulted on and engaged with, through surveys, meetings and day to day line management, on the 

development and delivery of the Financial Recovery Plan, and regular communications are issued to update 

the Trust’s workforce on progress against the Plan.  

Education and Development 

The Trust takes the ongoing development of its staff very seriously. Each 

hospital site has an Education Centre, giving dedicated teaching space to 

staff, and a library. Staff can expect to have an annual appraisal with a plan of 

personal development and access to education teams to support them with 

advice and guidance about their development needs. Over the past year the 

Trust recorded over 200 different in-house learning activities such as, courses 

on Time Management or Leadership Skills; Effective Minute-Taking; 

Microsoft Word and Excel skills; e-learning passes for subjects e.g. Safe Use of Insulin or Supporting 

Breastfeeding and competency assessments on various Medical Devices. Funding is also available for staff 

to access external training and over 700 staff benefitted from this in the past year. In 2016/17 the Trust 

continued its investment in additional training equipment (for example Skin and Vein Kits for IV Therapy 

and resus training equipment), improved the access to local schools for work experience opportunities, and 

ran training exercises for staff with HM Coastguard Rescue. 

Equal opportunities 

As demonstrated by the encouraging results in the staff survey, the Trust is committed to the equality 

agenda and continues to support the delivery of the Workforce Strategy, 2015-2010. The strategy 

demonstrates a commitment to creating a culture that promotes equality & embraces diversity in all its 

functions as both an employer and a service provider. The Trust’s aim is to provide a safe environment, free 

from discrimination, and a place where all individuals are valued, treated fairly and accepted for who they 

are without exception. The Trust is in the first year of a new approach to embedding and mainstreaming 

equality into everything it does, which is spearheaded by a dedicated Staff Engagement and Equality lead.  

In June 2016, the Trust implemented a new translation service, providing a one stop shop for all translation 

requirements. Provision includes written translation, face to face language translation, British Sign 

Language (BSL), Deaf/Blind services and telephone interpreting. Telephone interpreting is available 24 

hours a day, 7 days a week, 365 days a year. Requests for face to face and BSL interpreting may be made 

both in-an-out-of-hours through an online portal.  

A Cultural Diversity network was set up in late 2016 with the purposes of ensuring that the Trust continually 

improves equality in the provision of healthcare, other services and employment. It will ensure the Trust 

complies with equality, non-discrimination and human rights law & raise awareness of cultural diversity in 

the workplace through events, diversity days & initiatives. The Network will act as a forum for staff of 

different cultures to come together, share experiences and find support for the issues that affect them. 

A survey in 2016, created in collaboration with Great Ormond Street Hospital, 

assessed how members of the Trust’s Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender 

(LGBT) community are treated at the Trust and the results will be used as a basis for creating an inclusive 

environment for its LGBT community as patients and staff within the organisation. The Trust works with 

Stonewall, a charity which supports people from the LGBT communities, and is pleased to be a Diversity 

Champion. The programme is an excellent framework for creating a workplace that enables LGBT staff to 

reach their potential.   
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 The gender, age and ethnic group distribution of staff and Trust Board Members (Senior Managers) at the 
end of 2016/17 is set out below (the 2015/16 equivalent is in brackets): 

Gender Staff [head count] Trust Board Members 
24

 

Male 1548 (1874) 24.3% (24%) 7 (9) 63.6% (64%) 

Female 4819 (5933) 75.7% (76%) 4 (5) 36.4 % (36%) 

Age (age at 31/03/17) Staff [head count] Trust Board Members 
25

 

16-30 1329 (1932) 20.9% (26.0%) 0 (0) 0% (0%) 

31-40 1363 (1732) 21.4% (23.0%) 1 (1) 9.1% (7.0%) 
41-50 1670 (1908) 26.2% (25.5%) 3 (3) 27.3% (21.0%) 

51-60 1394 (1532) 21.9% (20.5%) 6 (6) 54.6% (43.0%) 
61 and over 611 (361) 9.6% (5.0%) 1 (4) 9.1% (29.0%) 

Ethnic group 
26

 Staff [head count] Trust Board Members 
24

 

Asian/Asian British: Any other Asian 
background 

360 (376) 5.7% (4.8%) 0 (0) 0% (0%) 

Asian/Asian British: Bangladeshi 7 (14) 0.1% (0.2%) 0 (0) 0% (0%) 
Asian/Asian British: Indian 342 (379) 5.4% (4.9%) 0 (1) 0% (7%) 

Asian/Asian British: Pakistani 52 (84) 0.8% (1.1%) 0 (0) 0% (0%) 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: 
African 

148 (183) 2.3% (2.3%) 0 (0) 0% (0%) 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: Any 
other Black/African/Caribbean background 

14 (23) 0.2% (0.3%) 0 (0) 0% (0%) 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: 
Caribbean 

18 (30) 0.3% (0.4%) 0 (0) 0% (0%) 

Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups: Any other 
Mixed/Multiple ethnic background 

36 (40) 0.6% (0.5%) 0 (0) 0% (0%) 

Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups: White and 
Asian 

39 (40) 0.6% (0.5%) 0 (0) 0% (0%) 

Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups: White and 
Black African 

9 (16) 0.1% (0.2%) 0 (0) 0% (0%) 

Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups: White and 
Black Caribbean 

19 (16) 0.3% (0.2%) 0 (0) 0% (0%) 

White: Any other White background 578 (739) 9.1% (9.5%) 0 (1) 0% (7%) 

White: English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern 
Irish/British 

4213 (5045) 66.2% (64.6%) 10 (11) 91% (79%) 

White: Irish 73 (105) 1.2% (1.3%) 1 (1) 9 % (7%) 
Any other ethnic group 199 (232) 3.1% (3.0%) 0 (0) 0% (0%) 

Not known / not stated / undefined 260 (485) 4.1% (6.2%) 0 (0) 0% (0%) 

Staff sickness absence 

The staff sickness absence for 2016/17 (and 2015/16) is reported below: 

2016/17 2015/16 

Total days lost (adjusted to the Cabinet Office measure) 47,119 43,757 
Total staff years (WTE) 5,197 5,054 
Average working days lost 9.1 8.7 

N.B. This data is provided via the Department of Health (DH) (as it is necessary to reconcile NHS Electronic Staff Record data with 
the ‘Cabinet Office’ data reported by central Government, to permit aggregation across the NHS). The sickness absence figures 
reported for 2016/17 are actually for the calendar year 2016 (i.e. January to December 2016), whilst the figures for 2015/16 are for 
the calendar year 2015. However, the DH considers the figures for the calendar year to be a reasonable proxy for the financial year. 

24 Includes non-voting Board Members (refer to the ‘Trust Board’ section later in the Report for details). The definition of “Senior Manager” 
only applies to Trust Board Members, all of whom are on “Very Senior Manager” contracts. 
25 Includes non-voting Board Members (refer to the ‘Trust Board’ section later in the Report for details). The definition of “Senior Manager” 
only applies to Trust Board Members, all of whom are on “Very Senior Manager” contracts. 
26 Recommended Office of National Statistics (ONS) Ethnicity Classifications, 2012 
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 Disabled employees

The Disability Confident Scheme, launched by the Government in July 2016, replaced the Positive about 

Disability “Two Ticks” scheme. The Trust has achieved Level 2 – Disability Confident Employer status, 

demonstrating that it actively seeks out and hires skilled disabled people helping to positively change 

attitudes, behaviours and cultures. In 2016/17 the Trust has:  

 Actively looked to attract and recruit disabled people 

 Provided a fully inclusive and accessible recruitment process 

 Offered an interview to disabled people who met the minimum criteria for the job 

 Been flexible when assessing people so disabled job applicants have the best opportunity to 

demonstrate they can do the job 

 Made reasonable adjustments as required 

 Encouraged suppliers to be Disability Confident 

 “Senior Managers” remuneration 

In accordance with Section 234b and Schedule 7a of the Companies Act, as required by NHS Bodies, this 

report includes details regarding “senior managers” remuneration. In the context of the NHS, this is defined 

as: “Those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the major 

activities of the NHS body. This means those who influence the decisions of the entity as a whole rather 

than the decisions of individual directorates or departments”. 

It is usually considered that the regular attendees of the entity’s Board meetings are its “Senior Managers”, 

and the Chief Executive has confirmed that the definition of “Senior Managers” only applies to Trust Board 

Members (refer to the ‘Directors’ Report’ for further details). 

The Trust Board maintains a Remuneration and Appointments Committee to advise and assist in meeting 

its responsibilities to ensure appropriate remuneration, allowances and terms of service for the Chief 

Executive, Directors and other key senior posts (refer to the ‘Directors’ Report’ for further details of the 

Remuneration and Appointments Committee). 

The Chief Executive and Directors’ remuneration is reviewed annually by the Committee and decisions are 

based on market rates, national pay awards and performance. Reward is primarily through salary 

adjustment, although non-recurrent awards can be used to recognise exceptional achievements.  

Pay rates for Non-Executive Directors of the Trust are determined in accordance with national guidelines, as 

set by NHSI. Remuneration for the Chair of the Trust Board is also set by NHSI. 

The Directors are normally on permanent contracts and subject to a minimum of 6 months’ notice period; 

the Chief Executive’s notice period is 6 months. Contract, interim and seconded staff will all have 

termination clauses built into their letters of engagement, which will be broadly in line with the above.  

Termination arrangements are applied in accordance with statutory regulations as modified by Trust or 

National NHS conditions of service agreements, and the NHS pension scheme. The Remuneration and 

Appointments Committee will agree any severance arrangements following appropriate approval from 

NHSI and HM Treasury as appropriate. 

The figures included in the tables below show details of salaries, allowances, pension entitlements and any 

other remuneration of the Trust’s ‘Senior Managers’ i.e. non-recurrent awards etc. 
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 Salaries and allowances for the year ending 31st March 2017 (subject to audit) 

Comparatives for the year ending 31st March 2016 are shown in brackets below the figure for 2016/17. 

Name and title 
(alphabetical by surname) 

N.B. Dates of service 
are for the full 2016/17 
year unless otherwise 
disclosed 

(a) 
Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(b) 
Taxable 
expense 

payments, 
and other 
benefits in 

kind, to the 
nearest £100 

(c) 
Annual 

performance
-related pay 
and bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(d) 
Long-term 

performance-
related pay 

and bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

(e) 
Other 

remuneration 
for other 

offices held 
alongside 

Senior 
Manager role 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(f) 
All 

pension-
related 

benefits 
(bands of 
£2,500) 

(g) 
TOTAL 

(columns 
a - f) 

(bands of 
£5.000) 

(h) 
Payments or 

compensation 
for loss of 

office 

£000 £00 Λ £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Avey Bhatia, Chief Nurse 
(until 31/01/17) 

90-95 

(105-110) 

0 

(0) 

0 

(0) 

0 

(0) 

0 

(0) 

25-27.5 

(2.5-5) 

115-120 

(115-120) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

Sylvia Denton, Non-
Executive Director (until 
28/02/17) 

5-10 

(5-10) 

0 

(0) 

0 

(0) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

5-10 

(5-10) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

Glenn Douglas, Chief 
Executive 

200-205 

(200-205) 

-63∑ 

(70) 

0 

(0) 

0 

(0) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

0 

(0) 

205-210 

(205-210) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

Sarah Dunnett, Non-
Executive Director 

5-10 

(5-10) 

0 

(0) 

0 

(0) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

5-10 

(5-10) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

Angela Gallagher, Chief 
Operating Officer 

120-125 

(115-120) 

0 

(0) 

0 

(0) 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

(N/A) 

2-5-5.0 

(0) 

125-130 

(115-120) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

Richard Hayden, Director 
of Workforce  

110-115 

(5-10) 

0 

(0) 

0 

(0) 

N/A 

(0) 

N/A 

(N/A) 85-87.5 

(N/A) 

195-200 

(5-10) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

Anthony Jones, Chair of 
the Trust Board (until 
28/02/17) 

40-45 

(40-45) 

0 

(5) 

0 

(0) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

40-45 

(40-45) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

Alex King, Non-Executive 
Director  

5-10 

(5-10) 

0 

(0) 

0 

(0) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

5-10 

(5-10) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

Jim Lusby, Deputy Chief 
Executive 130-135 

(115-120) 

0 

(0) 

0 

(0) 

0 

(0) 

N/A 

(5-10) 87.5 - 90 

(10-12.5) 

215-220 

(140-145) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

Peter Maskell, Medical 
Director Ψ (from 08/02/17) 

35-40 

(N/A) 

0 

(N/A) 

0 

(N/A) 

0 

(N/A) 

0 

(N/A) 

0 

(N/A) 

35-40 

(N/A) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

Sara Mumford, Director 
of Infection Prevention 
and Control Ψ 

15-20 

(15-20) 

0 

(2) 

0 

(0) 

0 

(0) 

135-140 

(115-120) 

57.5-60 

(5-7.5) 

210-215 

(140-145) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

Claire O’Brien, Interim 
Chief Nurse (from 
28/02/17)  

5-10 

(N/A) 

0 

(N/A) 

0 

(N/A) 

0 

(N/A) 

0 

(N/A) 

0 

(N/A) 

5-10 

(N/A) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

Steve Orpin, Director of 
Finance 

125-130 

(125-130) 

0 

(0) 

0 

(0) 

0 

(0) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

27.5-30 

(77.5-80) 

155-160 

(205-210) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

Paul Sigston, Medical 
Director Ψ (until 08/02/17) 

205-210 

(230-235) 

0 

(0) 

0 

(0) 

0 

(0) 

5-10 

(10-15) 

0 

(0) 

210-215 

(245-250) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

Kevin Tallett, Non-
Executive Director 

5-10 

(5-10) 

0 

(0) 

0 

(0) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

5-10 

(5-10) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

Steve Tinton, Non-
Executive Director (until 
28/09/16) 

0-5 

(5-10) 

0 

(0) 

0 

(0) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

0-5 

(5-10) 

N/A 

(N/A) 

Λ £ hundreds are used for taxable expense payments, and other benefits (column (b)). For this Trust, they relate to the non-cash benefit of a 
lease car. All other columns are in £ thousands 

Ψ Drs Maskell, Mumford and Sigston hold clinical roles in the Trust alongside their responsibilities as Senior Managers 
∑ This relates to a lease vehicle  
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 Pension benefits for the year ending 31st March 2017 (subject to audit) 

Name and title Ψ 
(alphabetical by surname) 

N.B. Dates of service are 
for the full 2016/17 year 
unless otherwise 
disclosed 

(a) 
Real 

increase in 
pension at 

pension 
age (bands 
of £2,500) 

(b) 
Real increase 

in pension 
lump sum at 
pension age 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(c) 
Total accrued 

pension at 
pension age  
at 31st March 
2017 (bands 
of £5,000) 

(d) 
Lump sum at 
pension age 

related to 
accrued 

pension at 
31st March 

2017 (bands 
of £5,000) 

(e) 
Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer Value 

Λ at 1st April 
2016 

(f) 
Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value Λ at 
31

st
 March 

2017 

(g) 
Real 

increase in 
Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value Σ 

(h) 
Employer’s 

contribution 
to 

stakeholder 
pension 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Glenn Douglas, Chief 
Executive Ω 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Avey Bhatia, Chief Nurse 
(until 31/01/17) 

0-2.5 0-2.5 35-40 95-100 558 594 31 0 

Angela Gallagher, Chief 
Operating Officer 

0-2.5 2.5-5.0 45-50 140-145 889 935 46 0 

Richard Hayden, Director 
of Workforce  2.5-5 

7.5-10 20-25 50-55 189 244 
41 

0 

Jim Lusby, Deputy Chief 
Executive  

2.5-5.0 0-2.5 30-35 85-90 450 513 63 0 

Peter Maskell, Medical 
Director (from 08/02/17) ) 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Sara Mumford, Director of 
Infection Prev. and Control 

2.5-5 0-2.5 45-50 70-75 585 649 64 0 

Claire O’Brien, Interim 
Chief Nurse (from 28/02/17)  0-2.5 0-2.5 30-35 100-105 692 704 1 0 

Steve Orpin, Director of 
Finance 

0-2.5 0-2.5 40-45 115-120 578 617 39 0 

Paul Sigston, Medical 
Director (until 08/02/17) 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Ψ  As Non-Executive Directors do not receive pensionable remuneration; there are no entries in respect of pensions for Non-Executive Directors 
Λ  A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular 

point in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable 
from the scheme. CETVs are calculated in accordance with the Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) Regulations 2008 

Σ  Real Increase in CETV reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to 
inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common 
market valuation factors for the start and end of the period 

Ω  Mr Douglas ceased payments into the NHS Pensions scheme in 2012/13 
 Drs Sigston and Maskell did not make any contributions into the NHS Pensions scheme in 2016/17 

Pay multiples (subject to audit)

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid 

director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.  

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in the financial year 2016-17 was £200,000 to 

£205,000 (in 2015/16 this was £230,000 to £235,000). This was 7.1 times (in 2015/16, this was 8.3 times) the 

median remuneration of the workforce, which was £28,462 (2015-16, £28,159). The reduction is due to a 

change in post holder. 

In 2016-17, 11 employees (2015-16, 2) received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid Director (these 

were all Medical staff.) Remuneration ranged from £6,042 to £279,930 (in 2015/16 the range was from 

£11,413 to £240,132). The highest paid Director in the financial year 2016/17 was the Chief Executive (in 

2015/16 this was the Medical Director). This is based on Directors in post as at 31st March 2017. 

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind, but not 

severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer 

value of pensions. The calculations of the median pay included in this analysis is based on the month 12 

remuneration on an annualised basis (remuneration divided by whole time equivalent multiplied by 12) and 

therefore is not necessarily the actual remuneration received by those individuals in the financial year. 
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 Reporting relating to the review of tax arrangements of public sector appointees (not subject to audit) 

As part of the Review of Tax arrangements of Public Sector Appointees published by the Chief Secretary to 

the Treasury on 23rd May 2012, the Trust in common with all public bodies, is required to publish 

information in relation to the number of ‘off-payroll’ arrangements meeting the specific criteria set by the 

Treasury. Individuals  that are ‘on-payroll’ are subject to Pay As You Earn (PAYE), with income tax and 

employee National Insurance Contributions (NICs) deducted by the Trust at source. Individuals engaged to 

provide services to the Trust but who do not have PAYE and NICs deducted at source are ‘off-payroll’. 

All off-payroll engagements as of 31st March 2017, for more than £220 per day and lasting 
for longer than 6 months 

Number 

Number of existing engagements as of 31
st

 March 2017 2 
Of which, the number that have existed… 

for less than 1 year at the time of reporting = 1 

for between 1 and 2 years at the time of reporting = 0 

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting = 1 

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting  = 0 
for 4 or more years at the time of reporting = 0 

All existing off-payroll engagements have at some point been subject to a risk based assessment, as to 

whether assurance was required that the individual is paying the right amount of tax. Where necessary, that 

assurance has been sought. 

New off-payroll engagements between 1st April 2016 and 31st March 2017, for more than 
£220 per day that last longer than 6 months 

Number 

Number of new engagements, or those that reached 6 months in duration, between 1
st

 April 
2016 and 31

st
 March 2017 

1 

Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving the Trust the right to 
request assurance in relation to income tax and National Insurance obligations 

0 

Number for whom assurance has been requested 0 
Of which… 

Assurance has been received 0 

Assurance has not been received 0 

Engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received 0 

Number of off-payroll engagements of Board members and/or senior officers with significant 
financial responsibility, during the year 

0 

Number of individuals that have been deemed “Board members and/or senior officers with 
significant financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure includes both off-
payroll and on-payroll engagements 

16 Σ 

Σ  This includes the Board members that left the Trust Board during 2016/17. Please refer to the ‘Directors’ Report’ for further details.  

Expenditure on consultancy staff 

The Trust’s expenditure on consultancy staff for 2016/17 was £468,000, a reduction of £532,700 from 
2015/16. 
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Term Definition/explanation 

Ambulatory (Care) A service where some conditions may be treated without the need for an 
overnight stay in hospital  

Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) 

The body that regulates all health and social care services in England. The CQC 
ensures the quality and safety of care in hospitals, dentists, ambulances, and 
care homes, and the care given in people’s own homes. CQC is an executive 
non-departmental public body, sponsored by the Department of Health. 

Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) 

CCGs are clinically-led statutory NHS bodies, created following the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012, responsible for the planning and commissioning of health 
care services for their local area. CCGs are membership bodies, with local GP 
practices as the members 

Clinical Governance Clinical Governance is the system through which NHS organisations are 
accountable for continuously improving the quality of their services and 
safeguarding high standards of care, by creating an environment in which 
clinical excellence can flourish.’ (DoH 1998) 

Commissioning The process of planning, agreeing and monitoring services, ranging from the 
health-needs assessment for a population, through the clinically based design 
of patient pathways, to service specification and contract negotiation or 
procurement, with continuous quality assessment 

Control total A figure calculated by NHSI, on a Trust by Trust basis, which represents the 
minimum level of financial performance, against which the the Trust’s Board/ 
Governing Body and Chief Executives must deliver in 2016/17, and for which 
they will be held directly accountable  

Cost Improvement Plan/ 
Programme (CIP) 

Sets out the savings that an NHS organisation plans to make to reduce its 
expenditure/increase efficiency. It is used to close the gap between the income 
received by the NHS body and expenditure incurred in any one year 

Delayed Transfer of Care 
(DTOC) 

According to NHS England, a ‘delayed transfer of care’ occurs when an adult 
inpatient in hospital is ready to go home or move to a less acute stage of care 
but is prevented from doing so. Sometimes referred to in the media as ‘bed-
blocking’, delayed transfers of care are a problem as they reduce the number of 
beds available to other patients who need them, as well as causing 
unnecessarily long stays in hospital for patients 

Elective treatment Treatment that is not urgent and can be planned 

Escalation The term used to describe circumstances when clinical areas of the Trust, not 
ordinarily designated for non-elective inpatient care, are required to be used for 
that purpose due to non-elective demand 

Financial Special 
Measures (FSM) 

The Financial Special Measures programme, was launched by NHSI in July 2016 
to provide a rapid turnaround package for Trusts which had either not agreed 
savings targets, or planned to make savings but deviated significantly from this 
plan 

Friends and Family Test 
(FFT) 

A feedback tool, launched in April 2013, that supports the fundamental 
principle that people who use NHS services should have the opportunity to 
provide feedback on their experience. It asks people if they would recommend 
the services they have used and offers a range of responses. When combined 
with supplementary follow-up questions, the FFT provides a mechanism to 
highlight both good and poor patient experience 

Length of Stay (LOS) The period of time a patient remains in hospital or other healthcare facility as 
an inpatient 

NHS England An executive non-departmental public body, sponsored the Department of 
Health, which leads the NHS in England. It sets the priorities and direction of 
the NHS and encourages and informs the national debate to improve health 
and care 
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 Term Definition/explanation 

NHS Improvement 
(NHSI) 

The body responsible for overseeing NHS Trusts, and independent providers 
that provide NHS-funded care. It supports providers to give patients 
consistently safe, high quality, compassionate care within local health systems 
that are financially sustainable  

Non-elective treatment Treatment that is not planned, but requires admission to hospital 

Patient Advice and 
Liaison Service (PALS) 

A service within an NHS Trust offering confidential advice, support and 
information on health-related matters. It provides a point of contact for 
patients, their families and their carers 

Patient Experience A term used for individual and collective feedback. (1) Individual patient’s 
feedback about their experiences of care or a service e.g. whether they 
understood the information they were given, their views on the cleanliness of 
the hospital where they were treated. (2) A combination of all the intelligence 
held about what patients experience in services, drawing on a range of sources 
including complaints, compliments, etc. 

Patient flow The course of patients between staff, departments and organisations along a 
pathway of care 

Patient Pathhway The route that a patient will take from entry into a hospital or other healthcare 
seeting until the patient leaves. A template pathway can be created for 
common services and operations (e.g. emergency care pathway) 

Ring-fenced beds Beds allocated for a specific category of patient / treatment (e.g. stroke or 
elective orthopaedic beds), not used for general medical patients when the 
hospital is busy 

Serious Incident (SI) Events in health care where the potential for learning is so great, or the 
consequences to patients, families and carers, staff or organisations are so 
significant, that they warrant using additional resources to mount a 
comprehensive response. SIs can extend beyond incidents which affect patients 
directly and include incidents which may indirectly impact patient safety or an 
organisation’s ability to deliver ongoing healthcare 

Single Oversight 
Framework (SOF) 

A framework which applies to all NHS Trusts and is designed to help providers 
attain, and maintain, CQC ratings of ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’. The framework 
replaced the Monitor 'Risk Assessment Framework' and the NHS Trust 
Development Authority 'Accountability Framework' in October 2016 

Sustainability and 
Transformation Fund 
(STF)  

A fund allocated to support and incentivise the sustainable provision of 
efficient, effective and economic care by NHS Trusts, paid subject to the 
achievement of stipulated targets. The general element of the STF is allocated 
primarily to Trusts providing acute emergency care, as they remain under the 
greatest financial and operational pressure 

Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan 
(STP) 

STPs are 5 year plans for the future of health and care services in local areas. 
STPs cover all areas of NHS England activity and include better integration with 
local authority services, as well as outlining how they will deliver the national 
NHS Mandate, plans will to address a series of ‘national challenges’, which fall 
broadly into three themes: improving health and wellbeing, improving quality 
and developing new models of care, and improving efficiency to achieve 
financial balance. 
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2016/17: Independent Auditor's report to the 

Directors of the Trust 

Page 74



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS OF MAIDSTONE AND 
TUNBRIDGE WELLS NHS TRUST 

We have audited the financial statements of Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust (the 
"Trust") for the year ended 31 March 2017 under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 
(the "Act"). The financial statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the 
Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the 
Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has 
been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the 
Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2016/17 (the “2016/17 GAM”) and the 
requirements of the National Health Service Act 2006. 

We have also audited the information in the Accountability Report that is subject to audit, 
being: 

 the single total figure of remuneration for each director;
 CETV disclosures for each director;
 the table of exit packages;
 the analysis of staff numbers and costs; and
 the table of pay multiples disclosures.

This report is made solely to the Directors of Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust, as 
a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Act and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement 
of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Trust’s Directors those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for 
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Trust and the Trust’s Directors, as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of Directors, the Accountable Officer and auditor 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the Directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law, the Code of Audit Practice published by the 
National Audit Office on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the “Code of Audit 
Practice”) and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

As explained in the statement of the Chief Executive's responsibilities, as the Accountable 
Officer of the Trust, the Accountable Officer is responsible for the arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the Trust's resources. We are required 
under Section 21(3)(c) and Schedule 13 paragraph 10(a) of the Act to be satisfied that the 
Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources and to report by exception where we are not satisfied.  

We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Trust’s 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are 
operating effectively. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment 
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of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Trust’s circumstances and have 
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the Directors; and the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the 
Performance Report and the Accountability Report to identify material inconsistencies with 
the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially 
incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the 
course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements 
or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.  

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources 

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having 
regard to the guidance on the specified criteria issued by the Comptroller and Auditor 
General in November 2016, as to whether the Trust had proper arrangements to ensure it 
took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and 
sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General 
determined these criteria as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit 
Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the Trust put in place proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 
March 2017, and to report by exception where we are not satisfied. 

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk 
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary.  

Opinion on financial statements 

In our opinion: 

 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of
Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust as at 31 March 2017 and of its
expenditure and income for the year then ended; and

 the financial statements have been prepared properly in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of
Health Group Accounting Manual 2016/17 and the requirements of the National
Health Service Act 2006.

Opinion on other matters 

In our opinion: 

 the parts of the Accountability Report to be audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and
adapted by the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2016/17 and the
requirements of the National Health Service Act 2006; and

 the other information published together with the audited financial statements in the
Performance Report and the Accountability Report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the audited financial statements.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We are required to report to you if we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 
30 of the Act because we have reason to believe that the Trust, or an officer of the Trust, is 
about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body incurring 
unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if 
followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency. 

On 17 May 2017, we referred a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30(b) of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in relation to its breach of the break-even duty for 
the three year period ending 31 March 2017. 

We are also required to report to you if we are not satisfied that the Trust has put in place 
proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources. 

Basis for Qualified Value for Money Conclusion 

The Trust’s outturn position for 2016-17 was a retained deficit of £10.9 million, increasing the 
cumulative retained deficit to £48.5 million. The Trust has agreed a deficit budget of £4.5 
million in 2017-18 with the Department of Health, however this is reliant on the Trust 
delivering £31.7m of cost improvement programme (CIP) savings in the financial year. At the 
date of issuing our opinion, the Trust has identified risk-adjusted CIP savings of £18.9 
million, leaving a further £12.8 million to be identified.  

The Trust’s financial position in 2016/17 has improved  compared with the 2015/16 results as 
a consequence of its recovery programme. However it remains in deficit due to a number of 
factors, including reliance on agency staff covering key vacancies, increased length of stay 
and complexity for non-elective activity and resulting reduction in elective work.  

These issues are evidence of weaknesses in proper arrangements for planning finances 
effectively to support the sustainable delivery of strategic priorities and maintain statutory 
functions. 

Qualified Value for Money Conclusion 

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller & Auditor 
General in November 2015, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for 
Qualified Value for Money Conclusion paragraph, we are satisfied that, in all significant 
respects, Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust put in place proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 
March 2017. 

We are required to report to you if: 

 in our opinion the Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance issued
by NHS Improvement; or

 we have reported a matter in the public interest under section 24 of the Act in the
course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

 we have made a written recommendation to the Trust under section 24 of the Act in
the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters. 
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Certificate 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of Maidstone and 
Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust in accordance with the requirements of the Act and the Code of 
Audit Practice. 

Darren Wells 

Darren Wells 
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor 

2nd floor, St John’s House, 
Haslett Avenue West,  
Crawley, West Sussex,  
RH10 1HS 

31 May 2017 
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2016-17 Annual Accounts of Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust 

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE 
ACCOUNTS 

The directors are required under the National Health Service Act 2006 to 
prepare accounts for each financial year. The Secretary of State, with the 
approval of the Treasury, directs that these accounts give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the trust and of the income and expenditure, 
recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the year. In preparing those 
accounts, directors are required to: 

- apply on a consistent basis accounting policies laid down by the Secretary of 
State with the approval of the Treasury; 

- make judgements and estimates which are reasonable and prudent; 

- state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to 
any material departures disclosed and explained in the accounts. 

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the trust 
and to enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements 
outlined in the above mentioned direction of the Secretary of State. They are 
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the trust and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities. 

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have 
complied with the above requirements in preparing the accounts. 

By order of the Board 

25 May 2017 Date____,~~ • .....,,L"""-=;.=...-+1l/'---~"---(.___----Chief Executive 

25 May 2017 Date ___ ~_-_'_ ...... ___ .. -----_...----__ Director of Finance 
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2016-17 Annual Accounts of Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust 

Year ended 31 March 2017 

SUMMARISATION SCHEDULES (TRUs} FOR THE 
MAIDSTONE AND TUNBRIDGE WELLS NHS TRUST 

Summarisation schedules numbered TRU01 to TRU98H plus Freetext are 
attached. 

Director of Finance Certificate 

I certify that the attached summarisation schedules have been compiled from 
and are in accordance with the financial records maintained by the trust and 
with the accounting standards and policies for the NHS approved by the 
Secretary of State. 

25 May 2017 Date--'--'~=· (-"'_ .....,· ,,.c-..-s=-_::::::..~--- Director of Finance 

Chief Executive Certificate 

I acknowledge the attached summarisation schedules, which have been 
prepared and certified by the Director of Finance, as the summarisation 
schedules which the trust is required to submit to the Secretary of State 

25 May 2017 Date ~ ~ ~ . Chief Executive ------------
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Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust - Annual Accounts 2016-17 

Statement of Comprehensive Income for year ended 
31 March 2017 

Gross employee benefits 
Other operating costs 
Revenue from patient care activities 
Other operating revenue 
Operating surplus/(deficit) 

Investment revenue 
Other gains and (losses) 
Finance costs 
Surplus/( deficit) for the financial year 
Public dividend capital dividends payable 
Net Gain/(loss) on transfers by absorption 
Retained surplus/( deficit) for the year 

Other Comprehensive Income 

Impairments and reversals taken to the revaluation reserve 
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant & equipment 
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangibles 
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of available for sale financial assets 
Total comprehensive income for the year 

Financial performance for the year 
Retained surplus/( deficit) for the year 
Prior period adjustment to correct errors and other performance 
adjustments 
IFRIC 12 adjustment (including IFRIC 12 impairments) 
Impairments (excluding IFRIC 12 impairments) 

Adjustments in respect of donated gov't grant asset reserve 
elimination 
Adjusted retained surplus/(deficit) 

NOTE 

10.1 
8 
5 
6 

12 
13 
14 

2016-17 2015-16 
£000s £000s 

(252,156) (246,792) 
(213,965) (173,267) 

384,413 361,792 
46,089 39,138 

(35,619) (19,129) 

34 47 
17 1 

(14,647) (14,349) 
(50,215) (33,430) 

(1,851) (3,882) 
0 0 

(52,066) (37,312) 

2016-17 2015-16 
£000s £000s 

(24,643) (22,820) 
1,161 13,986 

0 0 

0 0 
(75,548) (46,146) 

(52,066) (37,312) 

0 0 
39,832 8,609 

1,461 5,444 

(145) (154) 
(10,918) (23,413) 

The IFRIC 12 adjustment relates to impairments of the PFI assets charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income (SoCI) of £39.8m. Impairments on non PFI assets charged to the SoCI were £1.5m. 

The notes on pages 7 to 41 form part of this account. 
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Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust - Annual Accounts 2016-17 

Statement of Financial Position as at 
31 March 2017 

Non-current assets: 
Property, plant and equipment 
Intangible assets 
Investment property 
Other financial assets 
Trade and other receivables 
Total non-current assets 
Current assets: 
Inventories 
Trade and other receivables 
Other financial assets 
Other current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Sub-total current assets 
Non-current assets held for sale 
Total current assets 
Total assets 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 
Other liabilities 
Provisions 
Borrowings 
Other financial liabilities 
DH revenue support loan 
DH capital loan 
Total current liabilities 
Net current assets/(liabilities) 
Total assets less current liabilities 

Non-current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 
Other liabilities 
Provisions 
Borrowings 
Other financial liabilities 
DH revenue support loan 
DH capital loan 
Total non-current liabilities 
Total assets employed: 

FINANCED BY: 

Public Dividend Capital 
Retained earnings 
Revaluation reserve 
Other reserves 
Total Taxpayers' Equity: 

NOTE 

16 
17 
19 

22.1 

21 
22.1 
24 
25 
26 

27 

28 
29 
35 
30 
31 
30 
30 

28 
29 
35 
30 
31 
30 
30 

The notes on pages 7 to 41 form part of this account. 

31 March 2017 

£000s 

280,190 
3,219 

0 
0 

1,496 
284,905 

7,945 
46,419 

0 
0 

1,420 
55,784 

1,742 
57,526 

342,431 

(56,099) 
0 

(1,744) 
(5,028) 

0 
0 

(4,632) 
(67,503) 

(9,977) 
274,928 

0 
0 

(1,260) 
(198,233) 

0 
(29,040) 
(12,328) 

(240,861) 
34,067 

204,966 
(201,203) 

30,304 
0 

34,067 

31 March 2016 

£000s 

350,397 
3,253 

0 
0 

1,200 
354,850 

8,286 
31,969 

0 
0 

1,197 
41,452 

0 
41,452 

396,302 

(43,038) 
0 

(2,331) 
(4,774) 

0 
0 

(2,174) 
(52,317) 
(10,865) 
343,985 

0 
0 

(1,401) 
(203,261) 

0 
(16,908) 
(14,502) 

(236,072) 
107,913 

203,264 
(149,151) 

53,800 
0 

107,913 

The financial statements on pages 2 to 6 were approved by the Board on 24 May 2017 and signed on 
its behalf by 

Chief Executive: 
l '---­/~ Date: 25 May 2017 
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Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust - Annual Accounts 2016-17 

Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity 
For the year ending 31 March 2017 

Public Retained Revaluation Other Total 
Dividend earnings reserve reserves reserves 
capital 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Balance at 1 April 2016 203,264 (149,151) 53,800 0 107,913 
Changes in taxpayers' equity for 2016-17 
Retained surplus/( deficit) for the year 0 (52,066) 0 0 (52,066) 
Net gain I (loss) on revaluation of property, plant, equipment 0 0 1,161 0 1,161 

Net gain I (loss) on revaluation of intangible assets 0 0 0 0 0 

Net gain I (loss) on revaluation of financial assets 0 0 0 0 0 
Net gain I (loss) on revaluation of available for sale financial 0 0 0 0 0 
Impairments and reversals 0 0 (24,643) 0 (24,643) 

Other gains/(loss) (provide details below) 0 0 0 0 0 
Transfers between reserves 0 14 (14) 0 0 
Reclassification Adjustments 
On disposal of available for sale financial assets 0 0 0 0 0 
Reserves eliminated on dissolution 0 0 0 0 0 
Originating capital for Trust established in year 0 0 0 0 0 
Temporary and permanent PDC received - cash 1,702 0 0 0 1,702 
Temporary and permanent PDC repaid in year 0 0 0 0 0 
PDC written off 0 0 0 0 0 
Other movements 0 0 0 0 0 
Net actuarial gain/(loss) on pension 0 0 0 0 0 
Other pensions remeasurement 0 0 0 0 0 
Net recognised revenue/(expense) for the year 1,702 (52,052} (23,496} 0 (73,846} 
Balance at 31 March 2017 204,966 (201,203) 30,304 0 34,067 

Balance at 1 April 2015 199,548 (111,941) 62,736 0 150,343 
Changes in taxpayers' equity for the year ended 31 March 2016 

Retained surplus/( deficit) for the year 0 (37,312) 0 0 (37,312) 
Net gain I (loss) on revaluation of property, plant, equipment 0 0 13,986 0 13,986 
Net gain I (loss) on revaluation of intangible assets 0 0 0 0 0 
Net gain I (loss) on revaluation of financial assets 0 0 0 0 0 
Net gain I (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 
Impairments and reversals 0 0 (22,820) 0 (22,820) 
Other gains I (loss) 0 0 0 0 0 
Transfers between reserves 0 102 (102) 0 0 
Reclassification Adjustments 
On disposal of available for sale financial assets 0 0 0 0 0 
Originating capital for Trust established in year 0 0 0 0 0 
New PDC received - cash 3,716 0 0 0 3,716 
PDC repaid in year 0 0 0 0 0 
Other movements 0 0 0 0 0 
Net actuarial gain/(loss) on pension 0 0 0 0 0 
Other pension remeasurement 0 0 0 0 0 
Net recognised revenue/( expense) for the year 3,716 (37,210) (8,936) 0 (42,430) 
Balance at 31 March 2016 203,264 ~149,151) 53,800 0 107,913 
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Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust - Annual Accounts 2016-17 

Information on reserves 

Public dividend capital 

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities. Additional 
PDC may also be issued to NHS Trusts by the Department of Health. A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the 
NHS foundation trust, is payable to the Department of Health as the public dividend capital dividend. 

2 Income and expenditure reserve 
The balance of this reserve is the accumulated surpluses and deficits of the NHS Trust. These are not adjusted for technical 
items as allowed in the break even duty performance, such as: impairments and the impact of on the Statement of Financial 
Position (SoFP) accounting for the Private Finance Initiative (PFI). 

3 Revaluation Reserve 
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent 
that, they reverse impairments previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating 
income. Subsequent downward movements in asset valuations are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that a 
previous gain was recognised unless the downward movement represents a clear consumption of economic benefit or a 
reduction in service potential. 

4 Otherreserves 
The Trust has no other reserves 

5 Charitable Funds Reserve 
The Trust has not consolidated the charity accounts within the main exchequer accounts so this note is not used. 
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Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust-Annual Accounts 2016-17 

Statement of Cash Flows for the Year ended 31 March 2017 

2016-17 2015-16 
NOTE £000s £000s 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
Operating surplus/( deficit) (35,619) (19,129) 
Depreciation and amortisation 8 13,255 13,816 
Impairments and reversals 18 41,293 13,369 
Other gains/(losses) on foreign exchange 13 0 0 
Donated Assets received credited to revenue but non-cash 6 0 0 
Government Granted Assets received credited to revenue but non-cash 0 0 
Release of PFl/deferred credit 0 0 
(lncrease)/Decrease in Inventories 341 (1,767) 
(lncrease)/Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables (14,436) 2,006 
(lncrease)/Decrease in Other Current Assets 0 0 
lncrease/(Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables 11,216 13,745 
(lncrease)/Decrease in Other Current Liabilities 0 0 
Provisions utilised 35 (907) (1,136) 
lncrease/(Decrease) in movement in non cash provisions 133 486 
Net Cash lnflow/(Outflow) from Operating Activities 15,276 21,390 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
Interest Received 12 34 47 
(Payments) for Property, Plant and Equipment (6,834) (18,294) 
(Payments) for Intangible Assets (902) (843) 
(Payments) for Investments with DH 0 0 
Proceeds of disposal of assets held for sale (PPE) 0 0 
Proceeds of disposal of assets held for sale (Intangible) 0 0 
Net Cash lnflow/(Outflow) from Investing Activities (7,702) (19,090) 

Net Cash Inflow I (outflow) before Financing 7,574 2,300 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
Gross Temporary and Permanent PDC Received 1,702 3,716 

Gross Temporary and Permanent PDC Repaid 0 0 
Loans received from DH - New Capital Investment Loans 0 0 

Loans received from DH - New Revenue Support Loans 14,840 29,408 

Other Loans Received 0 0 
Loans repaid to DH - Capital Investment Loans Repayment of Principal (2,174) (2,174) 

Loans repaid to DH - Working Capital Loans/Revenue Support Loans (250) (12,500) 

Other Loans Repaid 0 0 

Capital Element of Payments in Respect of Finance Leases and On-SoFP PFI and LIFT (4,774) (4,776) 

Interest paid 14 (14,641) (14,343) 

PDC Dividend (paid)/refunded (2,054) (4,273) 
Capital grants and other capital receipts (excluding donated I government granted cash 
receipts) 0 43 

Net Cash lnflow/(Outflow) from Financing Activities (7,351) (4,899) 

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26 223 (2,599) 

Cash and Cash Equivalents (and Bank Overdraft) at Beginning of the Period 1,197 3,796 

Effect of exchange rate changes in the balance of cash held in foreign currencies 0 0 

Cash and Cash Equivalents (and Bank Overdraft) at year end 26 1,420 1,197 
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Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust-Annual Accounts 2016-17 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

1. Accounting Policies 
The Secretary of State for Health has directed that the financial statements of NHS trusts shall meet the accounting requirements 
of the Department of Health Group Manual for Accounts, which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the following 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the DH Group Accounting Manual (GAM) 2016-17 issued by the 
Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in that manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the 
extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial 
Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Manual for Accounts permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is 
judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the trust for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been 
selected. The particular policies adopted by the trust are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with 
items considered material in relation to the accounts. 

1.1 Accounting convention 
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant 
and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities. 

Going Concern 

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis 

The DH Group Accounting Manual (GAM) requires the management of the Trust to consider the following public sector 
interpretation of IAS 1 in respect of applying the going concern assumption when preparing its accounts, stating: 

'For non-trading entities in the public sector, the anticipated continuation of the provision of a service in the future, as evidenced by 
inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents, is normally sufficient evidence of going concern. DH group 
bodies should therefore prepare their accounts on a going concern basis unless informed by the relevant national body or DH 
sponsor of the intention for dissolution without transfer of services or function to another entity.' 

The Trust has prepared its 2016/17 accounts on a "going concern" basis following consideration of the following:-

- There has been no expectation raised in the public arena that healthcare services will not continue to be provided from the two 
hospital sites. 
- The Trust submitted business plans to NHSI in December 2016 (refreshed for some specific updates in March 2017) setting out 
its plans for the following two operating years (2017/18 and 2018/19). These plans include acceptance of the nationally set 
revenue "control total" to which the Trust has confirmed sign up. Achievement of these plans would return the Trust into revenue 
breakeven. 
- The Trust has fully participated in the Kent & Medway Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) process including the 
submission of the forward 5 year financial and operating plans on a going concern basis. 
- The Trust has agreed/signed contracts for provision of healthcare services for 2017/18 including a new "aligned incentives" 
approach with its main CCG. 
- The Trust has prepared and submitted cash-flow forecasts for 2017/18 and 2018/19 which do not include assumptions of 
additional required working capital finance. 

The Trust does not consider that there are any material uncertainties that affect this judgement of going concern. 

1.2 Acquisitions and discontinued operations 
Activities are considered to be 'acquired' only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are considered to be 
'discontinued' only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be 'discontinued' if they transfer from one public sector body 
to another. 

1.3 Movement of assets within the DH Group 
Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the Treasury Financial 
Reporting Manual (FReM). The FReM does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been 
accounted for under merger accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their 
transactions in the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the 
public sector. Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the SOCI, and is disclosed separately 
from operating costs. 

Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to income and 
expenditure entries. 

1.4 Charitable Funds 
Under the provisions of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, those Charitable Funds that fall under common 
control with NHS bodies are consolidated within the entity's financial statements. In accordance with IAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements, restated prior period accounts are presented where the adoption of the new policy has a material impact. 

The Charitable Funds for this trust are not material for 2016-17 and have not been consolidated. See policy note 1.32 

1.5 Pooled Budgets 
The Trust does not have any pooled budgets 
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Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust-Annual Accounts 2016-17 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

1.6 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

In the application of the NHS Trust's accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual 
results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

1.6.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below 1.6.2) that management has made in 
the process of applying the NHS trust's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements. 

For 2016/17 the Trust has identified the following critical judgements that are required to be disclosed under IAS1 paragraph 122. 
All other material judgements within this financial year relate to estimations and are disclosed in the relevant notes (see 1.6.2) 

Material areas of critical judgements within the 2016/17 accounts are as follows: 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as set out in note 1.1. In preparing the financial 
statements the directors have considered the Trust's overall financial position and expectation of future contractual income, cost 
improvements and Sustainability and Transformation Funding (STF). The Trust has submitted a two year financial plan for 
2017/18 and 2018/19 to NHS Improvement which delivers agreed control totals and, including planned STF funding, £6.7m 
surplus for 2017/18 and £11.1 m surplus for 2018/19. Note 5 (Revenue) contains a reference in respect of future STF Funding. 

The Trust has applied the concept of Modem Equivalent Asset (MEA) to estimate the valuation of its property assets, as 
applicable, under the guidance of the DH GAM and its independent professional valuers. Please see note 16.3 for further 
information. 

Charitable Funds are not material for the Trust and have not been consolidated (see note 1.4). 

The Trust's PFI contract continues to be accounted for under IFRIC 12 principles as service concession arrangement with the trust 
recognising an infrastructure asset and a corresponding finance lease liability, under IAS 17. 

1.6.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

Key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year where arising, will be disclosed within the relevant note. The disclosure will include the nature of the assumption and the 
carrying amount of the asset/liability at the Statement of Financial Position date, sensitivity of the carrying amount to the 
assumptions, expected resolution of uncertainty and range of possible outcomes within the next financial year. The disclosure will 
also include an expectation of changes to past assumptions if the uncertainty remains unresolved. 

Material areas including estimations within the 2016/17 accounts are as follows: 
Property, Plant and Equipment valuation including PFI infrastructure assets (see note 16.3) 
Pension fund valuation (see note10.3). 

1.7 Revenue 
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the 
fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of revenue for the Trust is from commissioners for healthcare services. 
Revenue relating to patient care spells that are part-completed at the year end are apportioned across the financial years on the 
basis of length of stay at the end of the reporting period compared to expected total length of stay. 

Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and interest rate applicable. 

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred. 

The NHS Trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of treating injured 
individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid e.g. by an insurer. The NHS Trust recognises the 
income when it receives notification from the Department of Work and Pension's Compensation Recovery Unit that the individual 
has lodged a compensation claim. The income is measured at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured 
individual, less a provision for unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful debts. 
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Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust - Annual Accounts 2016-17 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

1.8 Employee Benefits 

Short-term employee benefits 
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, 
except for bonuses earned but not yet taken which, like leave earned but not yet taken is not accrued for at the year end, on the 
grounds of immateriality. 

Retirement benefit costs 
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined 
benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of 
State in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their 
share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined 
contribution schemes: the cost to the NHS body of participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the 
scheme for the accounting period. 

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full 
amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the NHS Trust commits itself to the retirement, 
regardless of the method of payment. 

The Trust participates in the National Employees Savings Trust (NEST} scheme as an alternative to those employees who are not 
eligible to join the NHS Pension Scheme. This came into effect in July 2013 for this Trust as part of the auto enrolment 
requirements introduced by the Government. NEST is a defined contribution scheme with a phased employer contribution rate, 
currently 1 %. 

The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year. 

1.9 Other expenses 
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are 
measured at the fair value of the consideration payable. 

1.10 Property, plant and equipment 

Recognition 
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if: 
• it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes; 
• it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the NHS Trust; 
• it is expected to be used for more than one financial year; 
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and either 
• the item cost at least £5,000; or 
• Collectively, a number of items have a total cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the 
assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous 
disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or 

• Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or 
collective cost. 

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the 
components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives, where this would lead to a 
different depreciation profile. In respect of building and dwelling assets, the Trust has determined that it is appropriate to 
depreciate the component blocks of the two hospital sites and individual dwellings separately, as this takes into consideration the 
age and condition of the asset components and their differing depreciation profile and follows the external valuation schedules. 
The individual elements (e.g. walls, floors, lifts, heating etc.) within these blocks are not deemed to be significant in relation to the 
block assets. 

Valuation 
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acqu1nng or 
constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management. Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured subsequently at their 
current value in existing use. Assets that were most recently held for their service potential but are surplus are measured at fair 
value where there are no restrictions preventing access to the market at the reporting date. 

Land and buildings used for the Trust's services or for administrative purposes are stated in the statement of financial position at 
their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment. 

Revaluations of property, plant and equipment are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not 
materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Current values in existing use are 
determined as follows: 

• Land and non-specialised buildings - market value for existing use. 
• Specialised buildings - depreciated replacement cost, modern equivalent asset basis. 

HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets 
and, where it would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued. 
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Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust -Annual Accounts 2016-17 

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

The financial year 2016/17 is the seccnd year in the current 5 year cyclical valuation period. A full valuation was undertaken in 
September 2014 with a desktop valuation at 31st March 2015. In keeping with the Trust's policies the Trust commissioned 
professional valuers, Montagu Evans LLP, to carry out a desktop valuation of the Trust's Land, Building and Dwelling assets at 
30th September 2016 and the Trust have reviewed values at year end in the light of overall movements in BCIS indices. The lead 
relationship partner from Montagu Evans LLP is qualified to BSc MRICS. The results are recorded in the property plant and 
equipment note 16.3. 

Properties in the course of ccnstruction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost 
includes professional fees and, where capitalised in accordance with IAS 23, borrowing costs. Assets are revalued and 
depreciation commences when they are brought into use. 

IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use are valued at 
depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful eccnomic lives or low values or both, as this is not ccnsidered to be 
materially different from current value in existing use. The Trust annually reviews annually high value plant and machinery assets 
(net book value over £1 OOk) to ensure these are held at the correct values and remaining useful lives. For 2016/17 the Trust 
reviewed all plant and machinery (P&M) assets to ensure the accurate assessment of remaining asset lives. IT assets are also 
subject to annual review. 

An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset 
previously reccgnised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged 
there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of eccnomic value or service potential is reccgnised as an 
impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to 
expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit should be taken to expenditure. Gains 
and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. Any residual balance in the revaluation reserve in respect to an individual asset is transferred to the retained earnings 
reserve on disposal of the asset. 

Subsequent expenditure 
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable ccst is capitalised. 
Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing 
carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses. 

1.11 Intangible assets 

Recognition 
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of the 
trust's business or which arise from ccntractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only when it is probable that future 
eccnomic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the trust; where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably, 
and where the cost is at least £5000. 

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. Software that is integral to the operation of hardware, for 
example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not 
integral to the operation of hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on 
research is not capitalised: it is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated 
assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated: 
• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use; 
• the intention to complete the intangible asset and use it; 
• the ability to sell or use the intangible asset; 
• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential; 
• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or use it; and 
• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development 

Measurement 
The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date 
when the criteria above are initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is 
recognised in the period in which it is incurred. 

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to an active market, or, 
where no active market exists, at the lower of amortised replacement cost (modern equivalent assets basis) and value in use 
where the asset is inccme generating. Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of 
increases in development ccsts and technological advances. 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

1.12 Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 

Freehold land, assets under construction or development, and assets held for sale are not depreciated/amortised. 

Otherwise, depreciation or amortisation is charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated 
useful life of an asset is the period over which the NHS Trust expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the 
asset. This is specific to the NHS trust and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and 
residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under 
finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives. 

At each financial year-end, the NHS Trust checks whether there is any indication that its property, plant and equipment or 
intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of such an impairment, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet 
available for use are tested for impairment annually at the financial year end. 

Estimated useful lives for non current assets are adopted as follows: 

Buildings & Dwellings 
Plant and Machinery 
Furniture and Fittings 
Information Technology Hardware 
Vehicles 
X ray Tubes 
Software Licences (intangibles) 
IT - In House and Third Party Software (intangibles) 

1 - 60 
5-15 

10 
3-5 
5 -15 

2 
3-5 
2-7 

At each reporting period end, the NHS Trust checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or intangible non-current 
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested 
for impairment annually. 

A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment 
charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. 
Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss 
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but 
capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment 
loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve. 

Impairments are analysed between Departmental Expenditure Limits (DEL} and Annually Managed Expenditure (AME). This is 
necessary to comply with Treasury's budgeting guidance. DEL limits are set in the Spending Review and Departments may not 
exceed the limits that they have been set. 

1.13 Donated assets 
Donated non-current assets are capitalised at current value in existing use, if they will be held for their service potential, or 
otherwise at value on receipt, with a matching credit to income. They are valued, depreciated and impaired as described above for 
purchased assets. Gains and losses on revaluations, impairments and sales are treated in the same way as for purchased assets. 
Deferred income is recognised only where conditions attached to the donation preclude immediate recognition of the gain. 

1.14 Government grants 
Government grant funded assets are capitalised at current value in existing use, if they will be held for their service potential, or 
otherwise at fair value on receipt, with a matching credit to income. Deferred income is recognised only where conditions attached 
to the grant preclude immediate recognition of the gain. 

1.15 Non-current assets held for sale 
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met when the sale is highly probable, the asset is available for 
immediate sale in its present condition and management is committed to the sale, which is expected to qualify for recognition as a 
completed sale within one year from the date of classification. Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their 
previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Fair value is open market value including alternative uses. 

The profit or loss arising on disposal of an asset is the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount and is 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. On disposal, the balance for the asset on the revaluation reserve is 
transferred to retained earnings. 

Property, plant and equipment that is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as held for sale. Instead, it is 
retained as an operational asset and its economic life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when it is scrapped or demolished. 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

1.16 Leases 
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All 
other leases are classified as operating leases. 

The Trust as lessee 
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if 
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease 
payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the trust's surplus/deficit. 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are 
recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether 
they are operating or finance leases. 

The NHS Trust as lessor 
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the NHS Trust's net investment in 
the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the 
Trust's net investment outstanding in respect of the leases. 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred 
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight· 
line basis over the lease term. 

1.17 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions 
HM Treasury has determined that government bodies shall account for infrastructure PFI schemes where the government body 
controls the use of the infrastructure and the residual interest in the infrastructure at the end of the arrangement as service 
concession arrangements, following the principles of the requirements of IFRIC 12. The Trust therefore recognises the PFI asset 
as an item of property, plant and equipment together with a liability to pay for it. The services received under the contract are 
recorded as operating expenses. 

The annual unitary payment is separated into the following component parts, using appropriate estimation techniques where 
necessary: 

a) Payment for the fair value of services received; 
b) Payment for the PFI asset, including finance costs; and 

c) Payment for the replacement of components of the asset during the contract 'lifecycle replacement'. 

Services received 
The fair value of services received in the year is recorded under the relevant expenditure headings within 'operating expenses' 

PFI Asset 
The PFI assets are recognised as property, plant and equipment, when they come into use. The assets are measured initially at 
fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, in accordance with the principles of IAS 17. 
Subsequently, the assets are measured at current value in existing use, which is kept up to date in accordance with the Trust's 
approach for each relevant class of asset in accordance with the principles of IAS 16. 

PFI liability 
A PFI liability is recognised at the same time as the PFI assets are recognised. It is measured initially at the same amount as the 
initial value of the PFI assets and is subsequently measured as a finance lease liability in accordance with IAS 17. 

An annual finance cost is calculated by applying the implicit interest rate in the lease to the opening lease liability for the period, 
and is charged to 'Finance Costs' within the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

The element of the annual unitary payment that is allocated as a finance lease rental is applied to meet the annual finance cost 
and to repay the lease liability over the contract term. 

An element of the annual unitary payment increase due to cumulative indexation is allocated to the finance lease. In accordance 
with IAS 17, this amount is not included in the minimum lease payments, but is instead treated as contingent rent and is expensed 
as incurred. In substance, this amount is a finance cost in respect of the liability and the expense is presented as a contingent 
finance cost in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

page 11 

Page 92

kevin.rowan
Stamp

kevin.rowan
Rectangle



Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust-Annual Accounts 2016-17 
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Lifecycle replacement 
Components of the asset replaced by the operator during the contract ('lifecycle replacement') are capitalised where they meet the 
NHS Trust's criteria for capital expenditure. They are capitalised at the time they are provided by the operator and are measured 
initiallv at their fair value. 

The element of the annual unitary payment allocated to lifecycle replacement is pre-determined for each year of the contract from 
the operator's planned programme of lifecycle replacement. Where the lifecycle component is provided earlier or later than 
expected, a short-term accrual or prepayment is recognised respectively. 

Where the fair value of the lifecycle component is less than the amount determined in the contract, the difference is recognised as 
an expense when the replacement is provided. If the fair value is greater than the amount determined in the contract, the 
difference is treated as a 'free' asset and a deferred income balance is recognised. The deferred income is released to operating 
income over the shorter of the remaining contract period or the useful economic life of the replacement component. 

Assets contributed by the NHS Trust to the operator for use in the scheme 
Assets contributed for use in the scheme continue to be recognised as items of property, plant and equipment in the NHS Trust's 
Statement of Financial Position. 

Other assets contributed by the NHS trust to the operator 
Assets contributed (e.g. cash payments, surplus property) by the NHS Trust to the operator before the asset is brought into use, 
which are intended to defray the operator's capital costs, are recognised initially as prepayments during the construction phase of 
the contract. Subsequently, when the asset is made available to the NHS Trust, the prepayment is treated as an initial payment 
towards the finance lease liability and is set against the carrying value of the liability. 

1.18 Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the first-in first-out cost formula. This is considered to be 
a reasonable approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks. 

1.19 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. 
Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and 
that form an integral part of the NHS Trust's cash management. 

1.20 Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the NHS Trust has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that the Trust will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the 
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows 
estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury's discount rates. 

Early retirement provisions are discounted using HM Treasury's pension discount rate of positive 0.24% (2015-16: positive 1.37%) 
in real terms. All other provisions are subject to three separate discount rates according to the expected timing of cash flows from 
the Statement of Financial Position date: 
•A short term rate of negative 2.70% (2015-16: negative 1.55%) for expected cash flows up to and including 5 years 

•A medium term rate of negative 1.95% (2015-16: negative 1.00%) for expected cash flows over 5 years up to and including 10 
years 

•A long term rate of negative 0.80% (2015-16: negative 0.80%) for expected cash flows over 10 years. 

All percentages are in real terms. 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the 
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable 
can be measured reliablv. 

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as a provision. An onerous contract is 
considered to exist where the Trust has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the 
contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it. 

A restructuring provision is recognised when the NHS Trust has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has 
raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its 
main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising 
from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with 
ongoing activities of the entity. 

1.21 Clinical negligence costs 
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the 
NHSLA, which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHSLA is 
administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the NHS Trust. The total value of 
clinical nealiaence orovisions carried bv the NHS LA on behalf of the trust is disclosed at Note 35. 
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1.22 Non-clinical risk pooling 
The NHS Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling 
schemes under which the NHS Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives 
assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of 
particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due. 

1.23 Carbon Reduction Commitment Scheme (CRC) 
CRC and similar allowances are accounted for as government grant funded intangible assets if they are not expected to be 
realised within twelve months, and otherwise as other current assets. They are valued at open market value. As the NHS Trust 
makes emissions, a provision is recognised with an offsetting transfer from deferred income. The provision is settled on surrender 
of the allowances. The asset, provision and deferred income amounts are valued at fair value at the end of the reporting period. 

1.24 Contingencies 
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the NHS Trust, or a present 
obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of 
the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is 
remote. 

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or 
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the NHS Trust. A contingent asset is 
disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value. 

1.25 Financial assets 
Financial assets are recognised when the NHS Trust becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade 
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights 
have exoired or the asset has been transferred. 

Financial assets are classified into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit and loss; held to maturity 
investments; available for sale financial assets, and loans and receivables. The classification depends on the nature and purpose 
of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives 
whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at 
fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in calculating the NHS Trust's surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or 
loss incorporates any interest earned on the financial asset. 

Held to maturity investments 
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity, and where 
there is a positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial recognition, they are held at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method. 

Available for sale financial assets 
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or that do not fall 
within any of the other three financial asset classifications. They are measured at fair value with changes in value taken to the 
revaluation reserve, with the exception of impairment losses. Accumulated gains or losses are recycled to surplus/deficit on de­
recognition. 

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active 
market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. 
Interest is recognised using the effective interest method. 

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value. Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where 
possible, otherwise by valuation techniques. The Trust has issued no loans, receivables are held at cost as this is believed to be 
not materially different to the initial fair value of the financial asset. 
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1.26 Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the NHS Trust becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial 
liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired. 

Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historic cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair 
value. The Trust's liabilities are held at cost as this is not believed to be materially different to fair value in respect of current 
liabilities. 

Financial guarantee contract liabilities 
The Trust has no financial guarantee contract liabilities 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives 
whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held 
at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the NHS Trust's surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any 
interest payable on the financial liability. 

The Trust does not have any embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to the host contracts, therefore the 
Trust does not have any financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. 

Other financial liabilities 
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for 
loans from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is 
recognised using the effective interest method. 

1.27 Value Added Tax 
Most of the activities of the trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on 
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised 
purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 

1.28 Foreign currencies 
The NHS Trust's functional and presentational currency is sterling. Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated 
into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting exchange gains and losses 
for either of these are recognised in the Trust's surplus/deficit in the period in which they arise. 

1.29 Third party assets 
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since the Trust has 
no beneficial interest in them. Details of third party assets are given in Note 45 to the accounts. 

1.30 Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC dividend 
Public dividend capital represents taxpayers' equity in the NHS Trust. At any time the Secretary of State can issue new PDC to, 
and require repayments of PDC from, the trust. PDC is recorded at the value received. As PDC is issued under legislation rather 
than under contract, it is not treated as an equity financial instrument. 

An annual charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the trust, is payable to the Department of Health as public dividend 
capital dividend. The charge is calculated at the real rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average carrying amount of 
all assets less liabilities (except for donated assets and cash balances with the Government Banking Service). The average 
carrying amount of assets is calculated as a simple average of opening and closing relevant net assets. 

In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend for the year is 
calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the "pre-audit" version of the annual accounts. The dividend thus 
calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a result the audit of the annual accounts. 

1.31 Losses and Special Payments 
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service 
or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control 
procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that 
individual cases are handled. 

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including 
losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the NHS trust not been bearing its own risks (with 
insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure). However the note on losses and special payments is 
compiled directly from the losses and compensations register which is prepared on an accruals basis. 
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1.32 Subsidiaries 
Material entities over which the NHS Trust has the power to exercise control are classified as subsidiaries and are consolidated. 
The NHS Trust has control when it is exposed to or has rights to variable returns through its power over another entity. The 
income and expenses; gains and losses; assets, liabilities and reserves; and cash flows of the subsidiary are consolidated in full 
into the appropriate financial statement lines. Appropriate adjustments are made on consolidation where the subsidiary's 
accounting policies are not aligned with the NHS Trust or where the subsidiary's accounting date is not co-terminus. 

Subsidiaries that are classified as 'held for sale' are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or 'fair value less costs to sell'. 

Following Treasury's agreement to apply IAS 27 to NHS Charities from 1st April 2013, the Trust has established that as the trust is 
the corporate trustee of the linked NHS charity - Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Charitable Fund (Charity registration 
1055215), it effectively has the power to exercise control so as to obtain economic benefit. However the transactions are 
immaterial in the context of the group and transactions have not been consolidated. Details of the transactions with the charity are 
included in the related parties' notes. 

The Trust has no subsidiaries. 

1.33 Associates 
Material entities over which the NHS Trust has the power to exercise significant influence so as to obtain economic or other 
benefits are classified as associates and are recognised in the NHS Trust's accounts using the equity method. The investment is 
recognised initially at cost and is adjusted subsequently to reflect the NHS trust share of the entity's profit/loss and other 
gains/losses. It is also reduced when any distribution is received by the NHS Trust from the entity. 

Associates that are classified as 'held for sale' are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or 'fair value less costs to sell' 

The Trust has no associates. 

1.34 Joint arrangements 
Material entities over which the NHS Trust has joint control with one or more other entities are classified as joint arrangements. 
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement. A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a 
joint venture. The Trust has no joint arrangements. 

A joint operation exists where the parties that have joint control have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to 
the arrangement. Where the NHS Trust is a joint operator it recognises its share of, assets, liabilities, income and expenses in its 
own accounts. The Trust has no joint operations. 

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets 
of the arrangement. Joint ventures are recognised as an investment and accounted for using the equity method. The Trust has no 
joint ventures. 

1.35 Research and Development 
Research and development expenditure is charged against income in the year in which it is incurred, except insofar as 
development expenditure relates to a clearly defined project and the benefits of it can reasonably be regarded as assured. 
Expenditure so deferred is limited to the value of future benefits expected and is amortised through the SOCI on a systematic 
basis over the period expected to benefit from the project. It should be revalued on the basis of current cost. The amortisation is 
calculated on the same basis as depreciation, on a quarterly basis. 

1.36 Accounting Standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted 
The HM Treasury FReM does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2016-17. These standards 
are still subject to HM Treasury FReM interpretation, with IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 being for implementation in 2018-19, and the 
government implementation date for IFRS 16 still subject to HM Treasury consideration. 

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, but not yet 
adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted 

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers - Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2018, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted 

• IFRS 16 Leases - Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but not yet adopted by the 
FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted. 

1.37 Gifts 
Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the expectation of any return. Gifts include all 
transactions economically equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, such as the loan of an asset for its expected useful life, 
and the sale or lease of assets at below market value. 
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2. Pooled budget 
Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust does not have any pooled budgets. 

3. Operating segments 
Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust reports under a single segment of Healthcare. The Trust has considered the possibility of reporting 
two segments, relating to Healthcare and Non Healthcare Income, but this does not reflect current Trust Board reporting practice which reports 
on both the aggregate Trust position and by Directorate. Each of the significant directorates are deemed to have similar economic 
characteristics under the Healthcare banner and can therefore be aggregated in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 8. 

The Trust's income is predominantly from contracts for the provision of healthcare with Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and NHS 
England. This accounts for 86% of the Trust's total income. 

4. Income generation activities 
The Trust undertakes income generation activities with an aim of achieving profit, which is then used in patient care. The following provides 
details of income generation activities whose full cost exceeded £1 m. 

Summary Table - aggregate of all schemes 

Income 
Full cost 
Surplus/( deficit) 

Car Parking 
Income 
Full cost 
Surplus/( deficit) 

Catering 
Income 
Full cost 
Surplus/( deficit) 

5. Revenue from patient care activities 

NHS Trusts 
NHS England 
Clinical Commissioning Groups 
Foundation Trusts 
Department of Health 
NHS Other (including Public Health England and Prop Co) 
Additional income for delivery of healthcare services 
Non-NHS: 

Local Authorities 
Private patients 
Overseas patients (non-reciprocal) 
Injury costs recovery 
Other Non-NHS patient care income 

Total Revenue from patient care activities 

2016-17 
£000s 

4,247 
(2,913) 

1,334 

2,324 
(1,795) 

529 

1,280 
(648) 

632 

2016-17 
£000s 

1,940 
79,154 

290,681 
1,511 

8 
505 

0 

4,602 
4,799 

321 
762 
130 

384,413 

2015-16 
£000s 

4,062 
(2,993) 

1,069 

2,232 
(1,811) 

421 

1,315 
(753) 

562 

2015-16 
£000s 

1,407 
74,541 

270,212 
1,405 

0 
718 

0 

4,799 
6,935 

504 
1,167 

104 
361,792 

Injury cost recovery income is subject to a provision for impairment of receivables which the trust has estimated using historical information for 
each main site. The provision rates are 21.93% for Maidstone Hospital and 16.25% for Tunbridge Wells Hospital (19% Maidstone Hospital and 
14.28% Tunbridge Wells Hospital in 2015/16). This provision reflects expected rates of collection. 

Included within revenue from NHS England for 2016-17 is £8.0m of central PFI financial support (2015-16 £12m). The local support concluded 
in 2015/16. The Trust's 2017-18 plan includes £8m recurrent central PFI support. 

Central Support for PFI scheme (excluding inflation) 
NHS England local support for PFI scheme 

2016-17 

£000s 
8,000 

0 
8,000 

2015-16 

£000s 
8,000 
4,000 

12,000 
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Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust- Annual Accounts 2016-17 

6. Other operating revenue 

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits 
Patient transport services 
Education, training and research 
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure - NHS 
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure -non- NHS 
Receipt of charitable donations for capital acquisitions 
Support from DH for mergers 
Receipt of Government grants for capital acquisitions 
Non-patient care services to other bodies 
Sustainability & Transformation Fund Income 
Income generation (Other fees and charges) 
Rental revenue from finance leases 
Rental revenue from operating leases 
Other revenue 
Total Other Operating Revenue 

Total operating revenue 

2016-17 
£000s 

0 
0 

13,080 
0 
0 

361 
0 
0 

20,159 
5,677 
4,247 

0 
23 

2,542 
46,089 

430,502 

2015-16 
£000s 

0 
0 

11,388 
0 
0 

610 
0 
0 

15,553 
0 

4,062 
0 

23 
7,502 

39,138 

400,930 

Other Operating Revenue included £7.8m income in 2015/16 for the Health Informatics Service that was hosted by the Trust until 31st March 
2016. 

Included within other operating income for 2016-17 is £5.677m of Sustainability and Transformation Funding (STF). The Trust's 2017-18 plan 
includes £11.177m of STF funding. 

NHS England STF funding 

7. Overseas Visitors Disclosure 

Income recognised during 2016-17 (invoiced amounts and accruals) 
Cash payments received in-year (re receivables at 31 March 2016) 
Cash payments received in-year (re invoices issued 2016-17) 
Amounts added to provision for impairment of receivables (re receivables at 31 March 2016) 
Amounts added to provision for impairment of receivables (re invoices issued 2016-17) 
Amounts written off in-year (irrespective of year of recognition) 

2016-17 
£000s 

5,677 

2016-17 
£000s 

321 
25 
95 
27 

138 
0 

2015-16 
£000s 

2015-16 
£000s 

0 

504 
18 

361 
0 

120 
30 
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Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust- Annual Accounts 2016-17 

8. Operating expenses 

Services from other NHS Trusts 
Services from CCGs/NHS England 
Services from other NHS bodies 
Services from NHS Foundation Trusts 
Total Services from NHS bodies* 
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 
Purchase of Social Care 
Trust Chair and Non-executive Directors 
Supplies and services - clinical 
Supplies and services - general 
Consultancy services 
Establishment 
Transport 
Service charges - ON-SOFP PFls and other service concession arrangements 
Total charges - Off-SOFP PFls and other service concession arrangements 
Business rates paid to local authorities 
Premises 
Hospitality 
Insurance 
Legal Fees 
Impairments and Reversals of Receivables 
Inventories write down 
Depreciation 
Amortisation 
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment 
Impairments and reversals of intangible assets 
Impairments and reversals of financial assets 
Impairments and reversals of non current assets held for sale 
Internal Audit Fees 
Audit fees 
Other auditor's remuneration** 
Clinical negligence 
Research and development (excluding staff costs) 
Education and Training 
Change in Discount Rate 
Capital Grants in Kind 
Other 
Total Operating expenses (excluding employee benefits) 

Employee Benefits 
Employee benefits excluding Board members 
Board members 
Total Employee Benefits 

Total Operating Expenses 

*Services from NHS bodies does not include expenditure which falls into a category below 
**this relates to the quality audit which has not previously been separated from the audit fees 

2016-17 
£000s 

246 
18 

338 
7,071 
7,673 
8,643 

0 
75 

86,531 
5,618 
3,839 
3,778 
1,633 
4,268 

0 
3,353 

12,717 
0 

384 
249 

(421) 
0 

12,303 
952 

41,293 
0 
0 
0 

151 
89 
13 

18,231 
0 

937 
40 

0 
1,616 

213,965 

250,818 
1,338 

252,156 

466,121 

2015-16 
£000s 

299 
12 

193 
6,155 
6,659 
7,752 

0 
80 

78,755 
5,761 
1,001 
3,997 
1,591 
4,120 

0 
1,590 

13,473 
0 

342 
843 
378 

0 
12,973 

843 
13,369 

0 
0 
0 

171 
90 
13 

16,573 
0 

1,060 
(3) 

0 
1,836 

173,267 

245,713 
1,079 

246,792 

420,059 
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Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust - Annual Accounts 2016-17 

9. Operating Leases 
The three main operating leases with values charged to operating expenses in year are disclosed below: 

Danwood - lease of photocopiers and printers under a managed service arrangement £875k (£696k 2015-16). This arrangement was 
renegotiated within the terms of the contract during 2016/17. The contract is expected to complete in June 2021 

Ash Corporate Finance - lease of the laundry land, buildings and equipment £323k (£323k 2015-16). The lease is for a 25 year term and 
contains a break clause in December 2020. 

Roche Diagnostic Limited - lease of equipment to support the pathology and clinical chemistry managed service £253k (£253k 2015-16). This 
arrangement completes in June 2017 with an option to extend for up to a further 3 years. 

There are no purchase options or escalation clauses and there are no restrictions imposed by the lease arrangements. 

9.1. Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust as lessee 
2016-17 

Land Build Other Total 2015-16 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Payments recognised as an expense 
Minimum lease payments 2,104 2,256 

Contingent rents 0 0 

Sub-lease payments 0 0 

Total 2,104 2,256 

Payable: 
No later than one year 539 1,573 2,112 1,824 

Between one and five years 1,956 6,059 8,015 3,698 

After five years 1,300 0 1,300 1,692 

Total 0 3,795 7,632 11,427 7,214 

Total future sublease payments expected to be received: 0 0 

9.2. Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust as lessor 
The Trust leases an element of land on the Maidstone Hospital site to a day nursery contractor. 

2016-17 2015-16 
£000s £000s 

Recognised as revenue 
Rental revenue 23 23 

Contingent rents 0 0 

Total 23 23 

Receivable: 
No later than one year 29 29 

Between one and five years 147 115 

After five years 206 230 

Total 382 374 
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Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust-Annual Accounts 2016-17 

10. Employee benefits 

10.1. Employee benefits 

Employee Benefits - Gross Expenditure 
Salaries and wages 
Social security costs 
Employer Contributions to NHS BSA - Pensions Division 
Other pension costs 
Termination benefits 
Total employee benefits 

Employee costs capitalised 
Gross Employee Benefits excluding capitalised costs 

2016-17 
Total 

£000s 

212,997 
18,526 
22,850 

6 
0 

254,379 

(2,223) 
252,156 

2015-16 
Total 

£000s 

212,514 
14,350 
22,310 

3 
478 

249,655 

(2,863) 
246,792 

Further information on staff benefits by category of staff, exit packages and staff sickness absence is now reported in the remuneration and staff 
section of the Trust's annual report. 

10.2. Retirements due to ill-health 

Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds 

Total additional pensions liabilities accrued in the year 

10.3. Pension costs 

2016-17 
Number 

7 

£000s 

413 

2015-16 
Number 

5 

£000s 

76 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and 
rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined 
benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in 
England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the 
underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the 
cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the 
accounting period. 

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be 
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that "the period between formal valuations shall 
be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years". An outline of these follows: 

a) Accounting valuation 

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary's Department) as at 
the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated 
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial 
reporting purposes. The valuation of scheme liability as at 31 March 2017, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2016, updated 
to 31 March 2017 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology 
prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used. 

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the annual 
NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and 
are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office. 

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation 

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account 
their recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers. 

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012. 
The Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health, with the 
consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer 
representatives as deemed appropriate. 

The next actuarial valuation was due to be carried out as at 31 March 2016. This will set the employer contribution rate payable from April 
2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap. There are provisions in the Public Service Pension Act 
2013 to adjust member benefits or contribution rates if the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject to this 'employer 
cost cap' assessment, any required revisions to member benefits or contribution rates will be determined by the Secretary of State for 
Health after consultation with the relevant stakeholders. 

The Trust participates in the National Employees Savings Trust (NEST) scheme as an alternative to those employees who are not eligible 
to join the NHS Pension Scheme. This came into effect in July 2013 for this Trust as part of the auto enrolment requirements introduced by 
the Government. NEST is a defined contribution scheme with a phased employer contribution rate, currently 1 %. Trust contributions under 
the NEST scheme for the 2016/17 financial year totalled £6k (£3k 2015/16). 
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Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust - Annual Accounts 2016-17 

11. Better Payment Practice Code 

11.1. Measure of compliance 

Non-NHS Payables 
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target 
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target 

NHS Payables 
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target 
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target 

2016-17 
Number 

103,549 
59,344 

57.31% 

2,775 
990 

35.68% 

2016-17 2015-16 2015-16 

£000s Number £000s 

175,490 113,947 179,686 
105,628 77,717 134,047 
60.19% 68.20% 74.60% 

32,678 2,473 27,339 
21,653 1,459 20,508 

66.26% 59.00% 75.01% 

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the NHS body to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, 

whichever is later. 

11.2. The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 

Amounts included in finance costs from claims made under this legislation 
Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation 
Total 

2016-17 
£000s 

0 
8 
8 

2015-16 
£000s 

0 
0 
0 

The Trust made 8 late payment charge totalling £3.5k and 12 interest charges of £4.5k (£75.33 total of charges and interest in 2015/16) during the year 

under the Late Payment of Commercial Debt Act. 

12. Investment Revenue 

Rental revenue 
PFI finance lease revenue (planned) 
PFI finance lease revenue (contingent) 
Otherfinanceleaserevenue 
Subtotal 
Interest revenue 
Bank interest 
Other loans and receivables 
Impaired financial assets 
Subtotal 
Total investment revenue 

13. Other Gains and Losses 

Gain/(Loss) on disposal of assets other than by sale (PPE) 
Gain/(Loss) on disposal of assets other than by sale (intangibles) 
Gain (Loss) on disposal of assets held for sale 
Gain/(loss) on foreign exchange 
Total 

2016-17 
£000s 

0 
0 
0 
0 

34 
0 
0 

34 
34 

2016-17 
£000s 

17 
0 
0 
0 

17 

2015-16 
£000s 

0 
0 
0 
0 

47 
0 
0 

47 
47 

2015-16 
£000s 

page 21 

1 
0 
0 
0 

Page 102

kevin.rowan
Stamp

kevin.rowan
Rectangle



Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust-Annual Accounts 2016-17 

14. Finance Costs 

Interest 
Interest on loans and overdrafts 
Interest on obligations under finance leases 

Interest on obligations under PFI contracts: 
- main finance cost 
- contingent finance cost 

Interest on late payment of commercial debt 
Total interest expense 
Other finance costs 
Provisions - unwinding of discount 
Total 

15. Finance Costs 

15.1. Other auditor remuneration 

Other auditor remuneration paid to the external auditor: 
1. Audit of accounts of any associate of the trust 
2. Audit-related assurance services 
3. Taxation compliance services 
4. All taxation advisory services not falling within item 3 above 
5. Internal audit services 
6. All assurance services not falling within items 1 to 5 
7. Corporate finance transaction services not falling within items 1 to 6 above 
8. Other non-audit services not falling within items 2 to 7 above 
Total 

2016-17 
£000s 

1,094 
0 

10,912 
2,635 

0 
14,641 

0 
6 

14,647 

2016-17 
£000s 

0 
13 

0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

13 

2015-16 
£000s 

710 
0 

11,161 
2,472 

0 
14,343 

0 
6 

14,349 

2015-16 
£000s 

0 
13 

0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

13 

The £13k reported in note 15.1 relates to the audit of the Trust's quality accounts. As the Trust does not consolidate its charitable funds (see note 1.4) 
the fee for the independent examination of the charitable fund accounts is charged directly to those funds. The total charitable funds income and costs 
are reported in note 42 as a related party. 

15.2. Limitation on auditor's liability 

There is no limitation on auditor's liability for external audit work carried out for the financial years 2016/17 or 2015/16. 

page 22 

Page 103

kevin.rowan
Stamp

kevin.rowan
Rectangle



M
ai

ds
to

ne
 a

nd
 T

un
br

id
ge

 W
e

lls
 N

H
S

 T
ru

st
-

A
nn

ua
l A

cc
ou

nt
s 

2
0

1
6

-1
7

 

16
.1

. 
P

ro
p

e
rt

y,
 p

la
n

t 
a

n
d

 e
q

u
ip

m
e

n
t 

L
a

n
d

 
B

u
il
d

in
g

s
 

D
w

e
lli

n
g

s 
A

ss
e

ts
 u

n
d

e
r 

P
la

n
t 

&
 

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

 
In

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

 
F

u
rn

it
u

re
 

T
o

ta
l 

e
xc

lu
d

in
g

 
c
o

n
s
tr

u
c
ti

o
n

 &
 

m
a

ch
in

e
ry

 
e

q
u

ip
m

e
n

t 
te

c
h

n
o

lo
g

y
 

&
 f

it
ti

n
g

s
 

20
16

-1
7 

d
w

e
lli

n
g

s
 

p
a

ym
e

n
ts

 o
n

 
a

c
c
o

u
n

t 
£

0
0

0
's

 
C

o
s
t 
o

r 
va

lu
a

ti
o

n
: 

A
t 

1 
A

p
ri

l 
20

16
 

1
8

,2
7

5
 

29
7,

23
1 

4,
08

5 
3

,0
1

6
 

7
9

,0
2

4
 

9
6

0
 

19
,0

09
 

2,
75

5 
42

4,
35

5 
A

dd
iti

on
s 

o
f A

ss
et

s 
U

n
d

e
r 

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
0 

0 
0 

3,
83

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
3,

83
0 

A
dd

iti
on

s 
P

ur
ch

as
ed

 
0 

2,
40

0 
2

2
 

0 
1

,7
0

5
 

0 
3

1
0

 
9 

4,
44

6 
A

dd
iti

on
s 

-
N

on
 C

as
h 

D
on

at
io

ns
 (

i.e
. 

ph
ys

ic
al

 a
ss

e
ts

) 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

A
dd

iti
on

s 
-

P
ur

ch
as

es
 fr

om
 C

as
h 

D
on

at
io

ns
 &

 G
o

ve
rn

m
e

n
t 

G
ra

nt
s 

0 
0 

0 
0 

36
1 

0 
0 

0 
36

1 
A

dd
iti

on
s 

Le
as

ed
 (

in
cl

ud
in

g 
P

F
l/L

IF
T

) 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

R
ec

la
ss

ifi
ca

tio
ns

 
0 

0 
0 

(6
62

) 
60

3 
0 

43
 

0 
(1

6)
 

R
ec

la
ss

ifi
ca

tio
ns

 a
s 

H
el

d 
fo

r 
S

al
e 

an
d 

re
ve

rs
al

s 
(5

25
) 

(5
25

) 
(7

00
) 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
(1

,7
50

) 
D

is
po

sa
ls

 o
th

e
r 

th
an

 f
o

r 
sa

le
 

0 
0 

0 
0 

(7
41

) 
(1

02
) 

0 
0 

(8
43

) 
R

ev
al

ua
tio

n 
60

9 
51

6 
3

6
 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
1,

16
1 

Im
pa

ir
m

en
ts

/r
ev

er
sa

ls
 c

ha
rg

ed
 t

o 
op

er
at

in
g 

ex
pe

ns
es

 
0 

(4
1,

17
5)

 
0 

0 
0 

0 
(1

18
) 

0 
(4

1,
29

3)
 

Im
pa

ir
m

en
ts

/r
ev

er
sa

ls
 c

ha
rg

ed
 t

o 
re

se
rv

es
 

{4
,8

63
) 

{2
3,

12
6)

 
37

 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

{2
7,

95
2)

 
A

t 
31

 M
a

rc
h

 2
01

7 
1

3
,4

9
6

 
23

5,
32

1 
3,

48
0 

6
,1

8
4

 
8

0
,9

5
2

 
85

8 
1

9
,2

4
4

 
2

,7
6

4
 

36
2,

29
9 

D
e

p
re

ci
a

ti
o

n
 

A
t 

1 
A

p
ri

l 
20

16
 

0 
0 

16
1 

0 
56

,9
41

 
9

2
4

 
14

,5
24

 
1

,4
0

8
 

73
,9

58
 

R
ec

la
ss

ifi
ca

tio
ns

 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

R
ec

la
ss

ifi
ca

tio
ns

 a
s 

H
el

d 
fo

r 
S

al
e 

an
d 

re
ve

rs
al

s 
0 

(3
) 

(5
) 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
(8

) 
D

is
po

sa
ls

 o
th

er
 th

an
 f

or
 s

al
e 

0 
0 

0 
0 

(7
33

) 
(1

02
) 

0 
0 

(8
35

) 
R

ev
al

ua
tio

n 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

Im
pa

ir
m

en
t/

re
ve

rs
al

s 
ch

ar
ge

d 
to

 r
es

er
ve

s 
0 

(3
,3

09
) 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

(3
,3

09
) 

Im
pa

ir
m

en
ts

/r
ev

er
sa

ls
 c

ha
rg

ed
 t

o 
op

er
at

in
g 

ex
pe

ns
es

 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

C
ha

rg
ed

 D
ur

in
g 

th
e 

Y
e

a
r 

0 
5,

99
3 

13
9 

0 
4,

30
8 

22
 

1
,6

4
0

 
20

1 
12

,3
03

 
A

t 
31

 M
a

rc
h

 2
01

7 
0 

2,
68

1 
2

9
5

 
0 

60
,5

16
 

8
4

4
 

1
6

,1
6

4
 

1
,6

0
9

 
82

,1
09

 
N

e
t B

o
o

k
 V

a
lu

e
 a

t 3
1 

M
a

rc
h

 2
01

7 
1

3
,4

9
6

 
23

2,
64

0 
3

,1
8

5
 

6
,1

8
4

 
2

0
,4

3
6

 
1

4
 

3,
08

0 
1

,1
5

5
 

28
0,

19
0 

A
ss

e
t f

in
a

n
ci

n
g

: 
O

w
ne

d 
-

P
ur

ch
as

ed
 

13
,4

96
 

90
,6

19
 

3,
18

5 
6

,1
8

4
 

18
,8

30
 

1
4

 
3,

06
5 

1
,1

5
5

 
13

6,
54

8 
O

w
ne

d 
-

D
on

at
ed

 
0 

2
9

 
0 

0 
1

,6
0

6
 

0 
1

5
 

0 
1,

65
0 

O
w

ne
d 

-
G

o
ve

rn
m

e
n

t 
G

ra
nt

ed
 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
H

el
d 

on
 f

in
an

ce
 l

ea
se

 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

O
n

-S
O

F
P

 P
F

I 
co

nt
ra

ct
s 

0 
14

1,
99

2 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
14

1,
99

2 
P

F
I 

re
si

du
al

 i
nt

er
es

ts
 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
T

o
ta

l a
t 3

1 
M

a
rc

h
 2

01
7 

1
3

,4
9

6
 

23
2,

64
0 

3,
18

5 
6

,1
8

4
 

2
0

,4
3

6
 

1
4

 
3,

08
0 

1
,1

5
5

 
28

0,
19

0 

pa
ge

 2
3 

Page 104

kevin.rowan
Stamp

kevin.rowan
Stamp

kevin.rowan
Rectangle



M
ai

ds
to

ne
 a

nd
 T

un
br

id
ge

 W
e

lls
 N

H
S

 T
ru

st
-A

n
n

u
a

l 
A

cc
ou

nt
s 

20
16

-1
7 

R
e

va
lu

a
tio

n
 R

es
er

ve
 B

a
la

n
ce

 f
o

r 
P

ro
p

e
rt

y,
 P

la
n

t &
 E

q
u

ip
m

e
n

t 

A
t 

1 
A

p
ri

l 2
01

6 
M

ov
em

en
ts

 
A

t 
31

 M
a

rc
h

 2
01

7 

A
d

d
it

io
n

s 
to

 A
ss

e
ts

 U
n

d
e

r 
C

o
n

st
ru

ct
io

n
 in

 2
01

6-
17

 

La
nd

 
B

ui
ld

in
gs

 e
xc

l 
D

w
el

lin
gs

 
D

w
el

lin
gs

 
P

la
nt

 &
 M

ac
hi

ne
ry

 
B

a
la

n
ce

 a
s 

a
t Y

T
D

 

L
a

n
d

 
B

u
ild

in
g

s 

£0
00

's
 

£0
00

's
 

9,
34

6 
42

,1
91

 
(4

,2
54

) 
{1

9,
30

0)
 

5,
09

2 
22

,8
91

 

D
w

e
lli

n
g

s 

£0
00

's
 

1,
69

3 
73

 
1,

76
6 

A
ss

e
ts

 u
n

d
e

r 
co

n
st

ru
ct

io
n

 &
 

p
a

ym
e

n
ts

 o
n

 
a

cc
o

u
n

t 
£O

O
O

's 

£O
O

O
's 

0 0 0 0 1 0 
3,

82
9 

3,
83

0 

P
la

n
t &

 
T

ra
n

sp
o

rt
 

In
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 

F
u

rn
it

u
re

 
T

o
ta

l 
m

a
ch

in
e

ry
 

e
q

u
ip

m
e

n
t 

te
ch

n
o

lo
g

y 
&

 f
it

ti
n

g
s 

£0
00

's
 

£0
00

's
 

£O
O

O
's 

£
0

0
0

's
 

£
0

0
0

's
 

75
9 

13
 

0 
2 

54
,0

04
 

{2
16

) 
{3

) 
0 

0 
{2

3,
70

0)
 

54
3 

10
 

0 
2 

30
,3

04
 

pa
ge

 2
4

 

Page 105

kevin.rowan
Stamp

kevin.rowan
Rectangle



M
ai

ds
to

ne
 a

nd
 T

un
br

id
ge

 W
e

lls
 N

H
S

 T
ru

st
-A

n
n

u
a

l A
cc

ou
nt

s 
20

16
-1

7 

16
.2

. 
P

ro
p

e
rt

y,
 p

la
n

t 
a

n
d

 e
q

u
ip

m
e

n
t 

p
ri

o
r-

ye
a

r 
L

a
n

d
 

B
u

il
d

in
g

s
 

D
w

e
lli

n
g

s 
A

ss
e

ts
 u

n
d

e
r 

P
la

n
t 

&
 

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

 
In

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

 
F

u
rn

it
u

re
 

T
o

ta
l 

e
xc

lu
d

in
g

 
c
o

n
s
tr

u
c
ti

o
n

 &
 

m
a

ch
in

e
ry

 
e

q
u

ip
m

e
n

t 
te

c
h

n
o

lo
g

y
 

&
 f

it
ti

n
g

s
 

20
15

-1
6 

d
w

e
lli

n
g

s
 

p
a

ym
e

n
ts

 o
n

 
£

0
0

0
's

 
C

o
st

 o
r 

va
lu

a
ti

o
n

: 
A

t 
1 

A
pr

il 
20

15
 

38
,5

80
 

29
9,

49
8 

3
,0

3
3

 
6,

75
8 

81
,8

75
 

96
0 

16
,3

23
 

2
,6

9
4

 
44

9,
72

1 
A

dd
iti

on
s 

o
f A

ss
et

s 
U

n
d

e
r 

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
2,

11
0 

2
,1

1
0

 
A

dd
iti

on
s 

P
ur

ch
as

ed
 

0 
9,

13
2 

46
 

0 
1,

17
1 

0 
1

,3
4

4
 

61
 

1
1

,7
5

4
 

A
dd

iti
on

s 
-

N
on

 C
as

h 
D

on
at

io
ns

 (
i.e

. 
P

hy
si

ca
l 

A
ss

et
s)

 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

A
dd

iti
on

s 
-

P
ur

ch
as

es
 fr

om
 C

as
h 

D
on

at
io

ns
 &

 G
o

ve
rn

m
e

n
t 

G
ra

nt
s 

0 
0 

0 
0 

6
0

6
 

0 
4 

0 
6

1
0

 
A

dd
iti

on
s 

Le
as

ed
 (

in
cl

ud
in

g 
P

F
l/L

IF
T

) 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

R
ec

la
ss

ifi
ca

tio
ns

 
0 

5
2

9
 

0 
(5

,8
52

) 
2,

83
9 

0 
1

,6
6

9
 

0 
(8

15
) 

R
ec

la
ss

ifi
ca

tio
ns

 a
s 

H
el

d 
fo

r 
S

al
e 

an
d 

R
ev

er
sa

ls
 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
D

is
po

sa
ls

 o
th

er
 th

an
 f

or
 s

al
e 

0 
0 

0 
0 

(7
,4

67
) 

0 
0 

0 
(7

,4
67

) 
R

ev
al

ua
tio

n 
82

 
13

,1
76

 
7

2
8

 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

13
,9

86
 

Im
pa

ir
m

en
t/

re
ve

rs
al

s 
ch

ar
ge

d 
to

 r
es

er
ve

s 
(5

66
) 

(2
1,

82
7)

 
0 

0 
0 

0 
(3

31
) 

0 
(2

2,
72

4)
 

Im
pa

ir
m

en
ts

/r
ev

er
sa

ls
 c

ha
rg

ed
 t

o 
op

er
at

in
g 

ex
pe

ns
es

 
{1

9,
82

1)
 

(3
,2

77
) 

2
7

8
 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
(2

2,
82

0)
 

A
t 

31
 M

a
rc

h
 2

01
6 

18
,2

75
 

29
7,

23
1 

4,
08

5 
3,

01
6 

7
9

,0
2

4
 

96
0 

19
,0

09
 

2
,7

5
5

 
42

4,
35

5 

D
e

p
re

ci
a

ti
o

n
 

A
t 

1 
A

pr
il 

20
15

 
0 

3,
01

0 
53

 
0 

60
,1

07
 

88
2 

12
,6

14
 

1
,1

3
4

 
77

,8
00

 
R

ec
la

ss
ifi

ca
tio

ns
 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
R

ec
la

ss
ifi

ca
tio

ns
 a

s 
H

el
d 

fo
r 

S
al

e 
an

d 
R

ev
er

sa
ls

 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

D
is

po
sa

ls
 o

th
er

 th
an

 f
o

r 
sa

le
 

0 
0 

0 
0 

(7
,4

60
) 

0 
0 

0 
(7

,4
60

) 
R

ev
al

ua
tio

n 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

Im
pa

ir
m

en
ts

/r
ev

er
sa

ls
 c

ha
rg

ed
 t

o 
op

er
at

in
g 

ex
pe

ns
es

 
0 

(9
,3

55
) 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

(9
,3

55
) 

Im
pa

ir
m

en
t/

re
ve

rs
al

s 
ch

ar
ge

d 
to

 r
es

er
ve

s 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

C
ha

rg
ed

 D
ur

in
g 

th
e 

Y
ea

r 
0 

6,
34

5 
1

0
8

 
0 

4,
29

4 
42

 
1,

91
0 

2
7

4
 

12
,9

73
 

A
t 

31
 M

ar
ch

 2
01

6 
0 

0 
16

1 
0 

56
,9

41
 

9
2

4
 

1
4

,5
2

4
 

1
,4

0
8

 
7

3
,9

5
8

 
N

e
t B

o
o

k
 V

a
lu

e
 a

t 3
1 

M
a

rc
h

 2
01

6 
18

,2
75

 
29

7,
23

1 
3,

92
4 

3,
01

6 
22

,0
83

 
36

 
4,

48
5 

1
,3

4
7

 
35

0,
39

7 

A
ss

e
t f

in
a

n
ci

n
g

: 
O

w
ne

d 
-

P
ur

ch
as

ed
 

18
,2

75
 

97
,6

87
 

3
,9

2
4

 
3,

01
6 

20
,5

99
 

36
 

4,
45

6 
1

,3
4

7
 

14
9,

34
0 

O
w

ne
d 

-
D

on
at

ed
 

0 
31

 
0 

0 
1

,4
4

6
 

0 
29

 
0 

1
,5

0
6

 
O

w
ne

d 
-

G
o

ve
rn

m
e

n
t 

G
ra

nt
ed

 
0 

0 
0 

0 
3

8
 

0 
0 

0 
3

8
 

H
el

d 
on

 f
in

an
ce

 l
ea

se
 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
O

n-
S

O
F

P
 P

F
I 

co
nt

ra
ct

s 
0 

19
9,

51
3 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

19
9,

51
3 

P
F

I 
re

si
du

al
 i

nt
er

es
ts

 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

0 
0 

T
o

ta
l a

t 3
1 

M
a

rc
h

 2
01

6 
18

,2
75

 
29

7,
23

1 
3

,9
2

4
 

3
,0

1
6

 
22

,0
83

 
3

6
 

4
,4

8
5

 
1,

34
7 

35
0,

39
7 

pa
ge

 2
5

 

Page 106

kevin.rowan
Stamp

kevin.rowan
Rectangle



Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust-Annual Accounts 2016-17 

16.3. Property, plant and equipment 

The Trust spent £8.3m on tangible assets from its capital resource in 2016/17. The main items were: £1. 7m linear accelerator machine funded from 
central PDC; £2.4m of backlog estates and renewal schemes; £3.1 m on Information Technology projects; and £1. 7m on medical and other 
equipment. In addition £247k of lifecycle capital was recognised as undertaken by the Trust's PFI partner in the year and accounted for under IFRIC 
12. 

Within the financial year 2016/17 the Trust purchased medical equipment totalling £362k from charitable funds. The largest single item was £151k 
spent on a cardiac ultrasound machine for Tunbridge Wells hospital funded from a legacy to the Cardiology department. A grant of £56k from NHS 
England was spent on gastro fibroscan equipment, and £49k on respiratory ventilators funded by the Maidstone League of Friends. 

The Trust's depreciation on tangible assets in the year was £12.3m. Disposals were transacted for assets with £8k of remaining net book value 
which generated a profit on disposal of £17k. 

The financial year 2016/17 is the second year in the current five year cyclical valuation period. A full valuation was undertaken in September 2014 
with a desktop valuation at 31st March 2015 and 31st March 2016. In keeping with the Trust policies the Trust has commissioned independent 
professional valuers, Montagu Evans, to carry out a desktop valuation of the Trust Land, Building and Dwelling assets at 30th September 2016. 
The Trust has reviewed the movements in Building Cost Indices for the period from the valuation to the 31st March 2017 and has assessed the 
movements as immaterial. 

Specialist properties (main hospitals} have been valued on Depreciation Replacement Cost (DRC) using the Modern Equivalent Assets (MEA) 
valuation concept. Non specialised buildings and land have been valued on an Existing Use Value (EUV) basis and key worker accommodation has 
been valued on an EUV - Social housing basis in line with RICS guidelines. In December 2016 the Trust Board approved the disposal of two 
residential properties {Hillcroft and the Spring) that had previously been identified as surplus to the Trust's requirements and valued in line with 
IFRS 13 at best and highest alternative use. These assets were reclassified to "non current assets held for sale" as they met the conditions for such 
classification and retained at the current carrying value (£1.742m). 

During 2015/16 national guidance and best practice in the application of the Modern Equivalent Asset concept for the valuation of NHS specialist 
property was shared across the NHS community, including some elements that were clarified by the DH late in the 2015/16 reporting period. In 
consultation with its Valuers the Trust applied the MEA (Modern Equivalent Asset) approach in the light of this emerging application guidance as far 
as it was practicable in the given timeframes, with a view to reviewing the best practice and extant guidance further in the 2016/17 valuation. The 
main elements that have therefore been incorporated into the valuation exercise for 2016/17 are: 
1. Application of the option on estimation set out in the DH Group Accounting Manual allowing the exclusion of VAT from the valuation of assets 
procured under a PFI contract and likely to be replaced under a similar contract; this has therefore been applied to the PFI assets at the Tunbridge 
Wells Hospital; 
2. Application of the modern re-build concept to the Maidstone site to incorporate the likely design solution in any re-provision, reducing the land 
required; 
3. Review of the appropriate treatment of car parking and office space accommodation in terms of both size and value for any modern equivalent 
asset; 
4. Retention of the approach to alternative site application, using the range of values as previously applied by the Valuers. 

The 30th September 2016 valuation resulted in an overall reduction in the carrying value of the Trust's Land and Property assets of £65.Sm, of 
which £41.2m was charged as impairments (net of any reversals} to operating expenses and £24.6m to any existing credit on the revaluation 
reserve. The main components of this reduction were: 
1. Operating expense impairments - £38.Sm related to the Tunbridge Wells Hospital building and £1.1 m the TWH hard landscaping, primarily in 
respect of the PFI VAT exclusion and the replacement approach to car parking facilities. For the Maidstone Hospital the impairment was £1.3m 
relating mainly to BCIS movements around plant room values. 
2. Reserve impairments - £14.Sm related to the TWH hospital build in respect of the PFI VAT exclusion and the replacement approach to car 
parking facilities. For the Maidstone site the building values reduced overall by £3.6m of which £2.6m related to office accommodation that could be 
re-provided offsite in any modern equivalent replacement. A further £1.5m related to the review of car parking facilities and reproviding the most 
efficient replacement layout and sizing. Land values at Maidstone reduced by £3.6m as a consequence of the application of the re-build concept on 
a multi-storey basis, requiring less space than the existing footprint. Land values reduced by £1.2m at TWH as a result of the car parking 
conceptually efficient reprovision. 

There was an upward revaluation of £1.2m across the sites relating to movements in the underlying BCIS indices for the period. 

Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from fair value. The Trust has 
reviewed its plant and machinery assets to ensure that both the value and the remaining lives are held at the correct values. A fair value 
assessment of IT tangible assets has been carried out based on a valuation model as advised by Trust experts, this is in accordance with the 
Trust's policy 1.10. 
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Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust-Annual Accounts 2016-17 

17. Intangible non-current assets 
Sub Analysis columns Source Data 

17.1. Intangible non-current assets 
IT- in- Computer Licenses and Patents Development Intangible Total 

house & Licenses Trademarks Expenditure - Assets Under 
3rd party Internally Construction 

2016-17 software Generated 
£000's 

At 1 April 2016 6,749 458 0 0 0 0 7,207 
Additions of Assets Under Construction 0 0 
Additions Purchased 781 121 0 0 0 0 902 
Additions Internally Generated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Additions - Non Cash Donations (i.e. physical assets) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Additions - Purchases from Cash Donations and Government Grants 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Additions Leased (including PFl/LIFT) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Reclassifications 16 0 0 0 0 0 16 
Reclassified as Held for Sale and Reversals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Disposals other than by sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Upward revaluation/positive indexation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Impairments/reversals charged to operating expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Impairments/reversals charged to reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
At 31 March 2017 7,546 579 0 0 0 0 8,125 

Amortisation 
At 1April2016 3,588 366 0 0 0 0 3,954 
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Reclassified as Held for Sale and Reversals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Disposals other than by sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Upward revaluation/positive indexation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
lmpairmenUreversals charged to reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Impairments/reversals charged to operating expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Charged During the Year 887 65 0 0 0 0 952 
At 31 March 2017 4,475 431 0 0 0 0 4,906 
Net Book Value at 31 March 2017 3,071 148 0 0 0 0 3,219 

Asset Financing: Net book value at 31 March 2017 comprises: 
Purchased 3,071 148 0 0 0 0 3,219 
Donated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Government Granted 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Finance Leased 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
On-balance Sheet PF Is 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Total at 31 March 2017 3,071 148 0 0 0 0 3,219 

Revaluation reserve balance for intangible non-current assets 
£OOO's £OOO's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's 

At 1 April 2016 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Movements 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
At 31 March 2017 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
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Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust-Annual Accounts 2016-17 

17.2. Intangible non-current assets prior year 
IT - in-house Computer Licenses and Patents Development Intangible Total 

& 3rd party Licenses Trademarks Expenditure - assets under 

software Internally construction 
2015-16 Generated 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000's 

Cost or valuation: 
At 1April2015 5,049 458 0 0 0 0 5,507 

Additions - purchased 885 0 0 0 0 0 885 

Additions - internally generated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additions - donated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additions - government granted 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additions Leased (including PFl/LIFT) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Reclassifications 815 0 0 0 0 0 815 

Reclassified as held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Disposals other than by sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Upward revaluation/positive indexation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairments/reversals charged to operating expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairments/reversals charged to reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

At 31 March 2016 6,749 458 0 0 0 0 7,207 

Amortisation 
At 1 April 2015 2,857 254 0 0 0 0 3,111 

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Reclassified as held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Disposals other than by sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Upward revaluation/positive indexation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairments/reversals charged to operating expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Impairments/reversals charged to reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Charged during the year 731 112 0 0 0 0 843 

At 31 March 2016 3,588 366 0 0 0 0 3,954 

Net book value at 31 March 2016 3,161 92 0 0 0 0 3,253 

Asset Financing: Net book value at 31 March 2016 comprises: 
Purchased 3,161 92 0 0 0 0 3,253 

Donated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Government Granted 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Finance Leased 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

On-balance Sheet PFls 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total at 31 March 2016 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

17.3. Intangible non-current assets 
During 2016/17 the Trust spent £902k on intangible software and licences, and recognised £16k of assets under construction as completed in the period. 
The intanQible assets relate to purchase of software and licences and the Trust considers the carrvin!'.I value to represent fair value 
The Trust has no intanQible assets with indefinite lives. 
The asset lives are set out in policy number 1.12 
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18. Analysis of impairments and reversals recognised in 2016-17 

Impairments and reversals taken to SoCI 
Loss or damage resulting from normal operations 
Over-specification of assets 
Abandonment of assets in the course of construction 
Total charged to Departmental Expenditure Limit 

Unforeseen obsolescence 
Loss as a result of catastrophe 
Other 
Changes in market price 
Total charged to Annually Managed Expenditure 

Total Impairments of Property, Plant and Equipment changed to SoCI 

Donated and Gov Granted Assets, included above 

Property 
Plant and 

Equipment 

£000s 

0 
0 
0 
0 

0 
0 
0 

41,293 
41,293 

41,293 

PPE - Donated and Government Granted Asset Impairments: amount charged to SOCI - DEL 
Intangibles - Donated and Government Granted Asset Impairments: amount charged to SOCI - DEL 

Intangible 
Assets 

£000s 

0 
0 
0 
0 

0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

0 

Non-
Current 
Assets 

Financial Held for 
Assets Sale Total 

£000s £000s £000s 

0 0 0 
0 0 0 
0 0 0 
0 0 0 

0 0 0 
0 0 0 
0 0 0 
0 0 41,293 
0 0 41,293 

0 0 41,293 

£000s 
0 
0 

Changes in market price in respect of the Modern Equivalent Asset revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment generated net impairments of £41.175m charged to the 
SoCI following the desktop valuation at 30th September 2016. The balance of £0.118m represents the fair value assessment of IT equipment assets based on a 
valuation model as advised by Trust experts in the relevant asset class. 

These impairments are taken to the SoCI where either no applicable revaluation reserve exists for the component asset, or has been previously exhausted. Impairments 
disclosed through the Statement of Financial Position for reserve adjustments totalled £24.6m. 

Further information in respect of the valuation is contained in Note 16.3. 

19. Investment property 
The Trust has no investment properties. 

20. Commitments 

20.1. Capital commitments 

Contracted capital commitments at 31 March not otherwise included in these financial statements: 

Property, plant and equipment 
Intangible assets 
Total 

20.2. Other financial commitments 
The Trust has no non-cancellable contracts not disclosed elsewhere under PFI contracts or leases. 

31 March 
2017 
£000s 

710 
0 

710 

31 March 
2016 
£000s 

115 
9 

124 
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Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust-Annual Accounts 2016-17 

21. Inventories 

Balance at 1 April 2016 

Additions 
Inventories recognised as an expense in the 
period 

Write-down of inventories (including losses) 
Reversal of write-down previously taken to 
SOCI 
Balance at 31 March 2017 

22.1. Trade and other receivables 

NHS receivables - revenue 
NHS receivables - capital 
NHS prepayments and accrued income 
Non-NHS receivables - revenue 
Non-NHS receivables - capital 
Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income 
PDC Dividend prepaid to DH 
Provision for the impairment of receivables 
VAT 

Consuma 
Drugs bles 
£000s £000s 

3,787 976 

40,379 0 

(40,830) (88) 

0 0 

0 0 
3,336 888 

Work in 
Progress Energy 

£000s £000s 

0 51 

63 0 

0 0 

0 0 

0 0 
63 51 

Current/non-current part of PFI and other PPP arrangements prepayments and accrued income 
excluding PFI lifecycle 
Interest receivables 
Finance lease receivables 
Operating lease receivables 
Other receivables 
Total 

Total current and non current 

Included in NHS receivables are prepaid pension contributions: 

Of which 
Loan held at 

Equipment Other Total NRV 

£000s £000s £000s £000s 

0 3,472 8,286 0 

0 13,081 53,523 0 

0 (12,946) (53,864) 0 

0 0 0 0 

0 0 0 0 
0 3,607 7,945 0 

Current Non-current 

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 
2017 2016 2017 2016 

£000s £000s £000s £000s 

35,171 22,511 0 0 
107 0 0 0 

0 0 0 0 
2,976 2,594 0 0 

0 0 0 0 
4,730 3,700 308 0 

683 480 0 0 
(797) (1,273) 0 0 
2,068 2,317 0 0 

0 0 158 138 
0 0 0 0 

0 0 0 0 
0 0 0 0 

1,481 1,640 1,030 1,062 
46,419 31,969 1,496 1,200 

47,915 33, 169 

0 

The great majority of trade is with Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) as commissioners for NHS patient care services. As CCGs are funded by 
Government to buy NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary. A provision for the impairment of trade receivables 
is made for debts over 120 days. 

22.2. Receivables past their due date but not impaired 

By up to three months 
By three to six months 
By more than six months 
Total 

The Trust does not hold any collateral against receivable balances. 

22.3. Provision for impairment of receivables 

Balance at 1 April 2016 
Amount written off during the year 
Amount recovered during the year 

(lncrease)/decrease in receivables impaired 

Balance at 31 March 2017 

31 March 
2017 
£000s 

5,202 
1,603 
1,178 
7,983 

2016-17 
£000s 

(1,273) 
55 

0 

421 

(797) 

31 March 
2016 

£000s 

7,256 
2,536 
3,708 

13,500 

2015-16 
£000s 

(971) 
76 

0 

(378) 

(1,273) 

The provision of receivables includes provision for all non-NHS invoices over 120 days overdue plus any other invoices that are deemed to be a 
specific risk. In addition Injury cost recovery debt is provided for in accordance with the approach set out in note 5. 
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Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust- Annual Accounts 2016-17 

23. NHS LIFT investments 
The Trust does not have any LIFT investments. 

24.1. Other Financial Assets - Current 
The Trust does not have any current financial assets. 

24.2. Other Financial Assets - Non Current 
The Trust does not have any non-current financial assets. 

25. Other current assets 
The Trust does not have any other current assets. 

26. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Opening balance 
Net change in year 
Closing balance 

Made up of 
Cash with Government Banking Service 
Commercial banks 
Cash in hand 
Liquid deposits with NLF 
Current investments 
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 
Bank overdraft - Government Banking Service 
Bank overdraft - Commercial banks 
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of cash flows 

Third Party Assets - Bank balance (not included above) 
Third Party Assets - Monies on deposit 

31 March 31 March 
2017 2016 

£000s £000s 
1,197 3,796 

223 (2,599) 
1,420 1,197 

1,366 1,125 
40 33 
14 39 

0 0 
0 0 

1,420 1,197 
0 0 
0 0 

1,420 1,197 

1 3 
0 0 
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Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust - Annual Accounts 2016-17 

28. Trade and other payables 

NHS payables - revenue 
NHS payables - capital 
NHS accruals and deferred income 
Non-NHS payables - revenue 
Non-NHS payables - capital 
Non-NHS accruals and deferred income 
Social security costs 
PDC Dividend payable to DH 
Accrued Interest on DH Loans 
VAT 
Tax 
Payments received on account 
Other 
Total 

Total payables (current and non-current) 

Included above: 
to Buy Out the Liability for Early Retirements Over 5 Years 
number of Cases Involved (number) 
outstanding Pension Contributions at the year end 

29. Other liabilities 
The Trust does not have any other liabilities 

30. Borrowings 

Bank overdraft - Government Banking Service 
Bank overdraft - commercial banks 
Loans from Department of Health 
Loans from other entities 
PFI liabilities - main liability 
Finance lease liabilities 
Other 
Total 

Total other liabilities (current and non-current) 

Current 

31 March 2017 31 March 2016 
£000s £000s 

4,453 4,949 
2 23 

5,094 0 
23,574 15, 133 

3,408 1,584 
12,898 10,767 
2,751 4,459 

0 0 
105 36 

0 0 
2,409 4,717 

0 0 
1,405 1,370 

56,099 43,038 

56,099 43,038 

0 0 
0 0 

3,159 3,191 

Current 

31 March 2017 31 March 2016 
£000s £000s 

0 0 
0 0 

4,632 2,174 
0 0 

5,028 4,774 
0 0 
0 0 

9,660 6,948 

249,261 241,619 

Non-current 

31 March 2017 31 March 2016 
£000s £000s 

0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 

Non-current 

31 March 2017 31 March 2016 
£000s £000s 

0 0 
0 0 

41,368 31,410 
0 0 

198,233 203,261 
0 0 
0 0 

239,601 234,671 

Included within the current loans from Department of Health is an uncommitted term loan for £2.458m which has been repaid in April 2017. 

Borrowings I Loans - repayment of principal falling due in: 
31 March 2017 

DH Other Total 
£000s £000s £000s 

0-1 Years 4,632 5,028 9,660 
1 - 2 Years 2,174 5,284 7,458 
2 - 5 Years 34,736 16, 178 50,914 
Over 5 Years 4,458 176,771 181,229 
TOTAL 46,000 203,261 249,261 

Department of Health (DH) loans totalling £29m have been taken out to finance the Trust capital programme. The £11 m loan received on 
the 15th March 2010 has a final repayment date of 15th March 2025 with a fixed interest rate of 3.91 %. The loan of £12m taken out on the 
15th September 2010 has a final repayment date of 15th September 2020 with a fixed interest rate of 2.02%. The loan taken out on the 15th 
December 2010 has a final repayment date of 15th September 2035 at a fixed rate of 4.73%. 
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Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust - Annual Accounts 2016-17 

The PFI liabilities relate to the PFI contract that the Trust signed in March 2008. The contract is a standard form PFI contract with a 
concession that completes in 2042, when the building reverts to the Trust. Further information is set out in note 38. 

The Trust has received a revenue working capital loan of £16.9m in March 2016 consolidating previous interim revolving facilities. The loan 
is interest bearing at 1.5% per annum and the principal falls due in February 2019. During 2016/17 the Trust utilised its interim revolving 
working capital facility to the extent of £12.1 m, this is due for repayment in October 2020. The Trust also took out a short term Uncommitted 
Term Loan of 6% from the DH in advance of receipt of quarter 3 STF payment. This latter loan was repaid in full on 18 April 2017. 

31. Other financial liabilities 
The Trust does not have any other financial liabilities 

32. Deferred income 

Opening balance at 1 April 2016 
Deferred revenue addition 
Transfer of deferred revenue 
Current deferred Income at 31 March 2017 

Total deferred income (current and non-current) 

Current 

31March2017 31 March 2016 
£000s £000s 

2,111 4,695 
39,953 35,453 

(36,319) (38,037) 
____ 5'-,7_45_ 2, 111 

5,745 2, 111 

Non-current 
31 March 2017 31 March 2016 

£000s £000s 
0 
0 
0 
0 

0 
0 
0 
0 

Deferred income for 2016/17 includes an item for the maternity pathway arrangement agreed with West Kent CCG of £2m. 

33. Finance lease obligations as lessee 
The Trust has not entered into any finance lease arrangement as lessee. 

34. Finance lease receivables as lessor 
The Trust has not entered into any finance lease arrangement as lessor. 
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38. PFI and LIFT - additional information 

The Trust signed a PFI project agreement on 26th March 2008 for the new Tunbridge Wells Hospital at Pembury. The main building was handed over 
by the contractor in phases in December 2010 and May 2011 and recognised in the Trust's accounts accordingly. By joint agreement with the Trust's 
PFI partner the final phase of car parking & landscaping were completed and handed over early in January 2012, although contractual phasing and 
unitary payments were kept in line with the project agreement completion date of September 2012. The arrangement covers the provision of buildings, 
hard facilities management services and lifecycle replacement (building & engineering asset renewals). Under the project agreement the Trust has 
agreed expectations for the provision of these services and has termination options on default. The land remains the Trust's asset throughout the 
concession. The concession is due to run for 30 years until 2042 when the building will revert to the Trust. The annual unitary payment was contracted 
at £16.9m at 2005/06 prices, and is subject to an annual uplift by Retail Price Index which for the 2016/17 year was 1.29%. 

The information below is required by the Department of Heath for inclusion in national statutory accounts 

Charges to operating expenditure and future commitments in respect of ON and OFF SOFP PFI 

Total charge to operating expenses in year - Off SoFP PFI 
Service element of on SOFP PFI charged to operating expenses in year 
Total 

Payments committed to in respect of off SOFP PFI and the service element of on SOFP PFI 
No Later than One Year 
Later than One Year, No Later than Five Years 
Later than Five Years 
Total 

2016-17 
£000s 

0 
4,268 
4,268 

4,696 
20,832 

159,100 
184,628 

2015-16 
£000s 

0 
4,120 
4,120 

4,394 
19,462 

161,471 
185,327 

The estimated annual payments in future years will vary according to published RPI rates but are not expected to be materially different from those 
which the Trust is committed to make during the next year. 

Imputed "finance lease" obligations for on SOFP PFI contracts due 

No Later than One Year 
Later than One Year, No Later than Five Years 
Later than Five Years 
Subtotal 
Less: Interest Element 
Total 

Present Value Imputed "finance lease" obligations for on SOFP PFI contracts due 
Analysed by when PFI payments are due 
No Later than One Year 
Later than One Year, No Later than Five Years 
Later than Five Years 
Total 

Number of on SOFP PFI Contracts 
Total Number of on PFI contracts 
Number of on PFI contracts which individually have a total commitments value in excess of £500m 

2016-17 
£000s 

15,686 
61,316 

291,071 
368,073 

(164,812) 
203,261 

2016-17 
£000s 

5,028 
21,462 

176,771 
203,261 

0 

2015-16 

£000s 

15,686 
62,060 

306,013 
383,759 

(175,724) 
208,035 

2015-16 
£000s 

4,774 
21,088 

182,173 
208,035 
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39. Impact of IFRS treatment - current year 

The information below is required by the Department of Heath for budget reconciliation purposes 

Revenue costs of IFRS: Arrangements reported on SoFP under IFRIC12 (e.g. PFI /LIFT) 
Depreciation charges 
Interest Expense 
Impairment charge - AME 
Impairment charge - DEL 
Other Expenditure 
Revenue Receivable from subleasing 
Impact on PDC dividend payable 
Total IFRS Expenditure (IFRIC12) 
Revenue consequences of PFI I LIFT schemes under UK GAAP I ESA95 (net of any sublease revenue) 
Net IFRS change (IFRIC12) 

Capital Consequences of IFRS: LIFT/PFI and other items under IFRIC12 
Capital expenditure 2015-16 
UK GAAP capital expenditure 2015-16 (Reversionary Interest) 

Revenue costs of IFRIC12 compared with ESA10 
Depreciation charges 
Interest Expense 
Impairment charge - AME 
Impairment charge - DEL 
Other Expenditure 
Service Charge 
Contingent Rent 
Lifecycle 
Impact on PDC Dividend Payable 
Total Revenue Cost under IFRIC12 vs ESA10 
Revenue Receivable from subleasing 
Net Revenue CosU(income) under IFRIC12 vs ESA10 

2016-17 
Income Expenditure 
£000s £000s 

0 3,165 
0 10,912 
0 39,832 
0 0 
0 6,903 
0 0 
0 p,216) 
0 59,596 
0 (20,013) 
0 39,583 

247 
3,235 

2016-17 2016-17 
Income/ Income/ 

Expenditure Expenditure 
IFRIC 12 ESA10 

YTD YTD 
£000s £000s 

3,165 0 
10,912 0 
39,832 0 

0 0 

4,268 20,013 
2,635 0 

0 0 
(1,216) 0 
59,596 20,013 

0 0 
59,596 20,013 

2015-16 
Income Expend~ure 

£000s £000s 

0 3,424 
0 13,633 
0 7,925 
0 0 
0 4,122 
0 0 
0 (494) 
0 28,610 
0 (20,001) 
0 8,609 

274 
3,084 

2015-16 2015-16 
Income/ 

Expenditure 
ESA 10 

YTD 
£000s £000s 

3,424 0 
13,633 0 
7,925 0 

0 0 

4,120 20,001 
0 0 
2 0 

(494) 0 
28,610 20,001 

0 0 
28,610 20,001 
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40. Financial Instruments 

40.1. Financial risk management 
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the 
risks a body faces in undertaking its activities. Because of the continuing service provider relationship that the NHS Trust has with commissioners and 
the way those commissioners are financed, the NHS Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also financial 
instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting 
standards mainly apply. The NHS Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day­
to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the NHS Trust in undertaking its activities. 

The Trust's treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the Trust's standing 
financial instructions and policies agreed by the board of directors. The Trust's treasury activity is subject to review.by the Trust's internal auditors. 

Currency risk 
The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The 
Trust has no overseas operations. The Trust therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations. 

Interest rate risk 
The Trust borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS Improvement. The borrowings are for 1 - 25 
years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The Trust 
therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations. 

The Trust may also borrow from government for revenue financing subject to approval by NHS Improvement. Interest rates are confirmed by the 
Department of Health (the lender) at the point borrowing is undertaken. 

The Trust therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations. 

Credit risk 
Because the majority of the Trust's revenue comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, the Trust has low exposure to credit risk. The 
maximum exposures as at 31 March 2017 are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note. 

Liquidity risk 
The Trust's operating costs are incurred under contracts with primary care Trusts, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. 
The Trust funds its capital expenditure from funds obtained within its prudential borrowing limit. The Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant 
liquidity risks. 

40.2. Financial Assets 

Embedded derivatives 
Receivables - NHS 
Receivables - non-NHS 
Cash at bank and in hand 
Other financial assets 
Total at 31 March 2017 

Embedded derivatives 
Receivables - NHS 
Receivables - non-NHS 
Cash at bank and in hand 
Other financial assets 
Total at 31 March 2016 

40.3. Financial Liabilities 

Embedded derivatives 
NHS payables 
Non-NHS payables 
Other borrowings 
PFI & finance lease obligations 
Other financial liabilities 
Total at 31 March 2017 

Embedded derivatives 
NHS payables 
Non-NHS payables 
Other borrowings 
PFI & finance lease obligations 
Other financial liabilities 
Total at 31 March 2016 

At 'fair value 
through profit 

and loss' 

£000s 

0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

At 'fair value 
through profit 

and loss' 

£000s 

0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

Loans and 
receivables 

£000s 

0 
35,278 
6,400 
1,420 

0 
43,098 

0 
22,512 

5,293 
1,197 

0 
29,002 

Other 

£000s 

0 
4,455 

40,334 
46,000 

203,261 
0 

294,050 

0 
4,972 

25,165 
33,584 

208,035 
0 

271,756 

Available for Total 
sale 

£000s £000s 

0 0 
0 35,278 
0 6,400 
0 1,420 
0 0 
0 431098 

0 0 
0 22,512 
0 5,293 
0 1, 197 
0 0 
0 29,002 

Available for Total 
sale 

£000s £000s 

0 0 
0 4,455 
0 40,334 
0 46,000 
0 203,261 
0 0 
0 2941050 

0 0 
0 4,972 
0 25,165 
0 33,584 
0 208,035 
0 0 
0 271,756 
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41. Events after the end of the reporting period 
The Trust has no events after the reporting period to report. 

42. Related party transactions 
During the year none of the Department of Health Ministers, Trust Board members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any 
of them, have undertaken any material transactions with Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust. 

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year 2016/17 the Trust has received £14. 9m working capital financing, £1. 7m 
capital PDC and the Trust also has loans with the DH, interest paid within the year £1.1m, principal repayment of £2.4m and the balance outstanding 
for the working capital loans is £31.5m. The Trust has also had a significant number of material transactions with the Department, and with other 
entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The following entities with material transactions of more than £1 m are listed 
below: 

Ashford CCG 
MedwayCCG 
West Kent CCG 
High Weald Lewes Havens CCG 
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG 
Swale CCG 
Hastings and Rother CCG 
Wessex Specialised Commissioning Hub 
South East Specialised Commissioning Hub 
Kent Community Foundation Trust 
East Kent University Hospitals Foundation Trust 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust 
NHS England 
Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust 
Kent and Medway NHS and Social Care Partnership Trust 
Health Education England 
HMRC 
NHS Pension Authority 
NHS Litigation Authority 
NHS Supply Chain 
Kent County Council 
NHS Blood and Transplant 
Maidstone Borough Council 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

The Trust has also received revenue and capital payments from the Charitable Funds that it controls, the trustees for which are also members of the 
Trust Board. The Trust has not consolidated the Charitable Funds on the grounds of materiality to the Trust (see policy notes 1.4 and 1.32). The 
transactions between the Trust and the Charity (Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Charitable Fund - charity registration number 1055215) are 
however material to the charity and therefore are disclosed below. Please note that this disclosure is based on the draft unaudited position of the 
charity. The audited accounts of the charity will be available later this year. 

Total charitable resources expended with the Trust 
Closing creditor (monies owed to the Trust by the charity) 

Total income received by the Charity in the reporting period 
Total Charitable Funds at end of the reporting period 

* prior year comparators have been restated following the completion of charitable funds accounts. 

43. Losses and special payments 
The total number of losses cases in 2016-17 and their total value was as follows: 

Losses 
Special payments 
Gifts 
Total losses and special payments and gifts 

The total number of losses cases in 2015-16 and their total value was as follows: 

Losses 
Special payments 
Total losses and special payments 

Details of cases individually over E300,000 
The Trust had no cases exceeding £300,000 

2016-17 
EOOOs 

866 
477 

291 
1,151 

Total Value 
of Cases 

Es 
47,271 
26,647 

0 
73,918 

Total Value 
of Cases 

Es 
75,916 
17,917 
93,833 

2015-16 
£000s 

795 * 
365 * 

1,474 * 
1,726 * 

Total Number 
of Cases 

54 
40 

0 
94 

Total Number 
of Cases 

44 
48 
92 
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44.2. Capital cost absorption rate 
The dividend payable on public dividend capital is based on the actual (rather than forecast) average 
relevant net assets based on the pre audited accounts and therefore the actual capital cost absorption 
rate is automatically 3.5%. 

44.3. External financing 
The Trust is given an external financing limit which it is permitted to undershoot. 

External financing limit (EFL) 
Cash flow financing 
Finance leases taken out in the year 
Other capital receipts 
External financing requirement 
Under/(over) spend against EFL 

44.4. Capital resource limit 

2016-17 
£000s 

9,541 
9,121 

0 
0 

9,121 
420 

The Trust is given a capital resource limit which it is not permitted to exceed. 

Gross capital expenditure 
Less: book value of assets disposed of 
Less: capital grants 
Less: donations towards the acquisition of non-current assets 
Charge against the capital resource limit 
Capital resource limit 
(Over)/underspend against the capital resource limit 

2016-17 
£000s 

9,539 
(8) 

0 
(362) 
9,169 

12,529 
3,360 

The Trust underspent its capital resource as part of its agreed financial recovery plan. 

45. Third party assets 

2015-16 
£000s 

16,470 
16,316 

0 
(43) 

16,273 
197 

2015-16 
£000s 

15,359 
(7) 

0 
(609) 

14,743 
14,795 

52 

The Trust held cash and cash equivalents which relate to monies held by the NHS Trust on behalf of 
patients or other parties. This has been excluded from the cash and cash equivalents figure reported in 
the accounts. 

Third party assets held by the Trust 

The third party assets are all patients' monies held by the Trust. 

31 March 
2017 

£000s 
1 

31 March 
2016 

£000s 
3 
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Thank you for your support 

Glenn Douglas, Chief Executive David Highton, Chair of the Trust Board 

The Trust receives support and well wishes from patients, carers, stakeholders, volunteers, fundraisers and 

Members (of which we have over 10,000). This support is expressed in a varied number of ways, including 

compliments sent directly to the Trust; letters sent to the local media; comments posted on social media; 

participation in the Patient Experience Committee; attendance at Trust Board meetings and the Annual 

General Meeting and fundraising to buy much needed equipment, to name but a few. 

This support is highly valued by the Trust’s staff and the Board - without this, the Trust’s task would be far 

harder. Thank you all. 
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